
8850 SW State Hwy 3, Bremerton, WA 98312 | 360.674.2381 | www.portofbremerton.org 
 
 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 
 

A G E N D A 
February 22, 2022   Remote Access Only 
6:00 PM Zoom Meeting ID: 335 903 0010   
 Zoom Call-In: (253) 215-8782   
 BKAT Live Stream 
 
Call to Order  

Approval of Agenda 

Consent Items 

All matters listed under Consent Items have been distributed to each member of the 
Commission for reading and study, are considered to be routine, and will be enacted by one 
motion of the Commission with no separate discussion.  If separate discussion is desired, that 
item may be removed from the Consent Items and placed under Action Items by request. 
 

A. Minutes of the regular business meeting and executive session of February 8, 2022. 

B. Payment of checks #901486 and #901487 through #901490 and #901491 through 
#901496 and #83328 through #83340 and #E00857 through #E00864 and #E00866 
and #E00867 and #83341 through #83364 and #E00869 through #E00882 from the 
General Fund for $190,920.57; #E00856 and #E00865 and #E00868 from the 
Construction Fund for $687,543.04. 

Citizen Comments: Open to the public for comment. Speakers are asked to keep their comments to less 
than 3 minutes. Please feel free to submit further comments in writing to the Clerk of 
the Board. 

Action Items 

1. Acceptance of Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO) Boating Infrastructure Grant 
(BIG) Agreement for Port Orchard Marina Breakwater Replacement Project 

2. South Hangar Land Lease Agreement with Stellar Contrails, LLC 

3. South Hangar Land Lease Agreement with Wallitner Aviation & Restoration, LLC 

4. South Hangar Land Lease Agreement with Sightline Trust, LLC 

5. Change Order for 5650 Imperial Way Roof Replacement & Facility Upgrades Project 

Staff Reports 

Commission Reports / New Business 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3359030010
https://bremerton.vod.castus.tv/vod/?live=ch1&nav=live


Agenda for February 22, 2022 
Page 2 

** The Commission may add and take action on other items not listed on the Agenda ** 

Executive Session (if necessary) 

Adjournment 
 
 

Regular business and other meetings that may be attended by members of the Board 
Date Time Meeting 
02/22 6:00 pm *Commission Regular Meeting via ZOOM 
02/24 10:00 am Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC) Executive Board 
02/24 11:45 am PSRC Executive Committee 
03/02-03/03  Washington Economic Development Association Winter Conference 
03/08 10:00 am *Commission Regular Meeting via ZOOM 

 
Meetings are subject to change or cancellation 

*Denotes events in which two (2) or more Commissioners may attend 



8850 SW State Hwy 3, Bremerton, WA 98312 | 360.674.2381 | www.portofbremerton.org 
 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

 
M I N U T E S 

February 8, 2022  Remote Access Only 
10:00 AM Zoom Meeting ID: 335 903 0010   
 Zoom Call-In: (253) 215-8782   
 BKAT Live Stream 
Commissioners and Staff Present 

Commissioners 
Axel Strakeljahn 
Gary Anderson 
Cary Bozeman 

Staff Members 
Jim Rothlin 
Fred Salisbury 
Jeremiah Wiley 
Arne Bakker 
James Weaver 

 
Warren Hendrickson 
Ginger Waye 
Taylor Korizon 
Anne Montgomery, Atty 

Call to Order  

President Strakeljahn called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. 

Approval of Agenda 

It was moved by BOZEMAN, seconded by ANDERSON to: 

Approve the Agenda as presented. 

MOTION CARRIES, 3-0 
 
Consent Items 

A. Minutes of the regular business meeting and executive session of January 25, 2022. 

B. Payment of checks #83282 through #83315 and #E00846 through #E00849 from the 
General Fund for $18,660.73; #83280 through #83281 from the Construction Fund for 
$15,231.25. 

Payment of checks #E00850 and #83316 and #83317 through #83326 and #E00851 
through #E00852 from the General Fund for $96,137.08; #901485 and #E00853 from 
the Construction Fund for $43,484.60. 

Payment of check #83327 from the General Fund for $57,918.02; #E00854 and 
#E00855 from the Construction Fund for $367,454.77. 

It was moved by STRAKELJAHN, seconded by ANDERSON to: 

Approve the Consent Items as presented. 

MOTION CARRIES, 3-0 
 

Draf
t

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3359030010
https://bremerton.vod.castus.tv/vod/?live=ch1&nav=live


Regular Business Meeting Minutes 
February 8, 2022 

Page 2 of 4 

Information Items 
 

1. Employment and Population Growth Targets – Clay White, LDC, Inc. 

Commissioner Strakeljahn introduced Clay White who has provided quality work for 
Kitsap Regional Coordinating Council (KRCC). 

Mr. White led a PowerPoint presentation providing an overview on how state, regional, 
and local planning processes connect on growth target setting and the process to adopt 
new growth targets and why that is important to the Port of Bremerton. He provided detail 
on the following: 

• Background on the relationship between state, regional, and local plans 
• Background on the Growth Management Act (GMA) 
• Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC) Vision 2050 (multi-county planning 

policies and regional growth strategy (RGS) guide) 
• PSRC guidance for growth targets 
• Reasons why this process is important to the Port (there was board discussion on 

implementation): 
o Planning for population has an impact on the relationship between where 

housing is located vs jobs 
o Planning for employment has a direct correlation to the Port 
o Targets directly impact capital facility planning – it is important that this 

planning is accurate 
• RGS allocations for population and employment growth and those allocations vs 

current 2036 targets 
• Considerations and process for target setting 
• Considerations moving forward as jurisdictions develop recommendations for 

growth targets 

The Board expressed their appreciation to Mr. White for the relevant and valuable 
information provided in the presentation. 

2. Multi-Purpose Facility Construction Update – Fred Salisbury, Chief Operating Officer 

COO Salisbury shared the following through PowerPoint slides: 
• Sketch of building 
• Project partners: Henderson Partners and Blue Architecture 
• Progress-to-date photos with explanations 
• Construction schedule with estimated occupancy in mid-August 2022 
• Outstanding issues: 

o State Route 3 right-of-way revision 
o August occupancy dependent on subcontractor availability and equipment 

delivery 

Mr. Salisbury responded to questions and comments from the Board. 

Draf
t



Regular Business Meeting Minutes 
February 8, 2022 

Page 3 of 4 

Citizen Comments - None 
 
Action Items 
 

1. Land Lease Agreements with Steelhead Group Holdings 
Presented by Arne Bakker, Director of Business Development 

Following presentation and full discussion; 

It was moved by ANDERSON, seconded by BOZEMAN to: 

Approve the Lease with Steelhead Group Holdings, LLC for the 4.41 acre parcel located at 
8651 Mount Jupiter Way SW 

MOTION CARRIES, 3-0 
 
It was moved by STRAKELJAHN, seconded by BOZEMAN to: 

Approve the Lease with Steelhead Group Holdings, LLC for the 1.39 acre parcel located at 
8742 SW Sentinel Peak Way 

MOTION CARRIES, 3-0 
 

Staff Reports 
 
Jim Rothlin, Chief Executive Officer 

• Congratulated Commissioner Strakeljahn on being named the Central Puget Sound 
Economic Development District (CPSEDD) Board President for the 2022-2023 term. 
Commissioner Strakeljahn provided comments on the CPSEDD Board. 

• Along with staff, met with the Western Washington Center for the Arts group that occupies 
the Port building on property adjacent to the boat launch in Port Orchard. He reported on 
that conversation which included discussion on future needs. 

• Reported on a tour he and Commissioner Strakeljahn received from Sound West Group of 
the Marina Square project that will house Bremerton Marina parking once a temporary 
use permit for that parking is issued. 

• Discussed sponsorship of the State capital budget request of $2.2M for the Port Orchard 
Marina breakwater replacement project. 

• Thanked Director of Marine Facilities, James Weaver, for providing testimony at the 
Senate Committee in support of Senate Bill 5598 and accompanying House Bill 1700 
which provide for sustainable funding for the derelict vessel program. 

• The community relations officer from the Bremerton Police Department met virtually with 
marina tenants and Port staff regarding the formation and police coordination for a newly 
formed tenant-based Neighborhood Watch program for the Bremerton Marina. 

• Mr. Weaver discussed the Clean Vessel Act Grant application for marine pump-out 
equipment replacement. 

Draf
t



Regular Business Meeting Minutes 
February 8, 2022 

Page 4 of 4 

 
Commission Reports / New Business 

Commissioner Bozeman 
• Reported on discussions he has had with Bremerton businesses who are concerned with 

the increase in homelessness and crime in the area. If the businesses begin to organize an 
effort to deal with the issues, he suggests the Port participate in that effort. It is imperative 
to protect our property for our tenants. 

• We have challenges in front of us such as funding for the breakwater replacement and he 
is glad to see that the Port is being aggressive in seeking out grant and appropriations 
funding opportunities at the state and federal levels.  

Commissioner Anderson 
• Commissioner Bozeman makes a good point about security at our facilities. In Port 

Orchard a truck was vandalized right in front of the marina office. We need to maintain a 
security presence in order to provide marina tenants with a source of comfort. 

• In conversations with the local Port Orchard community, there is excitement about the 
new airport restaurant; it will be very good for the community.  

Commissioner Strakeljahn 
• Attended the audit exit conference with the State Auditor’s office. 

• Participated in more meetings with legislators regarding the Gorst corridor. 

• Reported on the recent KRCC meeting that included a presentation by the Washington 
State Department of Commerce. 

Executive Session 

President Strakeljahn recessed the meeting at 11:22 a.m. and reconvened into executive 
session for approximately 20 minutes regarding: real estate issues [RCW 42.30.110(1)(c)]. At 
11:43 a.m., executive session was extended 15 minutes and at 12:03 p.m. extended 10 minutes. 
 
At 12:11 p.m. the regular meeting was reconvened. 

Adjournment 

There being no further business before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 12:13 p.m. 
 

Submitted,      Approved, 
 
 
 
Jim Rothlin      Cary Bozeman 
Chief Executive Officer    Commission Secretary 
February 17, 2022     February 22, 2022 
 

Draf
t



8850 SW State Hwy 3, Bremerton, WA 98312 | 360.674.2381 | www.portofbremerton.org 
 
 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
M I N U T E S 

February 8, 2022  Remote Access Only 
11:22 AM Zoom Meeting ID: 335 903 0010   
 Zoom Call-In: (253) 215-8782   
  
 
Call to Order 

 President Strakeljahn called the executive session to order at 11:22 a.m., February 8, 2022.   
 
Commissioners and Staff Present 

Commissioners 
Axel Strakeljahn 
Gary Anderson 
Cary Bozeman 

Staff Members 
Jim Rothlin 
Fred Salisbury 
Jeremiah Wiley 

 
Arne Bakker 
Anne Montgomery, Atty 

  
 Item #1:  Real estate issues were discussed [RCW 42.30.110(1)(c)]. 
 
 With no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned into 
regular session at 12:11 a.m. 

 
Submitted,      Approved, 
 
 
 
Jim Rothlin      Cary Bozeman 
Chief Executive Officer    Commission Secretary 
February 17, 2022     February 22, 2022 
 



 
AGENDA SUMMARY 

 

Agenda Item No: Action Item #1 

Subject: Authorization for BIG Grant Agreement  

Exhibits: BIG Grant Agreement for POM Breakwater 

Prepared By: James Weaver, Director of Marine Facilities 

Meeting Date: February 22, 2022 

 
Summary: 
On June 23, 2020, the Port of Bremerton Commissioners approved Port Resolution 2020-05, 
authorizing the CEO to seek grant funding assistance for the Port Orchard Marina Breakwater 
Replacement Project through the Recreation and Conservation Office, of which this 
agreement was the successful result. 

In fall of 2021, the Washington State Recreation & Conservation Office awarded the Port of 
Bremerton a Boating Infrastructure Grant (BIG) in the amount of $1,200,000 for the 
construction of the Port Orchard Marina Breakwater Replacement.  The grant helps to fund 
the project construction, which includes replacement of the 1,500-foot-long public 
breakwater that provides BIG eligible transient moorage, public maritime access, and 
protects the Port Orchard Marina. 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
The current estimate of the breakwater replacement project is $15,710,000.  The BIG grant 
agreement is for $1,200,000 and requires a Port commitment to matching funds of 25% of 
project cost, or $3,927,500. Matching fund commitments for RCO Grant awards may be 
comprised of other state or federal grants, issued bonds, letters of credit, binding loans, or 
local funds.   

 
Strategic Purpose: 
Goal 6. Develop and fund a 20-year asset replacement/major maintenance schedule. 
 
Recommendation: 
Authorize the CEO to sign the BIG Grant Agreement in the amount of $ 1,200,000 for the 
Port Orchard Marina Breakwater Replacement. 

Motion for Consideration: 
Move to authorize the CEO to sign the BIG Grant Agreement in the amount of 
$1,200,000 for the Port Orchard Marina Breakwater Replacement. 



 RCO Grant Agreement

Project Sponsor: Port of Bremerton Project Number: 20-1855D

Project Title: Port Orchard Marina Breakwater Replacement Approval Date: 07/01/2021

RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 1 of 25

PARTIES OF THE AGREEMENT

This Recreation and Conservation Office Grant Agreement (Agreement) is entered into between the State of Washington by 
and through the Recreation and Conservation Funding Board (RCFB or funding board) and the Recreation and Conservation 
Office (RCO), P.O. Box 40917, Olympia, Washington 98504-0917 and Port of Bremerton (Sponsor, and primary Sponsor), 
8850 SW State Hwy 3, Bremerton, WA 98312, and shall be binding on the agents and all persons acting by or through the 
parties.

The Sponsor’s Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) Number is 070975958.

The Sponsor’s Unique Entity ID (UEID) Number is QDKNZNLEX967.

All Sponsors are equally and independently subject to all the conditions of this Agreement except those conditions that 
expressly apply only to the primary Sponsor.

Prior to and during the Period of Performance, per the Applicant Resolution/Authorizations submitted by all Sponsors (and on 
file with the RCO), the identified Authorized Representative(s)/Agent(s) have full authority to legally bind the Sponsor(s) 
regarding all matters related to the project identified above, including but not limited to, full authority to: (1) sign a grant 
application for grant assistance, (2) enter into this Agreement on behalf of the Sponsor(s), including indemnification, as 
provided therein, (3) enter any amendments thereto on behalf of Sponsor(s), and (4) make any decisions and submissions 
required with respect to the project. Agreements and amendments must be signed by the Authorized Representative/Agent(s) 
of all Sponsors, unless otherwise allowed in the AMENDMENTS TO AGREEMENT Section.

A. During the Period of Performance, in order for a Sponsor to change its Authorized Representative/Agent as identified 
on the original signed Applicant Resolution/Authorization the Sponsor must provide the RCO a new Applicant 
Resolution/Authorization signed by its governing body or a written delegation of authority to sign in lieu of originally 
authorized Representative/Agency(s). Unless a new Applicant Resolution/Authorization has been provided, the RCO 
shall proceed on the basis that the person who is listed as the Authorized Representative in the last 
Resolution/Authorization that RCO has received is the person with authority to bind the Sponsor to the Agreement 
(including any amendments thereto) and decisions related to implementation of the Agreement.

B. Amendments After the Period of Performance. RCO reserves the right to request and Sponsor has the obligation to 
provide, authorizations and documents that demonstrate any signatory to an amendment has the authority to legally 
bind the Sponsor as described in the above Sections.

For the purposes of this Agreement, as well as for grant management purposes with RCO, only the primary Sponsor may act 
as a fiscal agent to obtain reimbursements (See PROJECT REIMBURSEMENTS Section).

PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement sets out the terms and conditions by which a grant is made from the General Fund - Federal of the State of 
Washington. The grant is administered by the Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO).

DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT

The Port of Bremerton will use this grant to replace the Port Orchard Marina breakwater. This project will replace a 1,500 foot 
long, 12 foot wide public breakwater that provides 2,800 linear feet of BIG eligible transient moorage (both sides of 
breakwater, minus 200 linear feet reserved for the Suquamish Tribes), and protects the Port Orchard marina including 
recreational guest slips. The primary recreational opportunity supported by this project is transient recreational boating.

PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE

The period of performance begins on February 1, 2022 (project start date) and ends on June 30, 2024 (project end date). No 
allowable cost incurred before or after this period is eligible for reimbursement unless specifically provided for by written 
amendment or addendum to this Agreement, or specifically provided for by applicable RCWs, WACs, and any applicable RCO 
manuals as of the effective date of this Agreement.

The RCO reserves the right to summarily dismiss any request to amend this Agreement if not made at least 60 days before 
the project end date.



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 2 of 25

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS INCORPORATED

The Standard Terms and Conditions of the Recreation and Conservation Office attached hereto are incorporated by reference 
as part of this Agreement.

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

For this development project, the Sponsor’s long-term obligations for the project area shall be for a period of useful service life 
based on the longest useful life period identified for one or more capital improvements within the project area, unless 
otherwise identified in the Agreement or as approved by the funding board or RCO.

PROJECT FUNDING

The total grant award provided for this project shall not exceed $1,200,000.00. The RCO shall not pay any amount beyond that 
approved for grant funding of the project and within the percentage as identified below. The Sponsor shall be responsible for 
all total project costs that exceed this amount. The minimum matching share provided by the Sponsor shall be as indicated 
below: 
  Percentage  Dollar Amount  Source of Funding
RCFB - BIG - Tier2  23.53%  $1,200,000.00  Federal
Project Sponsor  76.47%  $3,900,000.00   

Total Project Cost  100.00%  $5,100,000.00   

FEDERAL FUND INFORMATION

If federal funding information is included in this section, this project is funded by, matched by, and/or funded in part by the 
following federal award, or subaward:

Federal Agency: US Dept of Interior
Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number and Name: 15.622 - Boating Infrastructure
Federal Award Identification Number: F21AP03486
Federal Fiscal Year: 2021
Federal Award Date: 08/05/2021
Total Federal Award: $1,249,440
Federal Award Project Description: Portof Bremerton

This funding is not research and development (R&D).

If the Sponsor’s total federal expenditures are $750,000 or more during the Sponsor’s fiscal-year, the Sponsor is required to 
have a federal single audit conducted for that year in compliance with 2 C.F.R. Part 200 (as updated). The Sponsor must 
provide a copy of the final audit report to RCO within nine months of the end of the Sponsor’s fiscal year, unless a longer 
period is agreed to in advance by the federal agency identified in this section.

Sponsor shall comply with the federal “Omni-circular” (2 C.F.R. Part 200).

RCO may suspend all reimbursements if the Sponsor fails to timely provide a single federal audit; further the RCO reserves 
the right to suspend any and all RCO Agreement(s) with the Sponsor if such noncompliance is not promptly cured.

RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS INTERPRETED IN LIGHT OF RELATED DOCUMENTS

All rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement are further specified in and shall be interpreted in light of the 
Sponsor’s application and the project summary and eligible scope activities under which the Agreement has been approved 
and/or amended as well as documents produced in the course of administering the Agreement, including the eligible scope 
activities, the milestones report, progress reports, and the final report. Provided, to the extent that information contained in 
such documents is irreconcilably in conflict with the Agreement, such information shall not be used to vary the terms of the 
Agreement, unless the terms in the Agreement are shown to be subject to an unintended error or omission. “Agreement” as 
used here and elsewhere in this document, unless otherwise specifically stated, has the meaning set forth in the definitions of 
the Standard Terms and Conditions.

AMENDMENTS TO AGREEMENT

Except as provided herein, no amendment (including without limitation, deletions) of this Agreement will be effective unless set 
forth in writing signed by all parties. Exception: extensions of the Period of Performance and minor scope adjustments need 
only be signed by RCO’s director or designee and consented to in writing (including email) by the Sponsor’s Authorized 
Representative/Agent or Sponsor’s designated point of contact for the implementation of the Agreement (who may be a 
person other than the Authorized Agent/Representative), unless otherwise provided for in an amendment. This exception does 
not apply to a federal government Sponsor or a Sponsor that requests and enters into a formal amendment for extensions or 



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 3 of 25

minor scope adjustments.

It is the responsibility of a Sponsor to ensure that any person who signs an amendment on its behalf is duly authorized to do 
so.

Unless otherwise expressly stated in an amendment, any amendment to this Agreement shall be deemed to include all current 
federal, state, and local government laws and rules, and policies applicable and active and published in the applicable RCO 
manuals or on the RCO website in effect as of the effective date of the amendment, without limitation to the subject matter of 
the amendment. Provided, any update in law, rule, policy or a manual that is incorporated as a result of an amendment shall 
apply only prospectively and shall not require that an act previously done in compliance with existing requirements be redone. 
However, any such amendment, unless expressly stated, shall not extend or reduce the long-term obligation term.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATUTES, RULES, AND POLICIES

This Agreement is governed by, and the sponsor shall comply with, all applicable state and federal laws and regulations, 
applicable RCO manuals as identified below, Exhibits, and any applicable federal program and accounting rules effective as of 
the date of this Agreement or as of the effective date of an amendment, unless otherwise provided in the amendment. 
Provided, any update in law, rule, policy or a manual that is incorporated as a result of an amendment shall apply only 
prospectively and shall not require that an act previously done in compliance with existing requirements be redone unless 
otherwise expressly stated in the amendment.

For the purpose of this Agreement, WAC Title 286, RCFB policies shall apply as terms of this Agreement.

For the purpose of this Agreement, the following RCO manuals are deemed applicable and shall apply as terms of this 
Agreement: 

Boating Infrastructure Grant Program Manual 12
Development Projects - Manual 4
Long Term Obligations - Manual 7 
Reimbursements - Manual 8

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

1. Cultural Resources, Federal Nexus (Funding)

This project appears to be subject to Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act, and therefore exempt from 
Governor’s Executive Order 21-02. The Sponsor must submit to RCO evidence of review by the lead federal agency before 
any ground-disturbing activities can begin. Construction started without a Notice to Proceed will be considered a breach of 
contract. All cultural resources work must meet reporting guidelines outlined by the Department of Archaeology and Historic 
Preservation and Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act.

2. National Environmental Policy Act and Endangered Species Act

This project is subject to the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act (ESA). No 
ground disturbing activities including demolition may occur until a NEPA and ESA determination has been made and a notice 
to proceed has been issued by RCO. 

3. Service Financial Assistance Award Terms and Conditions

This project is subject to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife General Award Terms and Conditions (see link 
https://www.fws.gov/grants/atc.html). 

4. Long-term Obligations of the Project and Sponsor

The compliance period for the long-term obligation is 50 years from the date of final reimbursement and acceptance of the 
project as complete by RCO. The compliance period is determined by the longest useful life for one or more of the capital 
improvements as identified by the sponsor in the grant application. Useful life means the period during which a funded capital 
improvement is capable of fulfilling its intended purpose with adequate routine care and maintenance.

AGREEMENT CONTACTS

The parties will provide all written communications and notices under this Agreement to either or both the mail address and/or 
the email address listed below:



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 4 of 25

Sponsor Project Contact
James Weaver
Director of Marine Facilities
8850 SW State Highway 3
Bremerton, WA 98312
jamesw@portofbremerton.org

RCO Contact
Karl Jacobs
Senior Outdoor Grants Manager
PO Box 40917
Olympia, WA 98504-0917
karl.jacobs@rco.wa.gov

These addresses and contacts shall be effective until receipt by one party from the other of a written notice of any change. 
Unless otherwise provided for in this Agreement, decisions relating to the Agreement must be made by the Authorized 
Representative/Agent, who may or may not be the Project Contact for purposes of notices and communications.

ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement, with all amendments and attachments, constitutes the entire Agreement of the parties. No other 
understandings, oral or otherwise, regarding this Agreement shall exist or bind any of the parties.

EFFECTIVE DATE

Unless otherwise provided for in this Agreement, this Agreement, for Project 20-1855, shall become effective and binding on 
the date signed by both the sponsor and the RCO’s authorized representative, whichever is later (Effective Date). 
Reimbursements for eligible and allowable costs incurred within the period of performance identified in the PERIOD OF 
PERFORMANCE Section are allowed only when this Agreement is fully executed and an original is received by RCO. 

The Sponsor has read, fully understands, and agrees to be bound by all terms and conditions as set forth in this Agreement 
and the STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE RCO GRANT AGREEMENT. The signators listed below represent 
and warrant their authority to bind the parties to this Agreement.

Port of Bremerton

By:  Date:  
 

Name (printed):    
 

Title:    

State of Washington Recreation and Conservation Office
On behalf of the Recreation and Conservation Funding Board (RCFB or funding board)

By:  Date:  

 
Megan Duffy
Director
Recreation and Conservation Office

  

 Pre-approved as to form:   

By: Date: 06/01/2021
 Assistant Attorney General   



 RCO Grant Agreement

Project Sponsor: Port of Bremerton Project Number: 20-1855D

Project Title: Port Orchard Marina Breakwater Replacement Approval Date: 07/01/2021

RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 5 of 25

Eligible Scope Activities 

ELIGIBLE SCOPE ACTIVITIES

 
Development Metrics

Worksite #1, Port Orchard Marina Breakwater

Boating Infrastructure

Breakwater development
Will moorage be included on breakwater? (Yes/No): Yes



 RCO Grant Agreement

Project Sponsor: Port of Bremerton Project Number: 20-1855D

Project Title: Port Orchard Marina Breakwater Replacement Approval Date: 07/01/2021

RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 6 of 25

Project Milestones 

PROJECT MILESTONE REPORT

Complete Milestone Target Date Comments/Description
X Design Initiated 09/01/2020

Project Start 02/01/2022
Applied for Permits 02/20/2022 Local Shoreline and JARPA initiation.
60% Plans to RCO 06/30/2022
Annual Project Billing Due 07/31/2022 For the period ending 6/30/2022.
Progress Report Due 07/31/2022 For the period ending 6/30/2022.
Cultural Resources Complete 09/30/2022 Federal Nexus: Documentation of cultural 

resources compliance must be submitted to your 
grants manager, see special condition #1.

SEPA/NEPA Completed 09/30/2022 Federal Nexus: Documentation of NEPA and ESA 
required, see special condition #2.

Progress Report Due 07/31/2023 For the period ending 6/30/2023.
Annual Project Billing Due 07/31/2023 For the period ending 6/30/2023.
All Bid Docs/Plans to RCO 07/31/2023
Bid Awarded/Contractor Hired 08/15/2023
Construction Started 09/21/2023
RCO Interim Inspection 01/31/2024
50% Construction Complete 02/20/2024
90% Construction Complete 05/31/2024
Construction Complete 06/15/2024
Funding Acknowl Sign Posted 06/15/2024
RCO Final Inspection 06/28/2024
Agreement End Date 06/30/2024
Final Billing Due 07/15/2024
Final Report Due 07/31/2024



 RCO Grant Agreement

Project Sponsor: Port of Bremerton Project Number: 20-1855D

Project Title: Port Orchard Marina Breakwater Replacement Approval Date: 07/01/2021

RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 7 of 25

Standard Terms and Conditions of the Recreation and 
Conservation Office 

Table of Contents

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS EFFECTIVE DATE......................................................................................................8
CITATIONS, HEADINGS AND DEFINITIONS ..............................................................................................................................8
PERFORMANCE BY THE SPONSOR........................................................................................................................................11
ASSIGNMENT .............................................................................................................................................................................11
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROJECT.............................................................................................................................................11
INDEMNIFICATION.....................................................................................................................................................................11
INDEPENDENT CAPACITY OF THE SPONSOR.......................................................................................................................12
CONFLICT OF INTEREST ..........................................................................................................................................................12
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW ...................................................................................................................................12
ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES ...............................................................................................................13
RECORDS...................................................................................................................................................................................14
PROJECT FUNDING...................................................................................................................................................................15
PROJECT REIMBURSEMENTS .................................................................................................................................................15
RECOVERY OF PAYMENTS......................................................................................................................................................16
COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES.............................................................................................................................16
INCOME (AND FEES) AND USE OF INCOME...........................................................................................................................16
PROCUREMENT REQUIREMENTS...........................................................................................................................................17
TREATMENT OF EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS...........................................................................................................................17
RIGHT OF INSPECTION.............................................................................................................................................................18
STEWARDSHIP AND MONITORING .........................................................................................................................................18
PREFERENCES FOR RESIDENTS............................................................................................................................................18
ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND SIGNS............................................................................................................................................18
PROVISIONS APPLYING TO DEVELOPMENT, MAINTENANCE, RENOVATION, AND RESTORATION PROJECTS ..........19
LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS OF THE PROJECTS AND SPONSORS .....................................................................................19
CONSTRUCTION, OPERATION, USE, AND MAINTENANCE OF ASSISTED PROJECTS .....................................................20
RECORDED NOTICE OF GRANT ..............................................................................................................................................20
PROVISIONS FOR FEDERAL SUBAWARDS ............................................................................................................................20
PROVISIONS FOR BOATING INFRASTRUCTURE GRANTS...................................................................................................22
ORDER OF PRECEDENCE........................................................................................................................................................22
LIMITATION OF AUTHORITY.....................................................................................................................................................23
WAIVER OF DEFAULT ...............................................................................................................................................................23
APPLICATION REPRESENTATIONS – MISREPRESENTATIONS OR INACCURACY OR BREACH .....................................23
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE .......................................................................................................................................................23
TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION...........................................................................................................................................23
DISPUTE HEARING....................................................................................................................................................................24
ATTORNEYS’ FEES....................................................................................................................................................................25
GOVERNING LAW/VENUE.........................................................................................................................................................25
SEVERABILITY ...........................................................................................................................................................................25
END OF STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS.....................................................................................................................25



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 8 of 25

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS EFFECTIVE DATE

This document sets forth the Standard Terms and Conditions of the Recreation and Conservation Office as of 01/04/2022.

CITATIONS, HEADINGS AND DEFINITIONS

A. Any citations referencing specific documents refer to the current version on the effective date of this Agreement or the 
effective date of any amendment thereto.

B. Headings used in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not be considered a substantive part of 
this Agreement.

C. Definitions. As used throughout this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meaning set forth below:

Agreement, terms of the Agreement, or project agreement – The document entitled “RCO GRANT AGREEMENT” 
accepted by all parties to the present project and transaction, including without limitation the Standard Terms and 
Conditions of the RCO Grant Agreement, all exhibits, attachments, addendums, amendments, and applicable 
manuals, and any intergovernmental agreements, and/or other documents that are incorporated into the Agreement 
subject to any limitations on their effect under this Agreement.

applicable manual(s), manual – A manual designated in this Agreement to apply as terms of this Agreement, 
subject (if applicable) to substitution of the “RCO director” for the term “board” in those manuals where the project is 
not approved by or funded by the referenced board, or a predecessor to the board.

applicable WAC(s) – Designated chapters or provisions of the Washington Administrative Code that apply by their 
terms to the type of grant in question or are deemed under this Agreement to apply as terms of the Agreement, 
subject to substitution of the “RCO director” for the term “board” or “agency” in those cases where the RCO has 
contracted to or been delegated to administer the grant program in question.

applicant – Any party, prior to becoming a Sponsor, who meets the qualifying standards/eligibility requirements for 
the grant application or request for funds in question.

application – The documents and other materials that an applicant submits to the RCO to support the applicant’s 
request for grant funds; this includes materials required for the “Application” in the RCO’s automated project 
information system, and other documents as noted on the application checklist including but not limited to legal 
opinions, maps, plans, evaluation presentations and scripts.

Authorized Representative/Agent – A Sponsor’s agent (employee, political appointee, elected person, etc.) 
authorized to be the signatory of this Agreement and any amendments requiring a Sponsor’s signature. This person 
has the signature authority to bind the Sponsor to this Agreement, grant, and project.

C.F.R. – Code of Federal Regulations

completed project or project completion – The status of a project when all of the following have occurred:

The grant funded project has been inspected by the RCO and the RCO has determined that all scopes of 
work to implement the project have been completed satisfactorily.
A final project report is submitted to and accepted by RCO.
Any needed amendments to the Agreement have been entered by the Sponsor and RCO and have been 
delivered to the RCO.
A final reimbursement request has been delivered to and paid by RCO.
Documents affecting property rights (including RCO’s as may apply) and any applicable notice of grant, have 
been recorded (as may apply).

contractor – An entity that receives a contract from a Sponsor related to performance of work or another obligation 
under this Agreement.

conversion – A conversion occurs 1) when facilities acquired, developed, renovated or restored within the project 
area are changed to a use other than that for which funds were approved, without obtaining prior written formal RCO 
or board approval, 2) when property interests are conveyed to a third party not otherwise eligible to receive grants in 
the program from which funding was approved without obtaining prior written formal RCO or board approval, or 3) 
when obligations to operate and maintain the funded property are not complied with after reasonable opportunity to 
cure.



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 9 of 25

Cultural Resources – Archaeological or historic archaeological sites, historic buildings/structures, and cultural or 
sacred places.

development project – A project that results in the construction of, or work resulting in, new elements, including but 
not limited to structures, facilities, and/or materials to enhance outdoor recreation resources. A development project 
may also involve activities that redevelop or renovate an existing facility, and these may occur exclusively in the 
project or in combination with new construction. For projects in the Boating Facilities Program, the term “development 
project” includes all of the above and may also include those activities that are defined as maintenance in 50 C.F.R 
86.

director – The chief executive officer of the Recreation and Conservation Office or that person’s designee.

effective date – The date when the signatures of all parties to this agreement are present in the agreement.

equipment – Tangible personal property (including information technology systems) having a useful service life of 
more than one year and a per-unit acquisition cost which equals or exceeds the lesser of the capitalization level 
established by the Sponsor or $5,000 (2 C.F.R. Part 200 (as updated)).

funding board or board – The Washington State Recreation and Conservation Funding Board, or the Washington 
State Salmon Recovery Funding Board. Or both as may apply.

Funding Entity – the entity that approves the project that is the subject to this Agreement. 

grant program – The source of the grant funds received. May be an account in the state treasury, or a grant category 
within a larger grant program, or a federal source.

indirect cost – Costs incurred for a common or joint purpose benefitting more than one cost objective, and not 
readily assignable to the cost objectives specifically benefitted, without effort disproportionate to the results achieved 
(2 C.F.R. 200 as updated).

long-term compliance period – The term of years, beginning on the end date of the agreement, when long-term 
obligations exist for the Sponsor. The start date and end date of the compliance period may also be prescribed by 
RCO per the Agreement.

long-term obligations – Sponsor’s obligations after the project end date, as specified in the Agreement and manuals 
and other exhibits as may apply.

landowner agreement – An agreement that is required between a Sponsor and landowner for projects located on 
land not owned, or otherwise controlled, by the Sponsor.

maintenance project – A project that maintains existing areas and facilities through repairs and upkeep for the 
benefit of outdoor recreation.

match or matching share – The portion of the total project cost provided by the Sponsor.

milestone – An important event with a defined date to track an activity related to implementation of a funded project 
and monitor significant stages of project accomplishment.

Office – Means the Recreation and Conservation Office or RCO.

notice of grant – As required by RCO or another authority, a document that has been legally recorded on the 
property title of the project area(s) in the county or counties where the project property is located, or with the United 
States Government, that describes the project area on the property, the funding sources, and agencies responsible 
for awarding the grant.

pass-through entity – A non-Federal entity that provides a subaward to a subrecipient to carry out part of a Federal 
program (2 CFR 200 (as updated)). If this Agreement is a federal subaward, RCO is the pass-through entity.

period of performance – The period beginning on the project start date and ending on the project end date.

pre-agreement cost – A project cost incurred before the period of performance.

primary Sponsor – The Sponsor who is not a secondary Sponsor and who is specifically identified in the Agreement 
as the entity to which RCO grants funds to and authorizes and requires to administer the grant. Administration 
includes but is not limited to acting as the fiscal agent for the grant (e.g. requesting and accepting reimbursements, 
submitting reports). Primary Sponsor includes its officers, employees, agents and successors.



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 10 of 25

project – The undertaking that is funded by this Agreement either in whole or in part with funds administered by 
RCO.

project area - A geographic area that delineates a grant assisted site which is subject to project agreement 
requirements.

project completion or completed project – The status of a project when all of the following have occurred:

The grant funded project has been inspected by the RCO and the RCO has determined that all scopes of 
work to implement the project have been completed satisfactorily.
A final project report is submitted to and accepted by RCO.
Any needed amendments to the Agreement have been entered by the Sponsor and RCO and have been 
delivered to the RCO.
A final reimbursement request has been delivered to and paid by RCO.
Documents affecting property rights (including RCO’s as may apply) and any applicable notice of grant, have 
been recorded (as may apply).

project cost – The total allowable costs incurred under this Agreement and all required match share and voluntary 
committed matching share, including third-party contributions (see also 2 C.F.R. Part 200 (as updated)) for federally 
funded projects).

project end date – The specific date identified in the Agreement on which the period of performance ends, as may 
be changed by amendment. This date is not the end date for any long-term obligations.

project start date – The specific date identified in the Agreement on which the period of performance starts.

RCFB – Recreation and Conservation Funding Board

RCO – Recreation and Conservation Office – The state agency that administers the grant that is the subject of this 
Agreement. RCO includes the director and staff. 

RCW – Revised Code of Washington

reimbursement – RCO’s payment of funds from eligible and allowable costs that have already been paid by the 
Sponsor per the terms of the Agreement.

renovation project – A project intended to improve an existing site or structure in order to increase its useful service 
life beyond current expectations or functions. This does not include maintenance activities to maintain the facility for 
its originally expected useful service life.

secondary Sponsor – One of two or more Sponsors who is not a primary Sponsor. Only the primary Sponsor may 
be the fiscal agent for the project.

Sponsor – A Sponsor is an organization that is listed in and has signed this Agreement.

Sponsor Authorized Representative/Agent – A Sponsor’s agent (employee, political appointee, elected person, 
etc.) authorized to be the signatory of this Agreement and any amendments requiring a Sponsor signature. This 
person has the signature authority to bind the Sponsor to this Agreement, grant, and project.

subaward – Funds allocated to the RCO from another organization, for which RCO makes available to or assigns to 
another organization via this Agreement. Also, a subaward may be an award provided by a pass-through entity to a 
subrecipient for the subrecipient to carry out part of any award received by the pass-through entity. It does not include 
payments to a contractor or payments to an individual that is a beneficiary of a federal or other program. A subaward 
may be provided through any form of legal agreement, including an agreement that the pass-through entity considers 
a contract. Also see 2 C.F.R. Part 200 (as updated). For federal subawards, a subaward is for the purpose of carrying 
out a portion of a Federal award and creates a federal assistance relationship with the subrecipient (2 C.F.R. Part 200 
(as updated)). If this Agreement is a federal subaward, the subaward amount is the grant program amount in the 
Project Funding Section.

subrecipient – Subrecipient means an entity that receives a subaward. For non-federal entities receiving federal 
funds, a subrecipient is an entity that receives a subaward from a pass-through entity to carry out part of a federal 
program; but does not include an individual that is a beneficiary of such program. A subrecipient may also be a 
recipient of other federal awards directly from a federal awarding agency (2 C.F.R. Part 200 (as updated)). If this 
Agreement is a federal subaward, the Sponsor is the subrecipient.

tribal consultation – Outreach, and consultation with one or more federally recognized tribes (or a partnership or 
coalition or consortium of such tribes, or a private tribal enterprise) whose rights will or may be significantly affected 
by the proposed project. This includes sharing with potentially-affected tribes the scope of work in the grant and 



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 11 of 25

potential impacts to natural areas, natural resources, and the built environment by the project. It also includes 
responding to any tribal request from such tribes and considering tribal recommendations for project implementation 
which may include not proceeding with parts of the project, altering the project concept and design, or relocating the 
project or not implementing the project, all of which RCO shall have the final approval of.

useful service life – Period during which a built asset, equipment, or fixture is expected to be useable for the 
purpose it was acquired, installed, developed, and/or renovated, or restored per this Agreement.

WAC – Washington Administrative Code.

PERFORMANCE BY THE SPONSOR

The Sponsor shall undertake the project as described in this Agreement, and in accordance with the Sponsor's proposed 
goals and objectives described in the application or documents submitted with the application, all as finally approved by the 
RCO (to include any RCO approved changes or amendments thereto). All submitted documents are incorporated by this 
reference as if fully set forth herein.

Timely completion of the project and submission of required documents, including progress and final reports, is important. 
Failure to meet critical milestones or complete the project, as set out in this Agreement, is a material breach of the Agreement.

ASSIGNMENT

Neither this Agreement, nor any claim arising under this Agreement, shall be transferred or assigned by the Sponsor without 
prior written approval of the RCO.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROJECT

While RCO administers the grant that is the subject of this Agreement, the project itself remains the sole responsibility of the 
Sponsor. The RCO and Funding Entity (if different from the RCO) undertakes no responsibilities to the Sponsor, or to any third 
party, other than as is expressly set out in this Agreement.

The responsibility for the implementation of the project is solely that of the Sponsor, as is the responsibility for any claim or suit 
of any nature by any third party related in any way to the project. When a project has more than one Sponsor, any and all 
Sponsors are equally responsible for the project and all post-completion stewardship responsibilities and long-term obligations 
unless otherwise stated in this Agreement.

The RCO, its employees, assigns, consultants and contractors, and members of any funding board or advisory committee or 
other RCO grant review individual or body, have no responsibility for reviewing, approving, overseeing or supervising design, 
construction, or safety of the project and leaves such review, approval, oversight and supervision exclusively to the Sponsor 
and others with expertise or authority. In this respect, the RCO, its employees, assigns, consultants and contractors, and any 
funding board or advisory committee or other RCO grant review individual or body will act only to confirm at a general, lay 
person, and nontechnical level, solely for the purpose of project eligibility and payment and not for safety or suitability, that the 
project apparently is proceeding or has been completed as per the Agreement.

INDEMNIFICATION

The Sponsor shall defend, indemnify, and hold the State and its officers and employees harmless from all claims, demands, or 
suits at law or equity arising in whole or in part from the actual or alleged acts, errors, omissions or negligence in connection 
with this Agreement (including without limitation all work or activities thereunder), or the breach of any obligation under this 
Agreement by the Sponsor or the Sponsor’s agents, employees, contractors, subcontractors, or vendors, of any tier, or any 
other persons for whom the Sponsor may be legally liable.

Provided that nothing herein shall require a Sponsor to defend or indemnify the State against and hold harmless the State 
from claims, demands or suits based solely upon the negligence of the State, its employees and/or agents for whom the State 
is vicariously liable.

Provided further that if the claims or suits are caused by or result from the concurrent negligence of (a) the Sponsor or the 
Sponsor’s agents or employees, and (b) the State, or its employees or agents the indemnity obligation shall be valid and 
enforceable only to the extent of the Sponsor’s negligence or its agents, or employees.

As part of its obligations provided above, the Sponsor specifically assumes potential liability for actions brought by the 
Sponsor’s own employees or its agents against the State and, solely for the purpose of this indemnification and defense, the 
Sponsor specifically waives any immunity under the state industrial insurance law, RCW Title 51. Sponsor’s waiver of 
immunity under this provision extends only to claims against Sponsor by Indemnitee RCO, and does not include, or extend to, 
any claims by Sponsor’s employees directly against Sponsor.



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 12 of 25

Sponsor shall ensure that any agreement relating to this project involving any contractors, subcontractors and/or vendors of 
any tier shall require that the contracting entity indemnify, defend, waive RCW 51 immunity, and otherwise protect the State as 
provided herein as if it were the Sponsor. This shall not apply to a contractor or subcontractor is solely donating its services to 
the project without compensation or other substantial consideration.

The Sponsor shall also defend, indemnify, and hold the State and its officers and employees harmless from all claims, 
demands, or suits at law or equity arising in whole or in part from the alleged patent or copyright infringement or other 
allegedly improper appropriation or use of trade secrets, patents, proprietary information, know-how, copyright rights or 
inventions by the Sponsor or the Sponsor’s agents, employees, contractors, subcontractors or vendors, of any tier, or any 
other persons for whom the Sponsor may be legally liable, in performance of the work under this Agreement or arising out of 
any use in connection with the Agreement of methods, processes, designs, information or other items furnished or 
communicated to the State, its agents, officers and employees pursuant to the Agreement. Provided, this indemnity shall not 
apply to any alleged patent or copyright infringement or other allegedly improper appropriation or use of trade secrets, patents, 
proprietary information, know-how, copyright rights or inventions resulting from the State’s, its agents’, officers’ and 
employees’ failure to comply with specific written instructions regarding use provided to the State, its agents, officers and 
employees by the Sponsor, its agents, employees, contractors, subcontractors or vendors, of any tier, or any other persons for 
whom the Sponsor may be legally liable.

The funding board and RCO are included within the term State, as are all other agencies, departments, boards, councils, 
committees, divisions, bureaus, offices, societies, or other entities of state government.

INDEPENDENT CAPACITY OF THE SPONSOR

The Sponsor and its employees or agents performing under this Agreement are not officers, employees or agents of the RCO 
or Funding Entity. The Sponsor will not hold itself out as nor claim to be an officer, employee or agent of the RCO or the 
Funding Entity, or of the state of Washington, nor will the Sponsor make any claim of right, privilege or benefit which would 
accrue to an employee under RCW 41.06.

The Sponsor is responsible for withholding and/or paying employment taxes, insurance, or deductions of any kind required by 
federal, state, and/or local laws.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Notwithstanding any determination by the Executive Ethics Board or other tribunal, RCO may, in its sole discretion, by written 
notice to the Sponsor terminate this Agreement if it is found after due notice and examination by RCO that there is a violation 
of the Ethics in Public Service Act, RCW 42.52; or any similar statute involving the Sponsor in the procurement of, or 
performance under, this Agreement.

In the event this Agreement is terminated as provided herein, RCO shall be entitled to pursue the same remedies against the 
Sponsor as it could pursue in the event of a breach of the Agreement by the Sponsor. The rights and remedies of RCO 
provided for in this clause shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law or this 
Agreement.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW

In implementing the Agreement, the Sponsor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws (including without 
limitation all applicable ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations). Such compliance includes, without any limitation as to other 
applicable laws, the following laws:

A. Nondiscrimination Laws. The Sponsor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local nondiscrimination 
laws and/or policies, including but not limited to: the Americans with Disabilities Act; Civil Rights Act; and the Age 
Discrimination Employment Act (if applicable). In the event of the Sponsor’s noncompliance or refusal to comply with 
any nondiscrimination law or policy, the Agreement may be rescinded, cancelled, or terminated in whole or in part, 
and the Sponsor may be declared ineligible for further grant awards from the RCO or Funding Entity. The Sponsor is 
responsible for any and all costs or liability arising from the Sponsor’s failure to so comply with applicable law. Except 
where a nondiscrimination clause required by a federal funding agency is used, the Sponsor shall insert the following 
nondiscrimination clause in each contract for construction of this project: "During the performance of this contract, the 
contractor agrees to comply with all federal and state nondiscrimination laws, regulations and policies.”

B. Secular Use of Funds. No funds awarded under this grant may be used to pay for any religious activities, worship, or 
instruction, or for lands and facilities for religious activities, worship, or instruction. Religious activities, worship, or 
instruction may be a minor use of the grant supported recreation and conservation land or facility.

C. Wages and Job Safety. The Sponsor agrees to comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and policies of the 
United States and the State of Washington or other jurisdiction which affect wages and job safety. The Sponsor 
agrees when state prevailing wage laws (RCW 39.12) are applicable, to comply with such laws, to pay the prevailing 
rate of wage to all workers, laborers, or mechanics employed in the performance of any part of this contract, and to 
file a statement of intent to pay prevailing wage with the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries as 



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 13 of 25

required by RCW 39.12.40. The Sponsor also agrees to comply with the provisions of the rules and regulations of the 
Washington State Department of Labor and Industries.

1) Pursuant to RCW 39.12.040(1)(a), all contractors and subcontractors shall submit to Sponsor a statement of 
intent to pay prevailing wages if the need to pay prevailing wages is required by law. If a contractor or 
subcontractor intends to pay other than prevailing wages, it must provide the Sponsor with an affirmative 
statement of the contractor’s or subcontractor’s intent. Unless required by law, the Sponsor is not required to 
investigate a statement regarding prevailing wage provided by a contractor or subcontractor.

2) Exception, Service Organizations of Trail and Environmental Projects (RCW 79A.35.130). If allowed by state 
and federal law and rules, participants in conservation corps programs offered by a nonprofit organization 
affiliated with a national service organization established under the authority of the national and community 
service trust act of 1993, P.L. 103-82, are exempt from provisions related to rates of compensation while 
performing environmental and trail maintenance work provided: (1) The nonprofit organization must be 
registered as a nonprofit corporation pursuant to RCW 24.03; (2) The nonprofit organization's management 
and administrative headquarters must be located in Washington; (3) Participants in the program must spend 
at least fifteen percent of their time in the program on education and training activities; and (4) Participants in 
the program must receive a stipend or living allowance as authorized by federal or state law. Participants are 
exempt from provisions related to rates of compensation only for environmental and trail maintenance work 
conducted pursuant to the conservation corps program.

D. Restrictions on Grant Use. No part of any funds provided under this grant shall be used, other than for normal and 
recognized executive-legislative relationships, for publicity or propaganda purposes, or for the preparation, 
distribution, or use of any kit, pamphlet, booklet, publication, radio, television, or video presentation designed to 
support or defeat legislation pending before the U.S. Congress or any state legislature. No part of any funds provided 
under this grant shall be used to pay the salary or expenses of any Sponsor, or agent acting for such Sponsor, related 
to any activity designed to influence legislation or appropriations pending before the U.S. Congress or any state 
legislature.

E. Debarment and Certification. By signing the Agreement with RCO, the Sponsor certifies that neither it nor its 
principals nor any other lower tier participant are presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 
ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by Washington State Labor and Industries. 
Further, the Sponsor agrees not to enter into any arrangements or contracts related to this Agreement with any party 
that is on Washington State Department of Labor and Industries’ “Debarred Contractor List.”

ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES

A. Project Review. RCO facilitates the review of projects for potential impacts to archaeology and cultural resources, 
except as those listed below. The Sponsor shall follow RCO guidance and directives to assist it with such review as 
may apply.

1) Projects occurring on State/Federal Lands: Archaeological and cultural resources compliance for projects 
occurring on State or Federal Agency owned or managed lands, will be the responsibility of the respective 
agency, regardless of sponsoring entity type. Prior to ground disturbing work or alteration of a potentially 
historic or culturally significant structure, or release of final payments on an acquisition, the Sponsor must 
provide RCO all documentation acknowledging and demonstrating that the applicable archaeological and 
cultural resources responsibilities of such state or federal landowner or manager has been conducted.

B. Termination. RCO retains the right to terminate a project due to anticipated or actual impacts to archaeology and 
cultural resources.

C. Notice To Proceed. No work shall commence in the project area until RCO has provided a notice of cultural resources 
completion. RCO may require on-site monitoring for impacts to archaeology and cultural resources during any 
demolition, construction, land clearing, restoration, or repair work, and may direct that work stop to minimize, mitigate, 
or avoid impacts to archaeology and cultural resource impacts or concerns. All cultural resources requirements for 
non ground disturbing projects (such as acquisition or planning projects) must be met prior to final reimbursement.

D. Compliance and Indemnification. At all times, the Sponsor shall take reasonable action to avoid, minimize, or mitigate 
adverse effects to archaeological and historic resources in the project area, and comply with any RCO direction for 
such minimization and mitigation. All federal or state cultural resources requirements under Governor’s Executive 
Order 21-02 and the National Historic Preservation Act, and the State Environmental Policy Act and the National 
Environmental Policy Act, and any local laws that may apply, must be completed prior to the start of any work on the 
project site. The Sponsor must agree to indemnify and hold harmless the State of Washington in relation to any claim 
related to historical or cultural artifacts discovered, disturbed, or damaged due to the project funded under this 
Agreement. Sponsor shall comply with RCW 27.53, RCW 27.44.055, and RCW 68.50.645, and all other applicable 
local, state, and federal laws protecting cultural resources and human remains.

E. Costs associated with project review and evaluation of archeology and cultural resources are eligible for 
reimbursement under this agreement. Costs that exceed the budget grant amount shall be the responsibility of the 



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 14 of 25

Sponsor Inadvertent Discovery Plan. The Sponsor shall request, review, and be bound by the RCO Inadvertent 
Discovery Plan, and:

1) Keep the IDP at the project site.

2) Make the IDP readily available to anyone working at the project site.

3) Discuss the IDP with staff and contractors working at the project site.

4) Implement the IDP when cultural resources or human remains are found at the project site.

F. Discovery

1) If any archaeological or historic resources are found while conducting work under this Agreement, the 
Sponsor shall immediately stop work and notify RCO, the Department of Archaeology and Historic 
Preservation at (360) 586-3064, and any affected Tribe, and stop any activity that may cause further 
disturbance to the archeological or historic resources.

2) If any human remains are found while conducting work under this Agreement, Sponsor shall immediately 
stop work and notify the local Law Enforcement Agency or Medical Examiner/Coroner’s Office, and then 
RCO, all in the most expeditious manner, and stop any activity that may cause disturbance to the remains. 
Sponsor shall secure the area of the find will and protect the remains from further disturbance until the State 
provides a new notice to proceed.

a) Any human remains discovered shall not be touched, moved, or further disturbed unless directed by 
RCO or the Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation (DAHP).

b) The county medical examiner/coroner will assume jurisdiction over the human skeletal remains and 
make a determination of whether those remains are forensic or non-forensic. If the county medical 
examiner/coroner determines the remains are non-forensic, then they will report that finding to the 
Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation (DAHP) who will then take jurisdiction over 
the remains. The DAHP will notify any appropriate cemeteries and all affected tribes of the find. The 
State Physical Anthropologist will make a determination of whether the remains are Indian or Non-
Indian and report that finding to any appropriate cemeteries and the affected tribes. The DAHP will 
then handle all consultation with the affected parties as to the future preservation, excavation, and 
disposition of the remains.

RECORDS

A. Digital Records. If requested by RCO, the Sponsor must provide a digital file(s) of the project property and funded 
project site in a format specified by the RCO.

B. Maintenance and Retention. The Sponsor shall maintain books, records, documents, data and other records 
relating to this Agreement and performance of the services described herein, including but not limited to accounting 
procedures and practices which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs of any nature expended in 
the performance of this Agreement. Sponsor shall retain such records for a period of nine years from the date RCO 
deems the project complete, as defined in the PROJECT REIMBURSEMENTS Section. If any litigation, claim or audit 
is started before the expiration of the nine (9) year period, the records shall be retained until all litigation, claims, or 
audit findings involving the records have been resolved.

C. Access to Records and Data. At no additional cost, the records relating to the Agreement, including materials 
generated under the Agreement, shall be subject at all reasonable times to inspection, review or audit by RCO, 
personnel duly authorized by RCO, the Office of the State Auditor, and federal and state officials so authorized by 
law, regulation or agreement. This includes access to all information that supports the costs submitted for payment 
under the grant and all findings, conclusions, and recommendations of the Sponsor’s reports, including computer 
models and methodology for those models.

D. Public Records. Sponsor acknowledges that the RCO is subject to RCW 42.56 and that this Agreement and any 
records Sponsor submits or has submitted to the State shall be a public record as defined in RCW 42.56. RCO 
administers public records requests per WAC 286-06 and 420-04 (which ever applies). Additionally, the Sponsor 
agrees to disclose any information in regards to the expenditure of that funding as if the project sponsor were subject 
to the requirements of chapter 42.56 RCW. By submitting any record to the State, Sponsor understands that the State 
may be requested to disclose or copy that record under the state public records law, currently codified at RCW 42.56. 
The Sponsor warrants that it possesses such legal rights as are necessary to permit the State to disclose and copy 
such document to respond to a request under state public records laws. The Sponsor hereby agrees to release the 
State from any claims arising out of allowing such review or copying pursuant to a public records act request, and to 
indemnify against any claims arising from allowing such review or copying and pay the reasonable cost of state’s 
defense of such claims.



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 15 of 25

PROJECT FUNDING

A. Authority. This Agreement and funding is made available to Sponsor through the RCO.

B. Additional Amounts. The RCO or Funding Entity shall not be obligated to pay any amount beyond the dollar amount 
as identified in this Agreement, unless an additional amount has been approved in advance by the RCO director and 
incorporated by written amendment into this Agreement.

C. Before the Agreement. No expenditure made, or obligation incurred, by the Sponsor before the project start date 
shall be eligible for grant funds, in whole or in part, unless specifically provided for by the RCO director, such as a 
waiver of retroactivity or program specific eligible pre-Agreement costs. For reimbursements of such costs, this 
Agreement must be fully executed and an original received by RCO. The dollar amounts identified in this Agreement 
may be reduced as necessary to exclude any such expenditure from reimbursement.

D. Requirements for Federal Subawards. Pre-Agreement costs before the federal award date in the FEDERAL FUND 
INFORMATION Section are ineligible unless approved by the federal award agency (2 C.F.R § 200.458 (2013)).

E. After the Period of Performance. No expenditure made, or obligation incurred, following the period of performance 
shall be eligible, in whole or in part, for grant funds hereunder. In addition to any remedy the RCO or Funding Entity 
may have under this Agreement, the grant amounts identified in this Agreement shall be reduced to exclude any such 
expenditure from participation.

PROJECT REIMBURSEMENTS

A. Reimbursement Basis. This Agreement is administered on a reimbursement basis per WAC 286-13 and/or 420-12, 
whichever has been designated to apply. Only the primary Sponsor may request reimbursement for eligible and 
allowable costs incurred during the period of performance. The primary Sponsor may request reimbursement only 
after (1) this Agreement has been fully executed and (2) the Sponsor has remitted payment to its vendors. RCO will 
authorize disbursement of project funds only on a reimbursable basis at the percentage as defined in the PROJECT 
FUNDING Section. Reimbursement shall not be approved for any expenditure not incurred by the Sponsor, or for a 
donation used as part of its matching share. RCO does not reimburse for donations. All reimbursement requests must 
include proper documentation of expenditures as required by RCO.

B. Reimbursement Request Frequency. The primary Sponsor is required to submit a reimbursement request to RCO, 
at a minimum for each project at least once a year for reimbursable activities occurring between July 1 and June 30 or 
as identified in the milestones. Sponsors must refer to the most recent applicable RCO manuals and this Agreement 
regarding reimbursement requirements.

C. Compliance and Payment. The obligation of RCO to pay any amount(s) under this Agreement is expressly 
conditioned on strict compliance with the terms of this Agreement and other agreements between RCO and the 
Sponsor.

D. Conditions for Payment of Retainage. RCO reserves the right to withhold disbursement of the total amount of the 
grant to the Sponsor until the following has occurred:

1) RCO has accepted the project as a completed project, which acceptance shall not be unreasonably withheld.

2) On-site signs are in place (if applicable); Any other required documents and media are complete and 
submitted to RCO;Grant related fiscal transactions are complete, and

3) RCO has accepted a final boundary map of the project area for which the Agreement terms will apply in the 
future.

4) A Notice of Grant for any property rights acquired or donated (if applicable) have been filed with the county 
lands records office (or United State Government) and a stamped copy received by RCO, and any property 
rights owned to RCO have been likewise recorded.

E. Requirements for Federal Subawards: Match. The Sponsor’s matching share must comply with 2 C.F.R. Part 200 
(as updated). Any shared costs or matching funds and all contributions, including cash and third party in-kind 
contributions, can be accepted as part of the Sponsor’s matching share when such contributions meet all of the 
following criteria:

1) Are verifiable from the non-Federal entity's (Sponsor’s) records;

2) Are not included as contributions for any other Federal award;

3) Are necessary and reasonable for accomplishment of project or program objectives;



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 16 of 25

4) Are allowable under 2 C.F.R. Part 200 as updated;

5) Are not paid by the Federal Government under another Federal award, except where the Federal statute 
authorizing a program specifically provides that Federal funds made available for such program can be 
applied to matching or cost sharing requirements of other Federal programs;

6) Are provided for in the approved budget when required by the Federal awarding agency identified in the 
FEDERAL FUND INFORMATION Section of this Agreement; and

7) Conform to other provisions of 2 C.F.R. Part 200 (as updated) as applicable.

F. Requirements for Federal Subawards: Close out. Per 2 C.F.R § 200.343 (2013), the non-Federal entity (Sponsor) 
must:

1) Submit, no later than 90 calendar days after the end date of the period of performance, all financial, 
performance, and other reports as required by the terms and conditions of the Federal award. The Federal 
awarding agency or pass-through entity (RCO) may approve extensions when requested by the Sponsor.

2) Liquidate all obligations incurred under the Federal award not later than 90 calendar days after the end date 
of the period of performance as specified in the terms and conditions of the Federal award.

3) Refund any balances of unobligated cash that the Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity (RCO) 
paid in advance or paid and that are not authorized to be retained by the non-Federal entity (Sponsor) for 
use in other projects. See OMB Circular A-129 and see 2 C.F.R § 200.345 Collection of amounts due (2013), 
for requirements regarding unreturned amounts that become delinquent debts.

4) Account for any real and personal property acquired with Federal funds or received from the Federal 
Government in accordance with 2 C.F.R §§ 200.310 Insurance coverage through 200.316 Property trust 
relationship and 200.329 Reporting on real property (2013).

RECOVERY OF PAYMENTS

A. Recovery for Noncompliance. In the event that the Sponsor fails to expend funds under this Agreement in 
accordance with state and federal laws, and/or the provisions of the Agreement, fails to meet its percentage of the 
project total, and/or fails to comply with any of the terms and conditions of the Agreement, RCO reserves the right to 
recover grant award funds in the amount equivalent to the extent of noncompliance in addition to any other remedies 
available at law or in equity.

B. Return of Overpayments. The Sponsor shall reimburse RCO for any overpayment or erroneous payments made 
under the Agreement. Repayment by the Sponsor of such funds under this recovery provision shall occur within 30 
days of demand by RCO. Interest shall accrue at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum from the time the 
Sponsor received such overpayment. Unless the overpayment is due to an error of RCO, the payment shall be due 
and owing on the date that the Sponsor receives the overpayment from the RCO. If the payment is due to an error of 
RCO, it shall be due and owing 30 days after demand by RCO for refund.

C. Requirements for Federal Subawards. RCO, acting as a pass-through entity, may impose any of the remedies as 
authorized in 2 C.F.R §§ 200.207 Specific conditions and/or 200.338 Remedies for noncompliance (2013).

COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES

The Sponsor warrants that no person or selling agent has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this Agreement on an 
agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage or contingent fee, excepting bona fide employees or 
bona fide established agents maintained by the Sponsor for the purpose of securing business. RCO shall have the right, in the 
event of breach of this clause by the Sponsor, to terminate this Agreement and to be reimbursed by Sponsor for any grant 
funds paid to Sponsor (even if such funds have been subsequently paid to an agent), without liability to RCO or, in RCO's 
discretion, to deduct from the Agreement grant amount or consideration or recover by other means the full amount of such 
commission, percentage, brokerage or contingent fee.

INCOME (AND FEES) AND USE OF INCOME

See WAC 286-13-110 for additional requirements for projects funded from the RCFB.

A. Compatible source. The source of any income generated in a funded project or project area must be compatible with 
the funding source and the Agreement and any applicable manuals, RCWs, and WACs. 

B. Use of Income. Subject to any limitations contained in applicable state or federal law and applicable rules and 
policies, income or fees generated at a project work site (including entrance, utility corridor permit, cattle grazing, 
timber harvesting, farming, rent, franchise fees, ecosystem services, carbon sequestration, etc.) during or after the 



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 17 of 25

reimbursement period cited in the Agreement, must be used to offset:

1) The Sponsor’s matching resources;

2) The project’s total cost;

3) The expense of operation, maintenance, stewardship, monitoring, and/or repair of the facility or program 
assisted by the grant funding; 

4) The expense of operation, maintenance, stewardship, monitoring, and/or repair of other similar units in the 
Sponsor’s system;

5) Capital expenses for similar acquisition and/or development and renovation; and/or

6) Other purposes explicitly approved by RCO or otherwise provided for in this agreement.

C. Fees. User and/or other fees may be charged in connection with land acquired or facilities developed, maintained, 
renovated, or restored and shall be consistent with the:

1) Grant program laws, rules, and applicable manuals;

2) Value of any service(s) furnished; 

3) Value of any opportunities furnished; and

4) Prevailing range of public fees in the state for the activity involved.

D. Requirements for Federal Subawards. Requirements for Federal Subawards. Sponsors must also comply with 
program income requirements (see 2 C.F.R. Part 200 (as updated) for federal awards).

PROCUREMENT REQUIREMENTS

A. Procurement Requirements. If the Sponsor has, or is required to have, a procurement process that follows 
applicable state and/or federal law or procurement rules and principles, it must be followed, documented, and 
retained. If no such process exists, the Sponsor must follow these minimum procedures: 

1) Publish a notice to the public requesting bids/proposals for the project;

2) Specify in the notice the date for submittal of bids/proposals;

3) Specify in the notice the general procedure and criteria for selection; and

4) Sponsor must contract or hire from within its bid pool. If bids are unacceptable the process needs to be 
repeated until a suitable bid is selected.

5) Comply with the same legal standards regarding unlawful discrimination based upon race, gender, ethnicity, 
sex, or sex-orientation that are applicable to state agencies in selecting a bidder or proposer.

Alternatively, Sponsor may choose a bid from a bidding cooperative if authorized to do so.

This procedure creates no rights for the benefit of third parties, including any proposers, and may not be 
enforced or subject to review of any kind or manner by any entity other than the RCO. Sponsors may be 
required to certify to the RCO that they have followed any applicable state and/or federal procedures or the 
above minimum procedure where state or federal procedures do not apply.

B. Requirements for Federal Subawards.

1) For all Federal subawards, non-Federal entities (Sponsors) must follow 2 C.F.R §§ 200.318 General 
procurement standards through 200.326 Contract Provisions (2013).

TREATMENT OF EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS

Equipment shall be used and managed only for the purpose of this Agreement, unless otherwise provided herein or in the 
applicable manuals, or approved by RCO in writing.

A. Discontinued Use. Equipment obtained under this Agreement shall remain in the possession of the Sponsor for the 
duration of the project, or RULES of applicable grant assisted program. When the Sponsor discontinues use of the 
equipment for the purpose for which it was funded, RCO may require the Sponsor to deliver the equipment to RCO, 



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 18 of 25

or to dispose of the equipment according to RCO published policies.

B. Loss or Damage. The Sponsor shall be responsible for any loss or damage to equipment.

C. Requirements for Federal Subawards. Procedures for managing equipment (including replacement equipment), 
whether acquired in whole or in part under a Federal award or match for the award, until disposition takes place will, 
at a minimum, meet the following requirements (2 C.F.R § 200.313 (2013) as updated and amended):

1) Property records must be maintained that include a description of the property, a serial number or other 
identification number, the source of funding for the property (including the Federal Award Identification 
Number), who holds title, the acquisition date, and cost of the property, percentage of Federal participation in 
the project costs for the Federal award under which the property was acquired, the location, use and 
condition of the property, and any ultimate disposition data including the date of disposal and sale price of 
the property.

2) A physical inventory of the property must be taken and the results reconciled with the property records at 
least once every two years.

3) A control system must be developed to ensure adequate safeguards to prevent loss, damage, or theft of the 
property. Any loss, damage, or theft must be investigated.

4) Adequate maintenance procedures must be developed to keep the property in good condition.

5) If the non-Federal entity is authorized or required to sell the property, proper sales procedures must be 
established to ensure the highest possible return.

RIGHT OF INSPECTION

The Sponsor shall provide right of access to the project to RCO, or any of its officers, or to any other authorized agent or 
official of the state of Washington or the federal government, at all reasonable times, in order to monitor and evaluate 
performance, long-term obligations, compliance, and/or quality assurance under this Agreement. If a landowner agreement or 
other form of control and tenure limits access to the project area, it must include (or be amended to include) the RCO’s right to 
inspect and access lands acquired or developed with this funding assistance.

STEWARDSHIP AND MONITORING

Sponsor agrees to perform monitoring and stewardship functions as stated in the applicable WACs and manuals, this 
Agreement, or as otherwise directed by RCO consistent with the existing laws and applicable manuals. Sponsor further agrees 
to utilize, where applicable and financially feasible, any monitoring protocols recommended by the RCO; provided that RCO 
does not represent that any monitoring it may recommend will be adequate to reasonably assure project performance or 
safety. It is the sole responsibility of the Sponsor to perform such additional monitoring as may be adequate for such purposes.

PREFERENCES FOR RESIDENTS

Sponsors shall not express a preference for users of grant assisted projects on the basis of residence (including preferential 
reservation, membership, and/or permit systems) except that reasonable differences in admission and other fees may be 
maintained on the basis of residence. Fees for nonresidents must not exceed twice the fee imposed on residents. Where there 
is no fee for residents but a fee is charged to nonresidents, the nonresident fee shall not exceed the amount that would be 
imposed on residents at comparable state or local public facilities.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND SIGNS

A. Publications. The Sponsor shall include language which acknowledges the funding contribution of the applicable 
grant program to this project in any release or other publication developed or modified for, or referring to, the project 
during the project period and in the future.

B. Signs.

1) During the period of performance through the period of long-term obligation, the Sponsor shall post openly 
visible signs or other appropriate media at entrances and other locations on the project area that 
acknowledge the applicable grant program's funding contribution, unless waived by the director; and

2) During the period of long-term obligation, the Sponsor shall post openly visible signs or other appropriate 
media at entrances and other locations to notify the public of the availability of the site for reasonable public 
access.



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 19 of 25

C. Ceremonies. The Sponsor shall notify RCO no later than two weeks before a dedication ceremony for this project. 
The Sponsor shall verbally acknowledge the applicable grant program’s funding contribution at all dedication 
ceremonies and in all advertisements and mailings thereof, and any and all of its related digital media publications.

D. Federally Funded Projects. When issuing statements, press releases, requests for proposals, bid solicitations, and 
other documents describing a project funded in whole or in part with federal money provided for in this grant, 
Sponsors shall clearly state:

1) The fund source;

2) The percentage of the total costs of the project that is financed with federal money;

3) The dollar amount of federal funds for the project; and 

4) The percentage and dollar amount of the total costs of the project that is financed by nongovernmental 
sources.

PROVISIONS APPLYING TO DEVELOPMENT, MAINTENANCE, RENOVATION, AND RESTORATION PROJECTS

The following provisions shall be in force:

A. Operations and Maintenance. Properties, structures, and facilities developed, maintained, or operated with the 
assistance of money granted per this Agreement and within the project area shall be built, operated, and maintained 
according to applicable regulations, laws, building codes, and health and public safety standards to assure a 
reasonably safe condition and to prevent premature deterioration. It is the Sponsor’s sole responsibility to ensure the 
same are operated and maintained in a safe and operable condition. The RCO does not conduct safety inspections or 
employ or train staff for that purpose.

B. Document Review and Approval. Prior to commencing construction or finalizing the design, the Sponsor agrees to 
submit one copy of all construction and restoration plans and specifications to RCO for review solely for compliance 
with the scope of work to be identified in the Agreement. RCO does not review for, and disclaims any responsibility to 
review for safety, suitability, engineering, compliance with code, or any matters other than the scope so identified. 
Although RCO staff may provide tentative guidance to a Sponsor on matters related to site accessibility by persons 
with a disability, it is the Sponsor’s responsibility to confirm that all legal requirements for accessibility are met even if 
the RCO guidance would not meet such requirements.

1) Change orders that impact the amount of funding or changes to the scope of the project as described to and 
approved by the RCO must receive prior written approval of the RCO.

C. Control and Tenure. The Sponsor must provide documentation that shows appropriate tenure and term (such as 
long-term lease, perpetual or long-term easement, or perpetual or long-term fee simple ownership, or landowner 
agreement or interagency agreement for the land proposed for construction, renovation, or restoration. The 
documentation must meet current RCO requirements identified in this Agreement as of the effective date of this 
Agreement unless otherwise provided in any applicable manual, RCW, WAC, or as approved by the RCO.

D. Use of Best Management Practices. Sponsors are encouraged to use best management practices including those 
developed as part of the Washington State Aquatic Habitat Guidelines (AHG) Program. AHG documents include 
“Integrated Streambank Protection Guidelines”, 2002; “Land Use Planning for Salmon, Steelhead and Trout: A land 
use planner’s guide to salmonid habitat protection and recovery”, 2009”, “Protecting Nearshore Habitat and Functions 
in Puget Sound”, 2010; “Stream Habitat Restoration Guidelines”, 2012; “Water Crossing Design Guidelines”, 2013; 
and “Marine Shoreline Design Guidelines”, 2014. These documents, along with new and updated guidance 
documents, and other information are available on the AHG Web site. Sponsors are also encouraged to use best 
management practices developed by the Washington Invasive Species Council (WISC) described in “Reducing 
Accidental Introductions of Invasive Species” which is available on the WISC Web site.

E. At no time shall the Sponsor design, construct, or operate this grant funded project in a way that unreasonably puts 
the public, itself, or others at risk of injury or property damage. The Sponsor agrees and acknowledges that the 
Sponsor is solely responsible for safety and risk associated with the project, that RCO does not have expertise, 
capacity, or a mission to review, monitor, or inspect for safety and risk, that no expectation exists that RCO will do so, 
and that RCO is in no way responsible for any risks associated with the project.

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS OF THE PROJECTS AND SPONSORS

A. Long-Term Obligations. This section applies to completed projects only.

B. Perpetuity. For acquisition, development, and restoration projects, or a combination thereof, unless otherwise 
allowed by applicable manual, policy, program rules, or this Agreement, or approved in writing by RCO. The RCO 
requires that the project area continue to function for the purposes for which these grant funds were approved, in 



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 20 of 25

perpetuity.

C. Conversion. The Sponsor shall not at any time convert any real property (including any interest therein) or facility 
acquired, developed, renovated, and/ or restored pursuant to this Agreement, unless provided for in applicable 
statutes, rules, and policies. Conversion includes, but is not limited to, putting such property (or a portion of it) to uses 
other than those purposes for which funds were approved or transferring such property to another entity without prior 
approval via a written amendment to the Agreement. All real property or facilities acquired, developed, renovated, 
and/or restored with funding assistance shall remain in the same ownership and in public use/access status in 
perpetuity unless otherwise expressly provided in the Agreement or applicable policies or unless a transfer or change 
in use is approved by the RCO through an amendment. Failure to comply with these obligations is a conversion. 
Further, if the project is subject to operation and or maintenance obligations, the failure to comply with such 
obligations, without cure after a reasonable period as determined by the RCO, is a conversion. Determination of 
whether a conversion has occurred shall be based upon all terms of the Agreement, and all applicable state of federal 
laws or regulation.

1) When a conversion has been determined to have occurred, the Sponsor shall remedy the conversion as set 
forth in this Agreement (with incorporated documents) and as required by all applicable policies, manuals, 
WACs and laws that exist at the time the remedy is implemented or the right to the remedy is established by 
a court or other decision-making body, and the RCO may pursue all remedies as allowed by the Agreement 
or law.

CONSTRUCTION, OPERATION, USE, AND MAINTENANCE OF ASSISTED PROJECTS

The following provisions shall be in force for this agreement:

A. Property and facility operation and maintenance. Sponsor must ensure that properties or facilities assisted with 
the grant funds, including undeveloped sites, are built, operated, used, and maintained:

1) According to applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations, including public health standards and 
building codes;

2) In a reasonably safe condition for the project’s intended use;

3) Throughout its estimated useful service life so as to prevent undue deterioration;

4) In compliance with all federal and state nondiscrimination laws, regulations and policies.

B. Open to the public. Unless otherwise specifically provided for in the Agreement, and in compliance with applicable 
statutes, rules, and applicable WACs and manuals, facilities must be open and accessible to the general public, and 
must:

1) Be constructed, maintained, and operated to meet or exceed the minimum requirements of the most current 
guidelines or rules, local or state codes, Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards, guidelines, or rules, 
including but not limited to: the International Building Code, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the 
Architectural Barriers Act, as amended and updated.

2) Appear attractive and inviting to the public except for brief installation, construction, or maintenance periods.

3) Be available for appropriate use by the general public at reasonable hours and times of the year, according 
to the type of area or facility, unless otherwise stated in RCO manuals or, by a decision of the RCO director 
in writing. Sponsor shall notify the public of the availability for use by posting and updating that information 
on its website and by maintaining at entrances and/or other locations openly visible signs with such 
information.

RECORDED NOTICE OF GRANT

At the request of RCO, another state agency, or a federal agency, Sponsor shall record a notice of grant on property subject to 
this Agreement and shall submit to the RCO a recorded and registry stamped copy of such notice. The purpose of the notice 
of grant is to provide constructive notice of the grant and project and to ensure that the present and future use of the project 
area is and shall remain subject to the terms and conditions described in this Agreement. The notice of grant shall be in a 
format specified by RCO.

PROVISIONS FOR FEDERAL SUBAWARDS

The following provisions shall be in force for this agreement:

A. Sub-Recipient (Sponsor) must comply with the cost principles of 2 C.F.R. Part 200 (as updated). Unless otherwise 
indicated, the cost principles apply to the use of funds provided under this Agreement to include match and any in-



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 21 of 25

kind matching donations. The applicability of the cost principles depends on the type of organization incurring the 
costs.

B. Binding Official. Per 2 CFR 200 (as updated), as updated, Sponsor certifies through its actions or those of 
authorized staff, at the time of a request for reimbursement, the following: “To the best of my knowledge and belief 
that the report is true, complete, and accurate, and the expenditures, disbursements and cash receipts are for the 
purposes and objectives set forth in the terms and conditions of the Federal award. I am aware that any false, 
fictitious, or fraudulent information, or the omission of any material fact, may subject me to criminal, civil or 
administrative penalties for fraud, false statements, false claims or otherwise. (U.S. Code Title 18, Section 1001 and 
Title 31, Sections 3729-3730 and 3801-3812).”

C. Equal Employment Opportunity. Except as otherwise provided under 41 C.F.R. Part 60, all contracts that meet the 
definition of “federally assisted construction contract” in 41 C.F.R. § 60-1.3 must include the equal opportunity clause 
provided under 41 C.F.R. § 60- 1.4(b), in accordance with Executive Order 11246, Equal Employment Opportunity 
(30 Fed. Reg. 12319, 12935, 3 C.F.R. Part, 1964-1965 Comp., p. 339), as amended by Executive Order 11375, 
Amending Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity, and implementing regulations at 41 
C.F.R. Part 60 (Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of 
Labor). See 2 C.F.R. Part 200 (as updated).

1) Federally Assisted Construction Contract. The regulation at 41 C.F.R. § 60-1.3 defines a “federally 
assisted construction contract” as any agreement or modification thereof between any applicant and a 
person for construction work which is paid for in whole or in part with funds obtained from the Government or 
borrowed on the credit of the Government pursuant to any Federal program involving a grant, contract, loan, 
insurance, or guarantee, or undertaken pursuant to any Federal program involving such grant, contract, loan, 
insurance, or guarantee, or any application or modification thereof approved by the Government for a grant, 
contract, loan, insurance, or guarantee under which the applicant itself participates in the construction work.

2) Construction Work. The regulation at 41 C.F.R. § 60-1.3 defines “construction work” as the construction, 
rehabilitation, alteration, conversion, extension, demolition or repair of buildings, highways, or other changes 
or improvements to real property, including facilities providing utility services. The term also includes the 
supervision, inspection, and other onsite functions incidental to the actual construction.

D. Davis-Bacon Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. 3141-3148). When required by federal program legislation, all prime 
construction contracts in excess of $2,000 awarded by non-federal entities (Sponsors) must include a provision for 
compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 3141-3148) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations 
(29 C.F.R. § 5, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted 
Construction”).

In accordance with the statute, contractors must be required to pay wages to laborers and mechanics at a rate not 
less than the prevailing wages specified in a wage determination made by the Secretary of Labor. In addition, 
contractors must be required to pay wages not less than once a week. The non-federal entity (Sponsor) must place a 
copy of the current prevailing wage determination issued by the Department of Labor in each solicitation. The 
decision to award a contract or subcontract must be conditioned upon the acceptance of the wage determination. The 
non-Federal entity (Sponsor) must report all suspected or reported violations to the federal awarding agency identified 
in the Federal Fund Information Section. 

The contracts must also include a provision for compliance with the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act (40 U. S. C. 3145), 
as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 C.F.R Part 3, “Contractors and Subcontractors on Public 
Building or Public Work Financed in Whole or in Part by Loans or Grants from the United States”). The Act provides 
that each contractor or subrecipient (Sponsor) must be prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person employed 
in the construction, completion, or repair of public work, to give up any part of the compensation to which he or she is 
otherwise entitled. The non-Federal entity (Sponsor) must report all suspected or reported violations to the Federal 
awarding agency identified in Section H: Federal Fund Information.

E. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. 3701-3708). Where applicable, all contracts awarded 
by the non-federal entity (Sponsor) in excess of $100,000 that involve the employment of mechanics or laborers must 
include a provision for compliance with 40 U.S.C. 3702 and 3704, as supplemented by Department of Labor 
regulations (29 C.F.R. Part 5). Under 40 U.S.C. 3702 of the Act, each contractor must be required to compute the 
wages of every mechanic and laborer on the basis of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess of the 
standard work week is permissible provided that the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half 
times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week. The requirements of 40 
U.S.C. 3704 are applicable to construction work and provide that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in 
surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous. These requirements do not 
apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or articles ordinarily available on the open market, or contracts for 
transportation or transmission of intelligence.

F. Rights to Inventions Made Under a Contract or Agreement. If the Federal award meets the definition of “funding 
agreement” under 37 C.F.R § 401.2(a) and the recipient or subrecipient (Sponsor) wishes to enter into a contract with 
a small business firm or nonprofit organization regarding the substitution of parties, assignment or performance of 



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 22 of 25

experimental, developmental, or research work under that “funding agreement,” the recipient or subrecipient 
(Sponsor) must comply with the requirements of 37 C.F.R Part 401, “Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit 
Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative Agreements,” and 
any implementing regulations issued by the awarding agency.

G. Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401-7671q.) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 1251-1387), as 
Amended. Contracts and subgrants of amounts in excess of $150,000 must contain a provision that requires the non-
Federal award to agree to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air 
Act (42 U.S.C. 7401-7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as amended (33 U.S.C. 1251-1387). 
Violations must be reported to the Federal awarding agency identified in Section H: Federal Fund Information and the 
Regional Office of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).

H. Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment (31 U.S.C. 1352). By signing this Agreement, the Sponsor certifies (per the 
certification requirements of 31 U.S.C.) that none of the funds that the Sponsor has (directly or indirectly) received or 
will receive for this project from the United States or any agency thereof, have been used or shall be used to engage 
in the lobbying of the Federal Government or in litigation against the United States. Such lobbying includes any 
influence or attempt to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee 
of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this project. Contractors that apply or bid 
for an award exceeding $100,000 must file the required certification. Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not 
and has not used federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for influencing or attempting to 
influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an 
employee of a member of Congress in connection with obtaining any federal contract, grant or any other award 
covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Each tier must also disclose any lobbying with non-federal funds that takes place in 
connection with obtaining any federal award. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the non-federal 
award.

I. Procurement of Recovered Materials. A non-federal entity (Sponsor) that is a state agency or agency of a political 
subdivision of a state and its contractors must comply with section 6002 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended 
by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. The requirements of Section 6002 include procuring only items 
designated in guidelines of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) at 40 C.F.R part 247 that contain the highest 
percentage of recovered materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a satisfactory level of competition, where 
the purchase price of the item exceeds $10,000 or the value of the quantity acquired during the preceding fiscal year 
exceeded $10,000; procuring solid waste management services in a manner that maximizes energy and resource 
recovery; and establishing an affirmative procurement program for procurement of recovered materials identified in 
the EPA guidelines.

J. Required Insurance. The non-federal entity (Sponsor) must, at a minimum, provide the equivalent insurance 
coverage for real property and equipment acquired or improved with federal funds as provided to property owned by 
the non-federal entity. Federally-owned property need not be insured unless required by the terms and conditions of 
the Federal award (2 C.F.R § 200.310 (2013)).

K. Debarment and Suspension (Executive Orders 12549 and 12689). The Sponsor must not award a contract to 
parties listed on the government-wide exclusions in the System for Award Management (SAM), in accordance with 
the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) guidelines at 2 C.F.R § 180 that implement Executive Orders 12549 (3 
C.F.R part 1986 Comp., p. 189) and 12689 (3 C.F.R part 1989 Comp., p. 235), “Debarment and Suspension.” SAM 
Exclusions contains the names of parties debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties 
declared ineligible under statutory or regulatory authority other than Executive Order 12549.

L. Conflict of Interest. Sponsor agrees to abide by the conflict of interest policy and requirements of the federal funding 
agency established pursuant to 2 C.F.R 200.

PROVISIONS FOR BOATING INFRASTRUCTURE GRANTS

Use of Sport Fish Restoration Logo. Per 50 CFR 86 Sec 75 and 76, the user of the logo must indemnify and defend the 
United States and hold it harmless from any claims, suits, losses, and damages from; any allegedly unauthorized use of any 
patent, process, idea, method, or device by the user in connection with its use of the logo, or any other alleged action of the 
user; and any claims, suits, losses, and damages arising from alleged defects in the articles or services associated with the 
logo. No one may use any part of the logo in any other manner unless the United States Fish and Wildlife Service’s Assistant 
Director for Wildlife and Sport Fish Restoration or Regional Director approves in writing.

ORDER OF PRECEDENCE

This Agreement is entered into, pursuant to, and under the authority granted by applicable federal and state laws. The 
provisions of the Agreement shall be construed to conform to those laws. In the event of a direct and irreconcilable conflict 
between the terms of this Agreement and any applicable statute, rule, or policy or procedure, the conflict shall be resolved by 
giving precedence in the following order:



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 23 of 25

A. Federal law and binding executive orders;

B. Code of federal regulations;

C. Terms and conditions of a grant award to the state from the federal government;

D. Federal grant program policies and procedures adopted by a federal agency that are required to be applied by federal 
law;

E. State Constitution, RCW, and WAC;

F. Agreement Terms and Conditions and Applicable Manuals;

G. Applicable deed restrictions, and/or governing documents.

LIMITATION OF AUTHORITY

Only RCO’s Director or RCO’s delegate authorized in writing (delegation to be made prior to action) shall have the authority to 
alter, amend, modify, or waive any clause or condition of this Agreement; provided that any such alteration, amendment, 
modification, or waiver of any clause or condition of this Agreement is not effective or binding unless made as a written 
amendment to this Agreement and signed by the RCO Director or delegate.

WAIVER OF DEFAULT

Waiver of any default shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent default. Waiver or breach of any provision of the 
Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach and shall not be construed to be a 
modification of the terms of the Agreement unless stated to be such in writing, signed by the director, or the director’s 
designee, and attached as an amendment to the original Agreement.

APPLICATION REPRESENTATIONS – MISREPRESENTATIONS OR INACCURACY OR BREACH

The Funding Entity (if different from RCO) and RCO rely on the Sponsor’s application in making its determinations as to 
eligibility for, selection for, and scope of, funding grants. Any misrepresentation, error or inaccuracy in any part of the 
application may be deemed a breach of this Agreement.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE

RCO may, at it's discretion, enforce this Agreement by the remedy of specific performance, which means Sponsors’ 
completion of the project and/or its completion of long-term obligations as described in this Agreement. However, the remedy 
of specific performance shall not be the sole or exclusive remedy available to RCO. No remedy available to the RCO shall be 
deemed exclusive. The RCO may elect to exercise any, a combination of, or all of the remedies available to it under this 
Agreement, or under any provision of law, common law, or equity, including but not limited to seeking full or partial repayment 
of the grant amount paid and damages.

TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION

The RCO requires strict compliance by the Sponsor with all the terms of this Agreement including, but not limited to, the 
requirements of the applicable statutes, rules, and RCO policies, and with the representations of the Sponsor in its application 
for a grant as finally approved by RCO. For federal awards, notification of termination will comply with 2 C.F.R. § 200 (as 
updated).

A. For Cause.

1) The RCO director may suspend or terminate the obligation to provide funding to the Sponsor under this 
Agreement:

a) If the Sponsor breaches any of the Sponsor's obligations under this Agreement;

b) If the Sponsor fails to make progress satisfactory to the RCO director toward completion of the 
project by the completion date set out in this Agreement. Included in progress is adherence to 
milestones and other defined deadlines; or

c) If the primary and secondary Sponsor(s) cannot mutually agree on the process and actions needed 
to implement the project;

2) Prior to termination, the RCO shall notify the Sponsor in writing of the opportunity to cure. If corrective action 
is not taken within 30 days or such other time period that the director approves in writing, the Agreement may 



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 24 of 25

be terminated. In the event of termination, the Sponsor shall be liable for damages or other relief as 
authorized by law and/or this Agreement.

3) RCO reserves the right to suspend all or part of the Agreement, withhold further payments, or prohibit the 
Sponsor from incurring additional obligations of funds during the investigation of any alleged breach and 
pending corrective action by the Sponsor, or a decision by the RCO to terminate the Contract.

B. For Convenience. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, RCO may, by ten (10) days written notice, 
beginning on the second day after the mailing, terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part when it is in the best 
interest of the state. If this Agreement is so terminated, RCO shall be liable only for payment required under the terms 
of this Agreement prior to the effective date of termination. A claimed termination for cause shall be deemed to be a 
"Termination for Convenience" if it is determined that:

1) The Sponsor was not in default; or

2) Failure to perform was outside Sponsor’s control, fault or negligence.

C. Rights and Remedies of the RCO.

1) The rights and remedies of RCO provided in this Agreement are not exclusive and are in addition to any 
other rights and remedies provided by law.

2) In the event this Agreement is terminated by the director, after any portion of the grant amount has been paid 
to the Sponsor under this Agreement due to Sponsor's breach of the Agreement or other violation of law, the 
director may require that any amount paid be repaid to RCO for redeposit into the account from which the 
funds were derived. However, any repayment shall be limited to the extent repayment would be inequitable 
and represent a manifest injustice in circumstances where the project will fulfill its fundamental purpose for 
substantially the entire period of performance and of long-term obligation.

D. Non Availability of Funds. The obligation of the RCO to make payments is contingent on the availability of state and 
federal funds through legislative appropriation and state allotment. If amounts sufficient to fund the grant made under 
this Agreement are not appropriated to RCO for expenditure for this Agreement in any biennial fiscal period, RCO 
shall not be obligated to pay any remaining unpaid portion of this grant unless and until the necessary action by the 
Legislature or the Office of Financial Management occurs. If RCO participation is suspended under this section for a 
continuous period of one year, RCO’s obligation to provide any future funding under this Agreement shall terminate. 
Termination of the Agreement under this section is not subject to appeal by the Sponsor.

1) Suspension: The obligation of the RCO to manage contract terms and make payments is contingent upon 
the state appropriating state and federal funding each biennium. In the event the state is unable to 
appropriate such funds by the first day of each new biennium RCO reserves the right to suspend the 
Agreement, with ten (10) days written notice, until such time funds are appropriated. Suspension will mean 
all work related to the contract must cease until such time funds are obligated to RCO and the RCO provides 
notice to continue work.

2) No Waiver. The failure or neglect of RCO to require strict compliance with any term of this Agreement or to 
pursue a remedy provided by this Agreement or by law shall not act as or be construed as a waiver of any 
right to fully enforce all rights and obligations set forth in this Agreement and in applicable state or federal law 
and regulations.

DISPUTE HEARING

Except as may otherwise be provided in this Agreement , when a dispute arises between the Sponsor and the RCO, which 
cannot be resolved, either party may request a dispute hearing according to the process set out in this section. Either party’s 
request for a dispute hearing must be in writing and clearly state:

A. The disputed issues;

B. The relative positions of the parties;

C. The Sponsor’s name, address, project title, and the assigned project number.

In order for this section to apply to the resolution of any specific dispute or disputes, the other party must agree in writing that 
the procedure under this section shall be used to resolve those specific issues. The dispute shall be heard by a panel of three 
persons consisting of one person chosen by the Sponsor, one person chosen by the director, and a third person chosen by the 
two persons initially appointed. If a third person cannot be agreed on, the persons chosen by the Sponsor and director shall be 
dismissed and an alternate person chosen by the Sponsor, and one by the director shall be appointed and they shall agree on 
a third person. This process shall be repeated until a three person panel is established.



RCO: 20-1855 Revision Date: 6/1/2021 Page 25 of 25

Any hearing under this section shall be informal, with the specific processes to be determined by the disputes panel according 
to the nature and complexity of the issues involved. The process may be solely based on written material if the parties so 
agree. The disputes panel shall be governed by the provisions of this Agreement in deciding the disputes.

The parties shall be bound by the majority decision of the dispute panelists, unless the remedy directed by that panel is 
beyond the authority of either or both parties to perform, as necessary, or is otherwise unlawful.

Request for a disputes hearing under this section by either party shall be delivered or mailed to the other party. The request 
shall be delivered or mailed within thirty (30) days of the date the requesting party has received notice of the action or position 
of the other party which it wishes to dispute. The written agreement to use the process under this section for resolution of 
those issues shall be delivered or mailed by the receiving party to the requesting party within thirty (30) days of receipt by the 
receiving party of the request.

All costs associated with the implementation of this process shall be shared equally by the parties.

ATTORNEYS’ FEES

In the event of litigation or other action brought to enforce contract terms, each party agrees to bear its own costs and 
attorneys' fees.

GOVERNING LAW/VENUE

This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington. In the event of a 
lawsuit involving this Agreement, venue shall be in Thurston County Superior Court if legally proper; otherwise venue shall be 
in the Superior Court of a county where the project is situated, if venue there is legally proper, and if not, in a county where 
venue is legally proper. The Sponsor, by execution of this Agreement acknowledges the jurisdiction of the courts of the State 
of Washington and agrees to venue as set forth above.

SEVERABILITY

The provisions of this Agreement are intended to be severable. If any term or provision is illegal or invalid for any reason 
whatsoever, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the Agreement.

END OF STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This is the end of the Standard Terms and Conditions of the Agreement.



J:\Public_Forms\Agenda Materials\2022-02-22\Lease Agmt - Stellar Contrails\2022-02-22 Agenda Summary Land Lease Stellar Contrails llc.docx 

 
AGENDA SUMMARY 

 

Agenda Item No: Action Item #2 

Subject: Land Lease South Hangar with Stellar Contrails, LLC 

Exhibits: Lease Stellar Contrails, LLC 

Prepared By: Arne Bakker, Director of Business Development 

Meeting Date: February 22, 2022 

 
Summary: 
Stellar Contrails, LLC, has requested to enter into a land lease with the Port of Bremerton to 
construct a Corporate Hangar. Stellar Contrails has been interested in building their own 
Corporate Hangar on Port property. In 2020 Stellar Contrails presented Port staff with a 
letter of intent to build a corporate hangar upon completion of the South Hanger project in 
which the Port of Bremerton provided the infrastructure for future corporate hangar 
development. 

Lease Terms:  

• Lease Commencement: March 1, 2022 
• Ten (10) year lease with four (4) options of ten (10) years each 
• Annual CPI adjustments 
• Base Rent is subject to periodic adjustments every five (5) years 
• Hangar site:  15,000 sf   
• Common Area: 20,645 sf 
• Lease Rate: $818.32 per month 

All lease rates are calculated based off $12,000 per acre annually. 

Port Staff has done their due diligence and finds Stellar Contrails, LLC, in good standing. 
This lease has been written, reviewed and approved by legal. 

Fiscal Impact: 
Increased annual revenue for Bremerton National Airport. 

Strategic Purpose: 
This action conforms with the Port’s strategic plan in Goal 4.a. to continually assess niche 
markets in the Port’s Marina and Airfield lines of business for growth opportunities. 

Recommendation: 
Port staff recommends the approval of the land lease between Stellar Contrails, LLC., and the 
Port of Bremerton as presented 

Motion for Consideration: 
Move to approve the land lease between Stellar Contrails, LLC and the Port of 
Bremerton as presented. 



 

 

 

ON-AIRPORT GROUND LEASE 
 

This AIRPORT GROUND LEASE (“Lease”) is made and entered into this _______ day 
of __________, 2022, by and between the PORT OF BREMERTON, a Washington municipal 
corporation (hereinafter referred to as "Lessor"), and STELLAR CONTRAILS, LLC., a 
Washington State Limited Liability company (hereinafter referred to as "Lessee"). 
 
 ARTICLE I 
 Summary of Lease Terms and Definitions 
 
Lessor:   Port of Bremerton 
Lessor’s Address:  8850 SW State Hwy 3  
    Bremerton, WA 98312 
 
Lessee:   Stellar Contrails, LLC. 
Lessee's Address:  Prior to Lease Commencement: 
    8201 Orchard Ave. SE  
    Port Orchard, WA  98367 
 
    After Lease Commencement: 
    At the Premises, Attn: William M. Hansen 
 
Premises:   SHP Area 1 Lease Site 
         
Use of Premises:  Construction and use of Airplane Hangar 
          
 
Exhibits:  Exhibit "A" - Legal Description of Premises  

Exhibit "B" - Map of Premises  
Exhibit “C” - Legal Description of Common Areas 
Exhibit “D” - Map of Common Areas 

 
Commencement Date: March 1, 2022 
 
Term:    Commencing upon the Commencement Date and expiring on the 

“Termination Date” ten (10) years thereafter. 
 
Renewals:   Four (4) options of ten (10) years each. 
 
Base Rent: $9,819.74 Annually / $818.32 Per month excluding Leasehold 

Excise Tax (Currently set at 12.84%) 
 
  
Initial Amount of Financial Security:  $4,909.87  
Name and Address of Surety or Bank:          



 

 

 

 
 ARTICLE II 
 Premises, Term, Renewals 
 
2.1 PREMISES:  Lessor, in consideration of the rents hereinafter reserved and of the 
covenants and conditions herein set forth to be performed by Lessee, does hereby lease to 
Lessee the Premises.   
 
2.2 TERM:  The term of this Lease shall be for ten (10) years beginning March 1, 2022, 
through February 29, 2032 (“Commencement Date”).  If Lessee takes possession of the 
Premises before the Commencement Date set forth above, Lessee shall pay the pro rata rent 
for the period prior to commencement of the Lease term.   
 
2.3 RENEWALS:  Subject to the terms and conditions herein, Lessee shall have the right to 
renew this Lease for four (4) consecutive ten (10) year periods by giving written notice of such 
intention to Lessor at least one-hundred twenty (120) days prior to the expiration of the term of 
this Lease or any renewal thereof.  Lessee shall not be entitled to renew this Lease unless the 
Lease is in good standing at the time of renewal and the Lessee is not in default under the 
terms of this Lease or any other lease or agreement with the Lessor.  The terms and conditions 
of any renewal shall be the same as set forth in this Lease, except that rent shall be 
recalculated as provided herein, and the terms of this Lease shall be updated to be consistent 
with the terms and conditions then existing in the Lessor’s standard form Commercial Lease. 
 
2.4 COMMON AREAS:  The term “Common Areas” shall mean those areas of other real 
property owned by the Lessor that are provided and designated by the Lessor from time to time 
for the general non-exclusive use of Lessor, Lessee, other tenants of the Lessor, and the 
respective employees, suppliers, shippers, customers, clients, invitees, and licensees of such 
parties.  Common Areas may include, but are not limited to taxiways, walkways, driveways, 
parking areas, service areas, and landscaped areas.  Lessor or its agents shall operate, 
manage, equip, light, repair, replace and maintain the Common Areas for their intended purpose 
at such times and in such manner as Lessor shall reasonably determine.  Common Areas are 
defined and depicted on Exhibits C and D hereto.  
 

2.4.1 Lessee’s Common Area Rights.  Lessor hereby grants to Lessee, for the 
benefit of Lessee and its employees, suppliers, shippers, customers, clients and invitees during 
the term of this Lease, the non-exclusive right to use, in common with others entitled to such 
use, the Common Areas as they exist from time-to-time, subject to any rights, powers and 
privileges reserved by the Lessor under the terms hereof or under the terms of any rules, 
regulations or restrictions governing the use of the Common Areas.  Under no circumstances 
shall the right herein granted to use the Common Areas be deemed to include the right to store 
any property, temporarily or permanently, in the Common Areas.  Any such storage shall be 
permitted only by prior written consent of Lessor or Lessor's designated agent, which consent 
may be revoked at any time.  If such unauthorized storage shall occur, then Lessor shall have 
the right, without notice, in addition to such other rights and remedies that it may have, to 
remove the property and charge the cost to the Lessee, which cost shall be payable on demand 
by Lessor.  Lessee shall promptly notify Lessor if Lessee becomes aware of any potentially 
hazardous or dangerous conditions with, or in, a Common Area. 
 



 

 

 

2.4.2 Changes To Common Areas.  Lessor shall have the right from time-to-time to 
make changes to the Common Areas, including, without limitation: (i) changes in the location, 
size, shape and number thereof; (ii) to temporarily close any of the Common Areas for 
maintenance and public purposes so long as reasonable access to the Premises remains 
available; (iii) to add additional improvements to the Common Areas; and (iv) to use Common 
Areas while engaged in making additional improvements, repairs or alterations, as Lessor may, 
in the exercise of sound business judgment, deem appropriate.  Lessor shall nevertheless 
diligently perform construction, repair, or maintenance work to minimize interruptions in the use 
of Common Areas. 

 
 ARTICLE III 

 Compensation, Rental Adjustment 
 
3.1 RENT:  The term “Rent” as used herein includes Base Rent, Additional Rent, plus 
applicable Washington State leasehold excise tax, and other fees and charges assessed herein. 
Except as expressly provided elsewhere herein, Rent and all other sums payable by Lessee 
pursuant to this Lease shall be paid without the requirement that Lessor provide prior notice or 
demand, and shall not be subject to any counterclaim, setoff, deduction, defense or abatement. 
 
 3.1.1.  Rent Paid in Advance – Late Charges.   Rent shall be paid monthly in advance 
on or before the first (1st) day of each month beginning on the Commencement Date.  A late 
charge of one percent (1%) per month will be assessed against past due Rent from the date 
such Rent became due.  Additionally, if Rent is not received by the fifth (5th) day of any month, 
Lessee shall pay Lessor an additional fee of $100 or five percent (5%) of the delinquent 
payment, whichever is greater, to defray costs of collecting and handling such late payment.  All 
accrued interest and late charges shall be paid no later than the first (1st) day of the month 
following that month in which such interest or late charges accrued.   
 
3.2. BASE RENT ADJUSTMENTS:    As set forth in this section, the Base Rent shall be 
adjusted annually based upon the change in the Consumer Price Index (the “CPI”) for all Urban 
Consumers for the Seattle-Tacoma-Bellevue Metropolitan area (the “Annual Adjustment”) and 
periodically based upon agreement or appraisal the “Periodic Adjustment”). 
 
  3.2.1.  Annual Adjustment.  Base Rent for the Premises shall be subject to annual 
adjustment on the first (1st) day of the month of the first (1st) anniversary of the Commencement 
Date and each year thereafter as follows:  The monthly Base Rent rates shall be adjusted on 
each yearly anniversary date by using the CPI for all Urban Consumers published by the United 
States Department of Labor Bureau of Labor Statistics for the Seattle-Tacoma-Bellevue 
Metropolitan area.  The indexes used shall be those published for the nearest period preceding 
the month in which the initial Lease year begins and the same period preceding the anniversary 
date.  The percentage change from the earlier index to the later index shall be multiplied by the 
Base Rent rate at the beginning of each Lease year and the result added to that beginning Base 
Rent rate to arrive at the adjusted Base rent rate which will apply to each of the twelve months 
of the succeeding year, except in no event shall the Base Rent rate be less than the original 
monthly Base Rate. 

 
3.2.2  Periodic Adjustment.  In addition to an Annual Adjustment, the Base Rent shall 

be subject to periodic adjustment effective on the following dates: August 1, 2026 and every five 



 

 

 

(5) years thereafter (herein such dates shall be collectively referred to as the “Adjustment 
Date”).  The parties agree to renegotiate the amount of Base Rent payable to Lessor, and to 
agree on the amount of Base Rent at least ninety (90) days prior to each Adjustment Date 
(hereinafter such ninety (90) day period shall be referred to as the “Renegotiation Deadline”). If 
the parties cannot agree on an adjustment of Base Rent before the Renegotiation Deadline, 
then the Base Rent shall be determined according to the “Appraisal” section herein.  Once 
determined the adjusted Base Rent shall relate back to the Adjustment Date.  Regardless of the 
way the new Base Rent is determined, the adjusted Base Rent shall not be less than the Base 
Rent for the preceding Lease year. 

 
3.3   AIRPORT TARIFF CHARGES:  Lessee also agrees to pay any and all applicable tariffs 
in accordance with the Airport tariff schedule published by Lessor.  Said tariff schedule is 
subject to changes from time to time as adopted by Commission resolution. 
 
3.4   ABATED RENT:  If this Lease provides for a postponement of any monthly rental 
payments, a period of free Rent or other Rent concession, such postponed rent or free rent is 
called the "Abated Rent."  Lessee shall be credited with having paid all the Abated Rent on the 
expiration of the term of this Lease only if Lessee has fully, faithfully and punctually performed 
all of Lessee's obligations hereunder, including the payment of all Rent (other than the Abated 
Rent) and all other monetary obligations and the surrender of the Premises in the condition 
required by this Lease.  Lessee acknowledges that its right to receive credit for the Abated Rent 
is absolutely conditioned upon Lessee's full, faithful and punctual performance of its obligations 
under this Lease.  If Lessee defaults and does not cure within any applicable grace period, the 
Abated Rent shall immediately become due and payable in full and this Lease shall be enforced 
as if there were no such Rent abatement or other Rent concession.  In such case, Abated Rent 
shall be calculated based on the full initial rent payable under this Lease, plus interest thereon 
at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum from date each monthly Rental payment was 
postponed. 
  
 ARTICLE IV 

Use of Premises, Condition of Property, 
 Improvements, Removal of Property, Maintenance, and Utilities,  

Federal Aviation Requirements, Fire Protection, and Off-Street Parking 
 
4.1 LESSEE’S USE OF PREMISES:  Lessee shall only conduct the following activity on the 
Premises: Construction and use of an airplane hangar (the “Authorized Use”).    
 

4.1.1 Default- Unauthorized Use.  Lessee shall be in default under this Lease if it: (i) 
ceases conducting the Authorized Use for any period exceeding thirty (30) days; or (ii) conducts 
any other business or activity on the Premises without first obtaining a validly executed lease 
modification. In conducting the Authorized Use, Lessee shall properly and fairly serve the public, 
providing reasonable hours of operation, and suitable service.    
 

4.1.2 No Flammable or Dangerous Materials.   Notwithstanding the foregoing 
described use, the Premises shall not be used to store, distribute or otherwise handle 
flammable or dangerous materials, excepting only such uses which are necessary to conduct 
the Authorized Use.  At the request of Lessor, Lessee shall provide a list of all flammable or 
dangerous materials stored or used on the Premises. 



 

 

 

 
4.2 LESSEE INSPECTION - CONDITION OF PROPERTY:  Prior to executing this Lease, 
Lessee has fully and carefully inspected the Premises.  Lessee accepts the Premises, including 
all existing improvements thereon, "as is" without further maintenance liability on the part of the 
Lessor, except as specifically noted herein.  Lessee is not relying on any representations of 
Lessor as to condition, suitability, zoning restrictions, or usability, except Lessor’s right to grant 
a lease of the Premises. 
 
 4.2.1  Development of Premises. Lessee shall be solely responsible for any and all 
costs associated with (i) the development of the Premises, including, but not limited to any 
connection to public roadways, (ii) detention for storm water and quality treatment and flow of 
storm water (which shall be accomplished on the Premises or off Lessor’s property), (iii) 
construction of parking to meet regulatory requirements and, any and all other costs as may be 
required for the development of the Premises.   
 
4.3 CONSTRUCTION OF TENANT IMPROVEMENTS:  The Lessee and Lessor shall abide 
by the following terms with regard to making tenant improvements on the Premises (“Tenant 
Improvements”). 
 

4.3.1  Tenant Improvements.  Subject to obtaining Lessor’s prior written approval, 
Lessee may make and install, at its own expense, such Tenant Improvements as are normal 
and customary in connection with the Authorized Use set forth herein.  Lessee shall develop the 
Premises consistent with regulatory requirements, including, but not limited to zoning, 
permitting, Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) requirements and Lessor requirements.  The 
Lessor shall not be required to make any improvements whatsoever.  Lessee’s contractor, if 
any, shall be subject to Lessor’s approval, not unreasonably withheld.  Lessor reserves the right 
to condition its approval upon the Lessee providing payment and/or performance bonds 
satisfactory to Lessor.  Lessee shall submit plans to, and obtain written approval from, Lessor 
before commencing any Tenant Improvements.  Lessor shall have a reasonable period to 
review such plans prior to issuing a decision.  Lessor may charge Lessee a reasonable fee for 
staff, consultant or attorney time required to review the plans.  All Tenant Improvements which 
are to be designated fixtures shall be so designated by Lessor upon Lessor’s approval of the 
plans for such improvements.  All improvements by Lessee shall conform to the requirements of 
the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq. (the “ADA”).  
 
 4.3.2 Completion Schedule for Major Tenant Improvements by Lessee.  Lessee 
shall comply with the following requirements with respect to Tenant Improvements to be made 
at the commencement of the Lease: 
 

a. To commence construction within one hundred eighty (180) days of the 
date of execution of this Lease. 
 
 4.3.3 Unauthorized Improvements.  Any Tenant Improvements made on the 
Premises without Lessor’s prior written consent or which are not in conformance with the plans 
submitted to and approved by the Lessor (“Unauthorized Improvements”) shall immediately 
become the property of Lessor, unless Lessor elects otherwise.  Regardless of the ownership of 
Unauthorized Improvements, Lessor may, at its option, require Lessee to sever, remove and 



 

 

 

dispose of them and return the Premises to its prior condition at Lessee’s sole cost and 
expense, charge Lessee rent for the use of them, or both. 
 
 4.3.4 Construction Period.  The Lessee shall provide security fencing systems suitable 
to surround the entire Premises for the duration of construction of its Tenant Improvements. In 
addition, during construction Lessee shall manage construction of its Tenant Improvements in a 
manner that minimizes the impact on the Bremerton National Airport operations. 
 
4.4 REMOVAL OF PERSONAL PROPERTY AND TENANT IMPROVEMENTS AT END OF 
LEASE:  Prior to the conclusion of the Lease, at Lessor’s option, Lessee shall remove the 
following from the Premises: 
 

a. All equipment; 
 
b. All personal property; 
 
c. All Tenant Improvements that are not designated fixtures; and 
 
d. The following Existing Improvements: N/A 

 
4.4.1 Lessor’s Remedies.   If any of the foregoing items are not removed from the 

Premises by the conclusion of the Lease or when Lessor has the right of re-entry, then Lessor 
may, at its sole option, elect any or all the following remedies: 

 
a. To remove any or all the items and to dispose of them without liability to 

Lessee.  Lessor shall not be required to mitigate its damages, to dispose of the items in a 
commercially reasonable manner, or to make any effort whatsoever to obtain payment for such 
items.  Lessee agrees to pay Lessor’s costs and damages associated with Lessee’s failure to 
remove such items, including, but not limited to, the following: storage, demolition, removal, 
transportation and lost rent (collectively “Disposal Costs”); provided, however, that any net 
proceeds recovered by Lessor in excess of its Disposal Costs will be deducted from Lessee’s 
financial obligation set forth herein.  Lessee’s financial obligations herein shall survive the 
termination of this Lease. 

 
b. To have the title to any or all such items revert to Lessor. 
 
c. To commence suit against Lessee for damages or for specific 

performance. 
 
The foregoing remedies are cumulative and in addition to any other remedies provided by law, 
and Lessor shall not be required to elect its remedies. 
 
4.5 MAINTENANCE OF FACILITIES:  Maintenance and repair of the Premises and all 
improvements thereon is the sole responsibility of Lessee including, but not limited to, 
maintenance and repair of any damage to the Premises from unforeseen or unexpected events 
or Acts of God.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessee shall maintain the 
Premises in good condition including, without limitation, repairing all walls, floors, ceiling, interior 
doors, interior and exterior windows and fixtures, as well as damage caused to any portion of 



 

 

 

the Premises or Lessor’s property by Lessee, its employees, agents, licensees, invitees or 
anyone on the Premises or Lessor’s property as a result of Lessee’s activities.  
 
4.6 UTILITIES AND SERVICES:  Lessee will arrange and pay for all utility connections and 
services and distribution of such utilities and services, including, but not limited to all costs 
associated with hook up and other fees and charges related to use of such utilities and services.  
At the conclusion of this Lease, Lessee shall arrange for such utility services to be terminated 
and for the final bill to be sent to Lessee.  Lessee shall be liable for all utility charges that accrue 
if it fails to so terminate services.   
 
 
4.7 FEDERAL AVIATION REQUIREMENTS:  The Lessee agrees that its use of the 
Premises will be accomplished in accordance with the following covenants. 
 

4.7.1  Takeoff/Landing Interference.  Lessee shall prevent any use of the Premises 
which would interfere with the landing or taking off of aircraft at the Bremerton National Airport, 
or otherwise constitute an airport hazard. 
 

4.7.2  Electromagnetic Interference.  Lessee shall prevent any operation on the 
Premises which would produce electromagnetic radiations of a nature which would cause 
interference with any air navigational or communications aid now or in the future to be installed 
to serve the Bremerton National Airport, or which would create any interfering or confusing light 
or cause any restrictions to visibility at the airport. 
 

4.7.3  Airspace Reservation.  Lessor retains the public right of flight for the passage of 
aircraft in the airspace above the surface of the Premises hereinbefore described, together with 
the right to cause in said airspace such noise as may be inherent in the operation of aircraft, 
now known or hereafter used for navigation of or flight in said airspace, and for use of said 
airspace for landing on, taking off from or operating on the Bremerton National Airport. 
 

4.7.4  Minority Business Enterprises.  Lessee understands that it is the policy of the 
U.S. Department of Transportation that minority business enterprises as defined in 49 CFR, Part 
23, shall have the maximum opportunity to participate in the performance of this Lease as 
defined in 49 CFR, Section 23.5, and that this Lease is subject to 49 CFR, Part 23, as 
applicable.  Lessee hereby assures that no person shall be excluded from participation in, 
denied the benefits of, or otherwise discriminated against in connection with 49 CFR, Part 23, 
on the grounds of race, color, national origin, or sex. 

 
4.7.5 Hangar Use Policies. Lessee shall ensure that any use of the Premises 

complies with any and all FAA policies including, but not limited to, those policies applicable to 
hangar use such as 14 CFR Chapter 1 published on or about June 15, 2016 under Federal 
Register Vol. 81, No. 115 regarding Non-Aeronautical Use of Airport Hangars. 
 
4.8 FIRE PROTECTION:  The Lessee understands that the Lessor has no responsibility to 
provide fire protection for the Lessee's buildings, property or equipment located in or upon the 
leased Premises.  It shall be the exclusive responsibility of the Lessee to provide for its own fire 
protection, including, but not limited to, promptly paying all fire district service charges when 
due.  In this regard, the Lessee understands that it is the Lessee's responsibility and duty to 



 

 

 

include the value of its buildings, property, and equipment to appropriate City of Bremerton 
authorities for personal property tax purposes.  Failure of the Lessee to accurately list its 
improvements or promptly pay personal property tax when due, shall be a breach of this Lease 
and shall be grounds for the Lessor to terminate this Lease agreement.  The Lessee shall 
promptly provide the Lessor with a copy of its personal property declaration within seven (7) 
days from the time such declaration is made to the Kitsap County Assessor. 
 
4.9 OFF STREET PARKING:  Lessee agrees to provide space for the parking of vehicles in 
the number necessary to comply with applicable regulations and otherwise to accommodate its 
normal business requirements on the Premises included within this Lease; and not use any 
public streets, rights-of-way or other properties not included in this Lease for the parking of said 
vehicles. 
   

ARTICLE V 
Insurance and Financial Security 

 
5.1 CASUALTY LOSS OF LESSEE:  The parties hereto agree that the Lessor, its 
commissioners and employees, Lessor’s insurance carrier and Lessor’s casualty policy shall not 
be responsible to the Lessee for any property loss or damage done to the Lessee’s property, 
whether real, personal or mixed, occasioned by reason of any fire, storm or other casualty 
whatsoever.  It shall be the Lessee’s sole responsibility to provide its own protection against 
casualty losses of whatsoever kind or nature, regardless of whether or not such loss is 
occasioned by the acts or omissions of the Lessor, Lessee, third party, or act of nature.  Lessee 
hereby releases and discharges the Lessor its commissioners and employees, Lessor’s 
insurance carrier and Lessor’s casualty policy from any claims for loss or damage to Lessee’s 
property. 
 
5.2 INSURANCE:  Lessee shall procure and maintain a comprehensive general liability 
policy covering all claims for personal injury (including death) and property damage (including all 
real and personal property located on the Premises or Lessor’s property) arising on the 
Premises or Lessor’s property as a result of, or arising out of, Lessee’s operations under this 
Lease.  The limits of liability shall be not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) for each 
occurrence and in the aggregate unless the Lessee requests, and Lessor approves in writing, a 
lesser liability limit.  If the Lessee maintains higher insurance limits than the minimums required 
herein, the Lessor shall be insured for the full available limits of Commercial General and/or 
Excess or Umbrella liability maintained by the Lessee, irrespective of whether such limits 
maintained by the Lessee are greater than those required by this Lease or whether any 
certificate of insurance furnished to the Lessor evidences the lower limits of liability set forth 
above.  Lessor may impose changes in the limits of liability: (i) on any Adjustment Date; (ii) as a 
condition of approval of assignment or sublease of this Lease; (iii) upon any breach of the 
environmental liability provision herein; (iv) upon a material change in the condition of any 
improvements; or (v) upon a change in the Authorized Use.  If the liability limits are changed, 
Lessee shall obtain new or modified insurance coverage within thirty (30) days after changes in 
the limits of liability are required by Lessor.  The liability policies shall contain a cross-liability 
provision such that the policy will be construed as if separate policies were issued to Lessee 
and to Lessor. 
 



 

 

 

 5.2.1 Policy Provisions.  The foregoing insurance policy shall name Lessor as an 
additional named insured by way of a policy endorsement.  Lessee shall provide certificates of 
insurance and, if requested, copies of any policy to Lessor.  Receipt of such certificate or policy 
by Lessor does not constitute approval by Lessor of the terms of such policy.  Furthermore, the 
policy of insurance required herein shall: (i) be written as a primary policy; (ii) expressly provide 
that such insurance may not be materially changed, amended or canceled with respect to 
Lessor except upon forty-five (45) days' prior written notice from the insurance company to 
Lessor; (iii) contain an express waiver of any right of subrogation by the insurance company 
against Lessor and Lessor’s elected officials, employees or agents; (iv) expressly provide that 
the defense and indemnification of the Lessor as an “additional insured”  will not be effected by 
any act or omission by Lessee which might otherwise result in a forfeiture of said insurance; v) 
contain a separation of insureds provision such that the policy applies separately to each 
insured that is subject of a claim or suit; vi) not contain a cross-claim, cross-suit, or other 
exclusion that eliminates coverage by one insured against another; and (vii) provide for 
coverage for damage to the Lessor’s property caused by the Lessee. 
 
 5.2.2 Failure to Obtain and Maintain Insurance. If Lessee fails to procure and 
maintain the insurance described above, Lessor shall have the right, but not the obligation, to 
procure and maintain substitute insurance and to pay the premiums.  Lessee shall pay to Lessor 
upon demand the full amount paid by Lessor. 
 
 5.2.3 Prudent Business Insurance. The Lessee believes and states that the 
insurance obligation herein does not exceed that which the Lessee would otherwise normally 
place upon itself and obtain in order to operate its business in a prudent manner. 
 
5.3 FINANCIAL SECURITY:  In compliance with the requirements of state law, Lessee 
agrees that it will secure the performance of the rental portion of this Lease by procuring and 
maintaining, during the term of this Lease, a corporate surety bond, or by providing other 
financial security satisfactory to Lessor (herein referred to as the “Bond”), in an amount not less 
than fifty percent (50%) of the sum of annual Rent, plus state leasehold excise tax.  The Bond 
shall be in a form and issued by a surety company acceptable to Lessor and shall comply with 
the requirements of Washington law.  Lessee shall obtain such Bond and forward evidence 
thereof to Lessor within fourteen (14) days of execution of this Lease, but in no event later than 
the Commencement Date of this Lease.  Failure to comply with this requirement shall be 
grounds for termination of this Lease without notice by Lessor.  Such Bond shall be kept always 
in effect during the term of this Lease; failure to comply with this requirement shall render 
Lessee in default.  The Bond shall be increased annually to reflect any adjustments in annual 
Rent.  Upon any default by Lessee in its obligations under this Lease, Lessor may collect on the 
Bond to offset the liability of Lessee to Lessor.  Collection on the Bond shall not relieve Lessee 
of liability, shall not limit any of Lessor’s other remedies, and shall not reinstate or cure the 
default or prevent termination of the Lease because of the default. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
Environmental Liability 

 
6.1 ENVIRONMENTAL INDEMNIFICATION:  Lessee shall defend (with legal counsel 
suitable to Lessor), indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from any and all claims, demands, 
judgments, orders or damages resulting from Hazardous Substances present on the Premises 



 

 

 

or Lessor’s property due in whole or in part by the activity of the Lessee, its agents, subtenants, 
or any other person or entity (i) on the Premises as a result of, arising out of, or relating to 
Lessee’s operations under this Lease or any previous lease or agreement or (ii) on the Lessor’s 
property as a result of, arising out of, or relating to Lessee’s operations under this Lease or any 
previous lease or agreement.  It is the intent of the parties that Lessee shall be responsible and 
shall defend and hold Lessor harmless from any Hazardous Substances that have or may occur 
on the Premises or Lessor’s property as a result of, arising out of, or relating to Lessee’s 
operations since Lessee first occupied the Premises or other portion of the Lessor’s property 
through this Lease or any previous lease or agreement with Lessor.  The term “Hazardous 
Substances” as used herein shall mean any substance heretofore or hereafter designated as 
hazardous under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 USC Sec. 6901 et seq.; the 
Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 USC Sec. 1251 et seq.; the Clean Air Act, 42 USC Sec. 
7401 et seq.; the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 
1980, 42 USC Sec. 9601 et seq.; or the Hazardous Waste Cleanup-Model Toxics Control Act, 
RCW 70A.305, all as amended and subject to all regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
 6.1.1 Unconditional Environmental Obligations. Lessee’s defense and indemnity 
obligations under this article are unconditional, shall not be discharged or satisfied by Lessor’s 
re-entry of the Premises or exercise of any other remedy for Lessee’s default under this Lease, 
shall continue in effect after any assignment or sublease of this Lease, and shall continue in 
effect after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. 
 
 6.1.2  Environmental Investigations.   Lessee shall not be liable for any Hazardous 
Substances on the Premises that was not caused in whole or in part by the activity of the 
Lessee, its agents, subtenants, or any other person or entity on the Premises as a result of, 
arising out of, or relating to Lessee’s operations under this Lease or any previous lease or 
agreement, Lessee shall be responsible for the costs of any environmental investigations or 
remediation arising from the development or use of the Premises by Lessee, and Lessee 
hereby releases the Lessor from any contribution claim for those costs.  By way of example 
only, if the Lessee excavates soil on the Premises which contains Hazardous Substances, then 
the Lessee will be responsible for the cost associated with disposing of those soils regardless of 
when or how the Hazardous Substances were released into those soils. 
 
6.2 CURRENT CONDITIONS AND DUTY OF LESSEE:  Lessor makes no representation 
about the condition of the Premises.  Hazardous Substances may exist in, on, under or above 
the Premises.  Lessee should, but is not required to, conduct environmental assessments or 
investigations of the Premises prior to or during this Lease to determine the existence, scope 
and location of any Hazardous Substances.  If there are any Hazardous Substances in, on, 
under or above the Premises as of the Commencement Date, Lessee shall exercise the utmost 
care with respect to the Hazardous Substances, the foreseeable acts or omissions of third 
parties affecting the Hazardous Substances, and the foreseeable consequences of those acts 
or omissions. 
 
 6.2.1 Prior Notice of Environmental Investigation.  Prior to conducting any 
environmental investigation of the subsurface of the Premises, the Lessee shall provide prior 
written notice to the Lessor.  Lessee shall provide the Lessor with the results of all such 
investigations. 
 



 

 

 

6.3 NOTIFICATION AND REPORTING:  Lessee shall immediately notify Lessor if Lessee 
becomes aware of any of the following: 
 

a. A release or threatened release of Hazardous Substances in, on under or 
above the Premises, any adjoining property, or any other property subject to use by Lessee in 
conjunction with its use of the Premises; 

 
b. Any problem or liability related to or derived from the presence of any 

Hazardous Substance in, on under or above the Premises, any adjoining property or any other 
property subject to use by Lessee in conjunction with its use of the Premises; 

 
c. Any actual or alleged violation of any federal, state or local statute, 

ordinance, rule, regulation or other law pertaining to Hazardous Substances with respect to the 
Premises, any adjoining property, or any other property subject to use by Lessee in conjunction 
with its use of the Premises; or 

 
d. Any lien or action with respect to any of the foregoing. 
 

 6.3.1 Copies of All Environmental Reports.   Lessee shall, at Lessor’s request, 
provide Lessor with copies of any and all reports, studies or audits which pertain to 
environmental issues or concerns with the Premises, and which are or were prepared by or for 
Lessee and submitted to any federal, state or local authorities pursuant to any federal, state or 
local permit, license or law.  These permits include, but are not limited to, any National Pollution 
Discharge and Elimination System permit, any Army Corps of Engineers permit, any State 
Hydraulics permit, any State Water Quality certification, or any Substantial Development permit. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
Miscellaneous Provisions 

 
7.1 APPRAISAL:  When Base Rent is to be determined by appraisal, the process in this 
article shall govern.  Within seven (7) calendar days from the Rental Renegotiation Deadline, 
Lessor and Lessee shall mutually agree upon a disinterested, MAI certified appraiser with at 
least ten (10) years’ experience appraising property in Kitsap County to perform an appraisal of 
the fair market rental value of the Premises.  The appraiser's costs shall be shared equally by 
the parties.  The rental rate arrived at in the appraisal shall constitute the new Base Rent, which 
shall be retroactive to the Adjustment Date. 
 

7.1.1 Failure to Agree on Appraiser.  If Lessor and Lessee cannot mutually agree 
upon an appraiser by the end of the seventh (7th) day as set forth above, then each party shall 
select an MAI certified appraiser to perform an appraisal of the fair market rental value of the 
Premises.  Each party shall bear the costs of its own appraisal.  The appraisals shall be 
completed no later than ninety (90) days after the Rental Renegotiation Deadline (herein this 
date shall be referred to as the "Appraisal Completion Date").  The average of the two (2) 
appraisals shall apply to Paragraph 7.1 above.  If either of the appraisals is not timely completed 
on or before the Appraisal Completion Date, and unless there were circumstances beyond the 
appraisers' control that prevented its timely completion, then the appraisal that was timely 
completed shall apply to Paragraph 7.1 above. 
 



 

 

 

7.2 LESSEE WILL OBTAIN PERMITS:  Lessee agrees to obtain and comply with all 
necessary permits for any Tenant Improvements and to conduct the Authorized Use.  If Lessee 
fails to obtain and comply with such permits, then Lessee accepts full responsibility for any and 
all costs incurred by Lessor, including actual attorneys’ fees.  In this way, Lessee agrees to be 
solely responsible for all damages, costs and expenses incurred as a result of Lessee’s failure 
to fully comply with any necessary permit process and requirements.   
 
7.3 LIENS:  Lessee agrees to keep the Premises described herein free and clear of all liens 
and charges whatsoever.  Lessee shall not allow any mechanics and materialmen’s or other 
liens to be placed upon the leased Premises.  If such a lien is placed or recorded, Lessee shall 
cause it to be discharged of record, at its own expense, within ten (10) days of Lessor’s 
demand. Failure to comply with Lessor’s demand within ten (10) days shall be a default under 
the terms of this Lease. 
 
7.4 INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS:  The Lessee agrees that it will defend 
(with legal counsel acceptable to Lessor), indemnify and hold harmless the Lessor, its officers, 
employees and agents from any and all demands, claims, judgments or liability for loss or 
damage arising as a result of accidents, injuries or other occurrences on the Premises or on 
Lessor’s property, (i) occasioned by either the negligent or willful conduct of the Lessee, its 
agents, or (ii) made by any person or entity holding under the Lessee, or any person or entity on 
the Premises or on the Lessor’s property as a result of Lessee’s activity, regardless of who the 
injured party may be.  This indemnification and hold harmless shall not apply to the extent the 
damages was caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Lessor. 
 
7.5. LIMITED WAIVER OF IMMUNITY UNDER WASHINGTON STATE INDUSTRIAL 
INSURANCE ACT, TITLE 51 RCW AND OTHER SIMILAR INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE 
SCHEMES:   For purposes of the foregoing indemnification provision, and only to the extent of 
claims against Lessee by Lessor under such indemnification provision, Lessee specifically 
waives any immunity it may be granted under the Washington State Industrial Insurance Act, 
Title 51 RCW, The United States Longshore and Harbor Workers Compensation Act, 33 USC 
§901-950, or any other similar workers’ compensation schemes.  The indemnification obligation 
under this Lease shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of 
damages, compensation or benefits payable to or for any third party under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.  The foregoing 
provision was specifically negotiated and agreed upon by the parties hereto.   
 
7.6 LAWS AND REGULATIONS:  Lessee agrees to conform to and abide by all applicable 
rules, codes, laws, regulations and Port policies in connection with its use of the Premises and 
the construction of improvements and operation of Lessee’s business thereon and not to permit 
said Premises to be used in violation of any applicable rule, code, law, regulation, Port policy, or 
other authority. 
 
 7.6.1 Environmental Laws and Regulations.   Lessee’s obligations herein shall 
include, but in no way be limited to, the obligation to comply with all State and Federal 
environmental laws and regulations.  Lessee shall defend (with legal counsel acceptable to 
Lessor), indemnify and hold harmless the Lessor from any fine, penalty or damage which may 
be imposed by any lawful authority, which may arise as a result of the Lessee’s failure to comply 
with the obligations of this article. 



 

 

 

 
7.7 WASTE AND REFUSE:  Lessee agrees not to allow conditions of waste and refuse to 
exist on the Premises and to keep the Premises in a neat, clean and orderly condition.  
 
7.8 TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS:  Lessee agrees to pay all taxes assessed against the 
leasehold interest and a pro rata share of any assessments made against the Premises for 
installation of public utility systems, based upon a reasonable overall sharing program among all 
properties within the assessment area. 
 
7.9 SIGNS:  No signs shall be installed without the prior written permission of Lessor.  In the 
event that an unauthorized sign has been installed and after twenty-four hours (24) notification 
to remove the sign by the Lessor, Lessee shall pay the Lessor a penalty of $100 per day for 
each day the sign remains in place after such notification.  The penalty shall automatically 
resume, without notice, if the sign is reinstalled after having been removed.  The penalty 
accrued shall be paid with the next month’s Base Rent.  In addition, the Lessor reserves the 
right to provide notice of, and treat an unauthorized sign as, a non-monetary default of this 
Lease. 
 
7.10 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY:  Lessee agrees that in the conduct of activities on the 
Premises, it will be an equal opportunity employer in accordance with Title VII of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, 42 USC §2000 et seq. and shall comply with all requirements of the ADA. 
 
7.11 LITIGATION:  In the event Lessor shall be made a party to any litigation commenced by 
or against Lessee (other than actions commenced by Lessee or Lessor concerning the 
interpretation or enforcement of any of the terms and conditions of this Lease), then Lessee 
agrees to pay all costs, expert witness fees, and attorneys’ fees, including all customary 
charges incurred by Lessor in connection with such litigation.  However, if Lessor is made a 
party defendant and Lessee undertakes the defense of the action on behalf of Lessor, then no 
obligation for costs and attorneys’ fees will be chargeable against Lessee by Lessor for costs 
arising out of such undertaking.   
 
7.12 ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE:  Lessee shall not assign, rent or sublease any portions of 
this Lease or any extension thereof, without the prior written consent of Lessor, which consent 
shall not be unreasonably withheld, and no rights hereunder in or to said Premises shall pass by 
operation of law or other judicial process, or through insolvency proceedings.  Otherwise, the 
rights and obligations hereof shall extend to and be binding upon their respective successors, 
representatives and assigns, as the case may be.  Lessee shall furnish Lessor with copies of all 
such subassignment, sublease or rental documents.  For the purposes of this Lease, any 
change of ownership including sale, liquidation or other disposition of the beneficial interest of a 
majority of the corporate stock or limited liability company units will be considered an 
assignment.  Should the Lessor consent to an assignment made by the Lessee for the purposes 
of obtaining a loan or other consideration from a third party, then if Lessor has a standard 
consent form for these purposes the Lessor’s consent shall be made in accordance with that 
form.  If Lessor has a standard consent form, a copy of this consent form shall be provided by 
Lessor upon request of Lessee.   
 
 7.12.1 Remedy If Lessor Denies Assignment.   If Lessor refuses to consent to an 
assignment, Lessee’s sole remedy shall be the right to bring a declaratory judgment action to 



 

 

 

determine whether Lessor was entitled to refuse such assignment under the terms of this 
Lease. 
 
 7.12.2 No Waiver of Future Consents.   No consent by Lessor to any assignment or 
sublease shall be a waiver of the requirement to obtain such consent with respect to any other 
or later assignment or sublease.  Acceptance of Rent or other performance by Lessor following 
an assignment or sublease, whether or not Lessor has knowledge of such assignment or 
sublease, shall not constitute consent to the same nor a waiver of the requirement to obtain 
consent to the same. 
 
 7.12.3 Transfer Fee.  An administrative handling and transfer fee (“Transfer Fee”) of 
Three Hundred Dollars ($300.00) shall be payable by Lessee to Lessor if Lessee requests the 
Lessor’s consent to a proposed assignment (including an assignment to a creditor for security 
purposes), or sublease.  Such Transfer Fee shall be submitted to the Lessor at the same time 
that Lessee requests the Lessor’s consent to the proposed sublease or assignment. 
 
 7.12.4 Attorneys’ Fees.  In addition to the Transfer Fee, Lessee shall pay Lessor’s 
reasonable and customary attorneys’ fees incurred relating to the Lessee’s request for Lessor’s 
consent to a proposed assignment or in the event Lessee seeks to modify the Lease during the 
term of the Lease or any renewals thereof.  Lessee’s failure to remit this amount within sixty (60) 
days of the mailing of the notice of such charges shall constitute a default under this Lease.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Lessee shall not be obligated to reimburse 
the Lessor in any case where an assignment or sublease is not accomplished due to total 
refusal on the part of Lessor to grant its consent to the request. 
 
 7.12.5 Excess Rent.  If, pursuant to any assignment or sublease, Lessee receives rent, 
either initially or over the term of the assignment or sublease: i) in excess of the Rent called for 
hereunder, or ii) in the case of a sublease of a portion of the Premises, in excess of such Rent 
fairly allocable to such portion, after appropriate adjustments to assure that all other payments 
called for hereunder are appropriately taken into account, Lessee shall pay to Lessor, as 
Additional Rent hereunder, fifty percent (50%) of the excess of each such payment of Rent 
received by Lessee after its receipt. 
 
 7.12.6 Lessee’s Liability on Assignment or Sublease.  If this Lease is assigned, or if 
the underlying majority beneficial interest of Lessee is transferred, or if the Premises or any part 
thereof is sublet to or occupied by anybody other than Lessee, Lessor may collect Rent from the 
assignee, subtenant or occupant and apply the net amount collected to the Rent herein 
reserved, but no such assignment, subletting, occupancy or collection shall be deemed a waiver 
of this covenant, or the acceptance of the assignee, subtenant or occupant as tenant, or a 
release of Lessee from the further performance by Lessee of covenants on the part of Lessee 
herein contained.  No assignment or subletting shall affect the continuing primary liability of 
Lessee (which, following assignment, shall be joint and several with the assignee), and Lessee 
shall not be released from performing any of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease. 
 
 7.12.7 Proceed Against Lessee.  Notwithstanding any assignment or sublease, or any 
indulgences, waivers or extensions of time granted by Lessor to any assignee or sublessee or 
failure of Lessor to take action against any assignee or sublease, Lessee hereby agrees that 
Lessor may, at its option, proceed against Lessee without having taken action against or joined 



 

 

 

such assignee or sublessee, except that Lessee shall have the benefit of any indulgences, 
waivers and extensions of time granted to any such assignee or sublessee. 
 
 7.12.8 Assignee/Sublessee Insurance. In the event the Lessor approves an 
assignment or sublease hereunder, such assignee or sublessee shall provide Lessor with 
insurance certificates and/or endorsements evidencing such assignee’s or sublessee’s 
compliance with the insurance provisions set forth herein including, but not limited to, the 
endorsement of Lessor as an additional insured under such policy or policies.   
 
 
 
 
7.13 DEFAULT, CROSS DEFAULT, AND REMEDIES:   
 

7.13.1 Monetary Defaults.  Failure to pay Rent or any other monetary obligations by 
the first day of each month shall constitute a default under the terms of this Lease.  If Lessee is 
in default in the payment of Rent or other monetary obligations then, at Lessor’s sole option, 
upon ten (10) days’ written notice, this Lease may be terminated, and Lessor may enter upon 
and take possession of the Premises.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessee 
expressly authorizes Lessor to obtain a prejudgment writ of restitution in the event of default by 
Lessee.  This remedy is in addition to and is not exclusive of any other remedies provided either 
by this Lease or by law. 
 
 7.13.2 Non-monetary Defaults.  If Lessee shall fail to perform any term or condition of 
this Lease, other than the payment of Rent or other monetary obligations, then Lessor, upon 
providing Lessee thirty (30) days’ written notice of such default, may terminate this Lease and 
enter upon and take possession of the Premises.  This remedy is in addition to and is not 
exclusive of any other remedies provided either by this Lease or by law. 
 
 7.13.3 Other Defaults.  The following shall also constitute a default under the terms of 
this Lease:  A default by Lessee under any other agreement or lease with the Lessor; 
insolvency of Lessee; an assignment by Lessee for the benefit of creditors; the filing by Lessee 
of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy; an adjudication that Lessee is bankrupt or the appointment 
of a receiver of the properties of Lessee; the filing of an involuntary petition of bankruptcy and 
failure of Lessee to secure a dismissal of the petition within thirty (30) days after filing; 
attachment of or the levying of execution on the leasehold interest; and failure of Lessee to 
secure a discharge of the attachment or release of the levy of execution within ten (10) days. 
 

7.13.4  Multiple Defaults in a Year.  If within any one (1) year period, Lessor serves 
upon the Lessee three notices requiring Lessee either to: (i) comply with the terms of this Lease 
or to vacate the Premises or (ii) pay Rent or vacate (collectively referred to herein as “Default 
Notices”), then Lessee shall, upon a subsequent violation of any term of this Lease by the 
Lessee (including failure to pay Rent), be deemed to be in unlawful detainer, and Lessor may, in 
addition to any other remedies it may have, immediately terminate the Lease and/or commence 
an unlawful detainer action without further notice to Lessee. 
 
    7.13.5   Cross-Default.  A default under this Lease shall constitute a default under any 
other lease or agreement which Lessee has with Lessor (hereinafter such other agreements 



 

 

 

shall be referred to as “Collateral Agreements”).  Likewise, any material breach or default under 
a Collateral Agreement shall be deemed a material breach or default under the terms of this 
Lease.  If a Collateral Agreement is terminated for a material breach or default of Lessee, then 
Lessor shall, without limiting any other remedies it may have, be entitled to terminate this Lease 
upon five (5) days’ written notice to Lessee. 
 
 7.13.6 Other Remedies.  In addition to the foregoing remedies specified in this article, 
Lessor may exercise any remedies or rights under the laws of the State of Washington 
including, but not limited to, recovering damages for past due rent, future rent, costs to re-let the 
Premises, and costs to restore the Premises to its prior condition (reasonable wear and tear 
excepted).  Under no circumstances shall Lessor be held liable in damages or otherwise by 
reason of any lawful re-entry or eviction.  Lessor shall not, by any re-entry or other act, be 
deemed to have accepted any surrender by Lessee of the Premises or be deemed to have 
otherwise terminated this Lease or to have relieved Lessee of any obligation hereunder. Lessor 
shall be under no obligation to observe or perform any covenant of this Lease after the date of 
any material default by Lessee unless and until Lessee cures such default. A fee of Five 
Hundred Dollars ($500.00) shall be assessed to Lessee for each Default Notice issued to 
Lessee to defray the costs associated with preparing, issuing, and serving such notice.  This fee 
shall be payable on the first (1st) day of the month following the issuance of the Default Notice. 
 
7.14 TERMINATION:  This Lease shall terminate for default if Lessee fails to cure any default 
within the time provided for herein.  Upon termination of this Lease or any extension thereof, 
whether by expiration of the stated term or sooner termination thereon, as herein provided, 
Lessee shall surrender to Lessor the Premises peaceably and quietly.  Lessee shall restore the 
Premises to the condition existing at the time of initiation of this Lease, except for: (i) normal 
wear and tear, and (ii) any improvements which Lessor permits to remain on the Premises. 
 
7.15 NON-WAIVER:  Neither the acceptance of Rent nor any other act or omission of Lessor 
after a default by Lessee or termination shall operate as a waiver of any past or future default by 
Lessee, or to deprive Lessor of its right to terminate this Lease or be construed to prevent 
Lessor from promptly exercising any other right or remedy it has under this Lease.  Any waiver 
by Lessor shall be in writing and signed by Lessor in order to be binding on Lessor. 
 
7.16 NOTICES:  Any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or communication that 
either party desires or is required to give to the other party shall be in writing addressed to the 
other party at the addresses as follows: 
 
 TO LESSOR:   Port of Bremerton 
     Attn: Airport Manager  
     8850 SW State Hwy 3 
     Bremerton, WA  98312 
     E-mail: warrenh@portofbremerton.org 
 
 TO LESSEE:   Stellar Contrails, LLC 
     Attn: William M. Hansen 
     8201 Orchard Ave. SE 
     Port Orchard, WA 98367 
     E-mail: bill@inventechmarine.com 



 

 

 

 
or such address as may have been specified by notifying the other party of the change of 
address.  Notice shall be deemed served: i) on the date sent by e-mail if email is sent during 
regular business hours or, if sent outside of normal business hours, at 8:00 am on the next 
regular business day, ii) on the date of actual delivery, or iii) first attempted delivery as shown 
on the return receipt if mailed with the United States Postal Service by certified mail, return 
receipt requested. 
 
7.17 AGENT FOR SERVICE:  Lessee agrees that if Lessee is in unlawful detainer, pursuant 
to Chapter 59.12 RCW, and Lessor is unable to serve Lessee with the unlawful detainer 
pleadings after one service attempt, then Lessor shall be deemed to have complied with the 
service requirements of Chapter 59.12 RCW if it mails such pleadings via certified mail to the 
address set forth in the notice section of this Lease and posts such pleadings in a conspicuous 
location on the Premises.  Service shall be deemed complete on the third (3rd) day following the 
day of posting or day of mailing, whichever is later. 
 
7.18 SECURITY:  Lessee specifically acknowledges that Lessor has no duty to provide 
security for any portion of the Premises or Property.  Lessee assumes sole responsibility and 
liability for the security of itself, its employees, customers, and invitees, and their respective 
property in or about the Premises or Property.  Lessee agrees that to the extent Lessor elects to 
provide any security, Lessor is not warranting the effectiveness of any such security personnel, 
services, procedures or equipment and that Lessee is not relying and shall not hereafter rely on 
such security personnel, services, procedures or equipment.  Lessor shall not be responsible or 
liable in any manner for failure of any such security personnel, services, procedures or 
equipment to prevent or control, or apprehend anyone suspected of personal injury or property 
damage in, on or around the Premises or Property. 
 
7.19 QUIET ENJOYMENT:  Lessor acknowledges that it has ownership of the Premises and 
that it has the legal authority to lease the Premises to Lessee.  Lessor covenants that Lessee 
shall have quiet enjoyment of the Premises during the term of this Lease so long as Lessee 
complies with this Lease and subject to Lessor’s right of entry onto the Premises as set forth 
herein. 
 

7.19.1  Easements.  The Lessor reserves the right to grant easements and other land 
uses on the Premises to others when the easement or other land uses applied for will not 
unduly interfere with the use to which the Lessee is putting the Premises or interfere unduly with 
the approved plan of development for the Premises.   
 
 7.19.2  Closure by Government Order.  Lessee understands that various federal 
agencies, including the Department of Homeland Security and U.S. Coast Guard, have the 
authority to restrict access to certain areas on property owned by Lessor in order to counter a 
terrorist or other threat.  Such restrictions could impact Lessee’s ability to access the Premises 
for an indefinite period of time.  Since such restrictions on access are outside the control of 
Lessor, Lessee agrees that such interruptions shall not be deemed a violation of this Lease or 
the Covenant of Quiet Enjoyment. 
 
7.20 LESSOR MAY ENTER PREMISES:  It is agreed that the duly authorized officers or 
agents of Lessor may enter to view said Premises upon 24 hours written notice, and if the 



 

 

 

business or normal function of Lessor should at any time require that it enter upon the Premises 
to perform any work or make any improvements, it may do so, but not in such manner as to 
materially injure Lessee with its normal and usual operation. 
 
7.21 TIME:  It is mutually agreed and understood that time is of the essence of this Lease and 
that a waiver of any default of Lessee shall not be construed as a waiver of any other default. 
 
7.22 INTERPRETATION:  This Lease has been submitted to the scrutiny of the parties hereto 
and their counsel, if desired.  In any dispute between the parties, the language of this Lease 
shall, in all cases, be construed as a whole according to its fair meaning and not for or against 
either the Lessor or the Lessee.  If any provision is found to be ambiguous, the language shall 
not be construed against either the Lessor or Lessee solely on the basis of which party drafted 
the provision.  If any word, clause, sentence, or combination thereof for any reason is declared 
by a court of law or equity to be invalid or unenforceable against one party or the other, then 
such finding shall in no way affect the remaining provisions of this Lease. 
 
7.23 HOLDING OVER:  If the Lessee remains in possession of said Premises after the date 
of expiration of this Lease without Lessor's prior written consent, such holding over shall 
constitute and be construed as tenancy at sufferance only, at a monthly rent equal to one 
hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Base Rent owed during the final month of the Term of this 
Lease and otherwise upon the terms and conditions in this Lease.  If Lessee holds over with 
Lessor's prior written consent, then until such time as a new written Lease is executed by the 
parties hereto, Lessee shall continue to make payments to Lessor on a month-to-month basis 
as provided for in this Lease.  Such authorized holdover tenancy may be terminated by either 
party at the end of any such monthly period by sending written notice not less than five (5) days 
before the end of such period.  Such authorized holdover tenancy shall be subject to all terms 
and conditions contained herein. 
 
7.24 SURVIVAL:  All obligations of the Lessee, as provided for in the Lease, shall not cease 
upon the termination of this Lease and shall continue as obligations until fully performed.  All 
clauses of this Lease which require performance beyond the termination date shall survive the 
termination date of this Lease. 
 
7.25 GOVERNING LAW:  This Lease, and the right of the parties hereto, shall be governed 
by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington, and the parties agree 
that in any such action jurisdiction and venue shall lie exclusively in Kitsap County, Washington 
and not in any federal court. 
 
7.26 ATTORNEY FEES-LEASE ENFORCEMENT:  The prevailing party in any action to 
enforce any term or condition of this Lease shall be entitled to an award of their reasonable 
costs and attorney fees. 
 
7.27 ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES:  At Lessee’s request, Lessor agrees to execute and 
deliver to Lessee or its lender(s), a customary estoppel certificate in a form acceptable to the 
Lessor which sets forth the following information: (i) the terms and conditions of this Lease, (ii) 
the status of the Rent payments under the Lease; and (iii) Lessor’s knowledge of any breaches 
or anticipated breaches of the Lease.  Lessor shall have no obligation to execute an estoppel 
certificate which requests any information other than as set forth above.  Lessee agrees to 



 

 

 

reimburse the Lessor for all staff time incurred and attorneys’ fees paid by Lessor for the review 
and opinion of such attorney acting on the request for such estoppel certificate and in 
negotiating acceptable language in the estoppel certificate.  A failure to reimburse Lessor within 
sixty (60) days of the mailing of notice of such charges shall constitute a default under the terms 
of this Lease. 
 
7.28 ATTORNMENT:  In the event the Premises are sold, Lessee shall attorn to the 
purchaser upon the sale provided that the purchaser expressly agrees in writing that, so long as 
Lessee is not in default under the Lease, Lessee’s possession and occupancy of the Premises 
will not be disturbed and that such purchaser will perform all obligations of Lessor under the 
Lease. 
 
7.29 AIRPORT COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS: 

 
7.29.1  Airport Rules and Regulations. Lessee shall comply with the Bremerton 

National Airport Rules and Regulations, as amended from time to time. 
 
7.29.2  Minimum Standards for Commercial Activities. Lessee shall comply with the 

Bremerton National Airport Minimum Standards for Commercial Activities, as amended from 
time to time. 

 
7.29.3  National Based Aircraft Inventory Program. To ensure airport compliance with 

the FAA National Based Aircraft Inventory Program (“NBAIP”), Lessee shall maintain a current 
list of any and all aircraft (whether owned or leased) registration numbers sheltered on or within 
any portion of the Premises. Further, such list is to be provided to the Airport Manager upon 
request or automatically within thirty (30) days in the event of a change in sheltered aircraft, and 
no less than annually. 
 
7.30 COUNTERPARTS AND ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION:  This Agreement may be 
signed in counterparts. Electronic transmission of any signed original document, and 
retransmission of any signed electronic transmission shall be the same as delivery of an original 
document. 
 
7.31 ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Lease contains all of the understandings between the 
parties.  Each party represents that no promises, representations or commitments have been 
made by the other as a basis for this Lease which have not been reduced to writing herein.  No 
oral promises or representations shall be binding upon either party, whether made in the past or 
to be made in the future, unless such promises or representations are reduced to writing in the 
form of a modification to this Lease executed with all necessary legal formalities by the 
Commission of the Port of Bremerton. 
 
7.32 VALIDATION:  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor has caused this instrument to be 
signed by its President and Secretary by authority of the Commission of the Port of Bremerton, 
and this instrument has been signed and executed by Lessee, the day and year first above 
written. 
 
[signatures on following page] 
 



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS LEASE CONTAINS INDEMNIFICATIONS FROM THE LESSEE TO THE 
LESSOR, RELEASES BY THE LESSEE AND A LIMITED WAIVER OF 
IMMUNITY UNDER THE WASHINGTON STATE INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE 
ACT, TITLE 51 RCW, OR ANY OTHER SIMILAR WORKERS’ 
COMPENSATION SCHEMES, WHICH WERE SPECIFICALLY NEGOTIATED 

 
 
LESSEE:       LESSOR: 
 
STELLAR CONTRAILS, LLC.    PORT OF BREMERTON 
 
 
 
_______________________________   _____________________________ 
William M. Hansen      Axel Strakeljahn 
Its:  Member/Manager       Its:  Commission President 
 
 
 
_______________________________   _____________________________ 
Carol Hansen        Gary Anderson 
Its:  Member/Manager      Its:  Commission Vice-President 
 
 
 
        _____________________________ 
        Cary Bozeman 
        Its:  Commission Secretary  
 
 



 

 

 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF __________ ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, __________, to me known to 
be the ____________ of ___________, and acknowledged the said instrument to be the free 
and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, 
and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on behalf of the 
corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      
 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, Axel Strakeljahn, to me 
known to be the President of the Port of Bremerton and acknowledged the said instrument to be 
the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on 
behalf of the corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      
 
 
 



 

 

 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, Gary Anderson, to me known 
to be the Vice-President of the Port of Bremerton and acknowledged the said instrument to be 
the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on 
behalf of the corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, Cary Bozeman, to me known 
to be the Secretary of the Port of Bremerton and acknowledged the said instrument to be the 
free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on 
behalf of the corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      
 

 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A”  

BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT  

SHP AREA 1 LEASE SITE LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION  

A PORTION OF THE BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT BEING A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN IN 

KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT MONUMENT U.S.E.D. T-52-A2 PER SECTION SUBDIVISION AND CONTROL 

TRAVERSE  

DRAWING CREATED FOR THE PORT OF BREMERTON, BY R.M. MCGINNIS, DATED 4TH OF JANUARY 

1974,  

SAID MONUMENT BEING LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST END OF RUNWAY 19-1 CENTERLINE;  

THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 6549.92 FEET TO A  

MONUMENT LOCATED APPROXIMATELY ONE FOOT INSIDE THE EDGE OF PAVED SURFACE OF 

RUNWAY  

19-1; 

THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST, 400.55 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 55° 47' 33" WEST, 988.36 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST, 125.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 55° 47' 33" WEST, 120.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 34° 12' 27" EAST, 125.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 55° 47' 33" EAST, 120.00 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

CONTAINING 15,000 SQUARE FEET, MORE OR LESS.  

 

 
 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 
BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT  

SHP AREA 1 LEASE SITE 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT “C” 

BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT  

SHP COMMON AREA LEASE SITE LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION  

A PORTION OF THE BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT BEING A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 14, 

TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN IN KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS 

FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT MONUMENT U.S.E.D. T-52-A2 PER SECTION SUBDIVISION AND CONTROL TRAVERSE  

DRAWING CREATED FOR THE PORT OF BREMERTON, BY R.M. MCGINNIS, DATED 4TH OF JANUARY 1974,  

SAID MONUMENT BEING LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST END OF RUNWAY 19-1 CENTERLINE;  
THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 6549.92 FEET TO A  

MONUMENT LOCATED APPROXIMATELY ONE FOOT INSIDE THE EDGE OF PAVED SURFACE OF RUNWAY  

19-1; 
THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 269.39 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 55° 47' 33" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 567.39 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE SOUTH 34° 02' 47" WEST, 104.05 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 43° 37' 37" WEST, 79.15 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 58° 12' 30" WEST, 45.22 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 71° 02' 53" WEST, 86.69 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 34° 26' 06" WEST, 19.07 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 55° 46' 50" WEST, 329.95 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 34° 10' 59" EAST, 125.00 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 55° 47' 33" EAST, 330.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST, 36.49 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 57° 52' 33" EAST, 128.73 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 72° 06' 52" EAST, 67.67 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 61° 57' 34" EAST, 21.33 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 55° 57' 14" EAST, 2.45 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; CONTAINING 53,954 SQUARE 

FEET, MORE OR LESS.  

 

 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT “D” 
BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT  

 
 



J:\Public_Forms\Agenda Materials\2022-02-22\Lease Agmt - Wallitner\2022-02-22 Agenda Summary Land Lease Wallitner Aviation & Restoration.docx 

 
AGENDA SUMMARY 

Agenda Item No: Action Item #3 

Subject: Land Lease South Hangar with Wallitner Aviation & Restoration, LLC 

Exhibits: Lease Wallitner Aviation & Restoration, LLC. 

Prepared By: Arne Bakker, Director of Business Development 

Meeting Date: February 22, 2022 

Summary: 

Wallitner Aviation & Restoration, LLC, has requested to enter into a land lease with the Port 
of Bremerton to construct a Corporate Hangar. Wallitner Aviation & Restoration has been 
interested in building their own Corporate Hangar on Port property. In 2020 Wallitner 
Aviation & Restoration presented Port staff with a letter of intent to build a corporate hangar 
upon completion of the South Hanger project in which the Port of Bremerton provided the 
infrastructure for future corporate hangar development. 

Lease Terms:  

• Lease Commencement: March 1, 2022 
• Fifty (50) year lease  
• Annual CPI adjustments beginning September 1, 2023 
• Base Rent is subject to periodic adjustments every five (5) years 
• Hangar site:  10,000 sf   
• Common Area: 18,753 sf 
• Lease Rate: March 1 through August 30: $330.16 per month (discounted 50%  

 during construction) 
 September 1: $660.32 per month 

All lease rates are calculated based off $12,000 per acre annually.  

Port Staff has done their due diligence and finds Wallitner Aviation & Restoration, LLC. in 
good standings. This lease has been written, reviewed, and approved by legal. 

Fiscal Impact: 
Increased annual revenue for Bremerton National Airport. 

Strategic Purpose: 
This action conforms with the Port’s strategic plan in Goal 4.a. to continually assess niche 
markets in the Port’s Marina and Airfield lines of business for growth opportunities. 

Recommendation: 
Port staff recommends the approval of the land lease between Wallitner Aviation & 
Restoration, and the Port of Bremerton as presented 

Motion for Consideration: 
Move to approve the land lease between Wallitner Aviation & Restoration, LLC 
and the Port of Bremerton as presented. 



 

 

 

ON-AIRPORT GROUND LEASE 
 

This AIRPORT GROUND LEASE (“Lease”) is made and entered into this _______ day 
of ___________, 2022, by and between the PORT OF BREMERTON, a Washington municipal 
corporation (hereinafter referred to as "Lessor"), and WALLITNER AVIATION AND 
RESTORATION, LLC, a Washington State Limited Liability company (hereinafter referred to as 
"Lessee"). 
 
 ARTICLE I 
 Summary of Lease Terms and Definitions 
 
Lessor:   Port of Bremerton 
Lessor’s Address:  8850 SW State Hwy 3  
    Bremerton, WA 98312 
 
Lessee:   Wallitner Aviation & Restoration, LLC 
Lessee's Address:  Prior to Lease Commencement: 
    PO Box 2217  
    Bremerton WA  98310 
 
    After Lease Commencement: 
    At the Premises, Attn: Michael Wallitner 
 
Premises:   SHP Area 3 Lease Site 
         
Use of Premises:  Construction and use of Airplane Hangar 
          
 
Exhibits:  Exhibit "A" - Legal Description of Premises  

Exhibit "B" - Map of Premises  
Exhibit “C” - Legal Description of Common Areas 
Exhibit “D” - Map of Common Areas 

 
Commencement Date: March 1, 2022 
 
Term:    Commencing upon the Commencement Date and expiring on the 

“Termination Date” fifty (50) years thereafter. 
 
Base Rent: 
 Months of  Annual    Monthly 
 Lease Term  Total    Total 
 Months 1 - 6___ $ 3,960.66   $ 330.16 
 Months 7 18___ $ 7,921.32   $ 660.32 
  
 
  
Initial Amount of Rental Bond, Financial Security or Blocked Account:  $7,921.26  
Name and Address of Surety or Bank:          



 

 

 

 
 ARTICLE II 
 Premises, Term, Renewals 
 
2.1 PREMISES:  Lessor, in consideration of the rents hereinafter reserved and of the 
covenants and conditions herein set forth to be performed by Lessee, does hereby lease to 
Lessee the Premises.   
 
2.2 TERM:  The term of this Lease shall be for fifty (50) years beginning March 1, 2022 
(“Commencement Date”), through February 29, 2072. If Lessee takes possession of the 
Premises before the Commencement Date set forth above, Lessee shall pay the pro rata rent 
for the period prior to commencement of the Lease term.   
 
2.3 COMMON AREAS:  The term “Common Areas” shall mean those areas of other real 
property owned by the Lessor that are provided and designated by the Lessor from time to time 
for the general non-exclusive use of Lessor, Lessee, other tenants of the Lessor, and the 
respective employees, suppliers, shippers, customers, clients, invitees, and licensees of such 
parties.  Common Areas may include, but are not limited to taxiways, walkways, driveways, 
parking areas, service areas, and landscaped areas.  Lessor or its agents shall operate, 
manage, equip, light, repair, replace and maintain the Common Areas for their intended purpose 
at such times and in such manner as Lessor shall reasonably determine.  Common Areas are 
defined and depicted on Exhibits C and D hereto.  
 

2.3.1 Lessee’s Common Area Rights.  Lessor hereby grants to Lessee, for the 
benefit of Lessee and its employees, suppliers, shippers, customers, clients and invitees during 
the term of this Lease, the non-exclusive right to use, in common with others entitled to such 
use, the Common Areas as they exist from time-to-time, subject to any rights, powers and 
privileges reserved by the Lessor under the terms hereof or under the terms of any rules, 
regulations or restrictions governing the use of the Common Areas.  Under no circumstances 
shall the right herein granted to use the Common Areas be deemed to include the right to store 
any property, temporarily or permanently, in the Common Areas.  Any such storage shall be 
permitted only by prior written consent of Lessor or Lessor's designated agent, which consent 
may be revoked at any time.  If such unauthorized storage shall occur, then Lessor shall have 
the right, without notice, in addition to such other rights and remedies that it may have, to 
remove the property and charge the cost to the Lessee, which cost shall be payable on demand 
by Lessor.  Lessee shall promptly notify Lessor if Lessee becomes aware of any potentially 
hazardous or dangerous conditions with, or in, a Common Area. 
 

2.3.2 Changes To Common Areas.  Lessor shall have the right from time-to-time to 
make changes to the Common Areas, including, without limitation: (i) changes in the location, 
size, shape and number thereof; (ii) to temporarily close any of the Common Areas for 
maintenance and public purposes so long as reasonable access to the Premises remains 
available; (iii) to add additional improvements to the Common Areas; and (iv) to use Common 
Areas while engaged in making additional improvements, repairs or alterations, as Lessor may, 
in the exercise of sound business judgment, deem appropriate.  Lessor shall nevertheless 
diligently perform construction, repair, or maintenance work to minimize interruptions in the use 
of Common Areas. 

 



 

 

 

 ARTICLE III 
 Compensation, Rental Adjustment 

 
3.1 RENT:  The term “Rent” as used herein includes Base Rent, Additional Rent, plus 
applicable Washington State leasehold excise tax, and other fees and charges assessed herein. 
Except as expressly provided elsewhere herein, Rent and all other sums payable by Lessee 
pursuant to this Lease shall be paid without the requirement that Lessor provide prior notice or 
demand, and shall not be subject to any counterclaim, setoff, deduction, defense or abatement. 
 
 3.1.1.  Rent Paid in Advance – Late Charges.   Rent shall be paid monthly in advance 
on or before the first (1st) day of each month beginning on the Commencement Date.  A late 
charge of one percent (1%) per month will be assessed against past due Rent from the date 
such Rent became due.  Additionally, if Rent is not received by the fifth (5th) day of any month, 
Lessee shall pay Lessor an additional fee of $100 or five percent (5%) of the delinquent 
payment, whichever is greater, to defray costs of collecting and handling such late payment.  All 
accrued interest and late charges shall be paid no later than the first (1st) day of the month 
following that month in which such interest or late charges accrued.   
 
3.2. BASE RENT ADJUSTMENTS:    As set forth in this section, the Base Rent shall be 
adjusted annually based upon the change in the Consumer Price Index (the “CPI”) for all Urban 
Consumers for the Seattle-Tacoma-Bellevue Metropolitan area (the “Annual Adjustment”) and 
periodically based upon agreement or appraisal the “Periodic Adjustment”). 
 
  3.2.1.  .  Annual Adjustment.  Base Rent for the Premises shall be subject to annual 
adjustment on the first (1st) day of the month of the nineteenth month (19th) anniversary of the 
Commencement Date and each year thereafter as follows:  The monthly Base Rent rates shall 
be adjusted on each yearly anniversary date by using the CPI for all Urban Consumers 
published by the United States Department of Labor Bureau of Labor Statistics for the Seattle-
Tacoma-Bellevue Metropolitan area.  The indexes used shall be those published for the nearest 
period preceding the month in which the initial Lease year begins and the same period 
preceding the anniversary date.  The percentage change from the earlier index to the later index 
shall be multiplied by the Base Rent rate at the beginning of each Lease year and the result 
added to that beginning Base Rent rate to arrive at the adjusted Base rent rate which will apply 
to each of the twelve months of the succeeding year, except in no event shall the Base Rent 
rate be less than the original monthly Base Rate. 
 

3.2.2  Periodic Adjustment.  In addition to an Annual Adjustment, the Base Rent shall 
be subject to periodic adjustment effective on the following dates: August 1, 2026 and every five 
(5) years thereafter (herein such dates shall be collectively referred to as the “Adjustment 
Date”).  The parties agree to renegotiate the amount of Base Rent payable to Lessor, and to 
agree on the amount of Base Rent at least ninety (90) days prior to each Adjustment Date 
(hereinafter such ninety (90) day period shall be referred to as the “Renegotiation Deadline”).   If 
the parties cannot agree on an adjustment of Base Rent before the Renegotiation Deadline, 
then the Base Rent shall be determined according to the “Appraisal” section herein.  Once 
determined the adjusted Base Rent shall relate back to the Adjustment Date.  Regardless of the 
way the new Base Rent is determined, the adjusted Base Rent shall not be less than the Base 
Rent for the preceding Lease year. 

 



 

 

 

3.3   AIRPORT TARIFF CHARGES:  Lessee also agrees to pay any and all applicable tariffs 
in accordance with the Airport tariff schedule published by Lessor.  Said tariff schedule is 
subject to changes from time to time as adopted by Commission resolution. 
 
3.4   ABATED RENT:  If this Lease provides for a postponement of any monthly rental 
payments, a period of free Rent or other Rent concession, such postponed rent or free rent is 
called the "Abated Rent."  Lessee shall be credited with having paid all the Abated Rent on the 
expiration of the term of this Lease only if Lessee has fully, faithfully and punctually performed 
all of Lessee's obligations hereunder, including the payment of all Rent (other than the Abated 
Rent) and all other monetary obligations and the surrender of the Premises in the condition 
required by this Lease.  Lessee acknowledges that its right to receive credit for the Abated Rent 
is absolutely conditioned upon Lessee's full, faithful and punctual performance of its obligations 
under this Lease.  If Lessee defaults and does not cure within any applicable grace period, the 
Abated Rent shall immediately become due and payable in full and this Lease shall be enforced 
as if there were no such Rent abatement or other Rent concession.  In such case, Abated Rent 
shall be calculated based on the full initial rent payable under this Lease, plus interest thereon 
at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum from date each monthly Rental payment was 
postponed. 
  
 ARTICLE IV 

Use of Premises, Condition of Property, 
 Improvements, Removal of Property, Maintenance, and Utilities,  

Federal Aviation Requirements, Fire Protection, and Off-Street Parking 
 
4.1 LESSEE’S USE OF PREMISES:  Lessee shall only conduct the following activity on the 
Premises: Construction and use of an airplane hangar (the “Authorized Use”).    
 

4.1.1 Default- Unauthorized Use.  Lessee shall be in default under this Lease if it: (i) 
ceases conducting the Authorized Use for any period exceeding thirty (30) days; or (ii) conducts 
any other business or activity on the Premises without first obtaining a validly executed lease 
modification. In conducting the Authorized Use, Lessee shall properly and fairly serve the public, 
providing reasonable hours of operation, and suitable service.    
 

4.1.2 No Flammable or Dangerous Materials.   Notwithstanding the foregoing 
described use, the Premises shall not be used to store, distribute or otherwise handle 
flammable or dangerous materials, excepting only such uses which are necessary to conduct 
the Authorized Use.  At the request of Lessor, Lessee shall provide a list of all flammable or 
dangerous materials stored or used on the Premises. 
 
4.2 LESSEE INSPECTION - CONDITION OF PROPERTY:  Prior to executing this Lease, 
Lessee has fully and carefully inspected the Premises.  Lessee accepts the Premises, including 
all existing improvements thereon, "as is" without further maintenance liability on the part of the 
Lessor, except as specifically noted herein.  Lessee is not relying on any representations of 
Lessor as to condition, suitability, zoning restrictions, or usability, except Lessor’s right to grant 
a lease of the Premises. 
 
 4.2.1 Development of Premises. Lessee shall be solely responsible for any and all 
costs associated with (i) the development of the Premises, including, but not limited to any 



 

 

 

connection to public roadways, (ii) detention for storm water and quality treatment and flow of 
storm water (which shall be accomplished on the Premises or off Lessor’s property), (iii) 
construction of parking to meet regulatory requirements and, any and all other costs as may be 
required for the development of the Premises.   
 
4.3 CONSTRUCTION OF TENANT IMPROVEMENTS:  The Lessee and Lessor shall abide 
by the following terms with regard to making tenant improvements on the Premises (“Tenant 
Improvements”). 
 

4.3.1 Tenant Improvements.  Subject to obtaining Lessor’s prior written approval, 
Lessee may make and install, at its own expense, such Tenant Improvements as are normal 
and customary in connection with the Authorized Use set forth herein.  Lessee shall develop the 
Premises consistent with regulatory requirements, including, but not limited to zoning, 
permitting, Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) requirements and Lessor requirements.  The 
Lessor shall not be required to make any improvements whatsoever.  Lessee’s contractor, if 
any, shall be subject to Lessor’s approval, not unreasonably withheld.  Lessor reserves the right 
to condition its approval upon the Lessee providing payment and/or performance bonds 
satisfactory to Lessor.  Lessee shall submit plans to, and obtain written approval from, Lessor 
before commencing any Tenant Improvements.  Lessor shall have a reasonable period to 
review such plans prior to issuing a decision.  Lessor may charge Lessee a reasonable fee for 
staff, consultant or attorney time required to review the plans.  All Tenant Improvements which 
are to be designated fixtures shall be so designated by Lessor upon Lessor’s approval of the 
plans for such improvements.  All improvements by Lessee shall conform to the requirements of 
the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq. (the “ADA”).  
 
 4.3.2 Completion Schedule for Major Tenant Improvements by Lessee.  Lessee 
shall comply with the following requirements with respect to Tenant Improvements to be made 
at the commencement of the Lease: 
 

a. To commence construction within one hundred eighty (180) days of the 
date of execution of this Lease. 
 
 4.3.3 Unauthorized Improvements.  Any Tenant Improvements made on the 
Premises without Lessor’s prior written consent or which are not in conformance with the plans 
submitted to and approved by the Lessor (“Unauthorized Improvements”) shall immediately 
become the property of Lessor, unless Lessor elects otherwise.  Regardless of the ownership of 
Unauthorized Improvements, Lessor may, at its option, require Lessee to sever, remove and 
dispose of them and return the Premises to its prior condition at Lessee’s sole cost and 
expense, charge Lessee rent for the use of them, or both. 
 
 4.3.4 Construction Period.  The Lessee shall provide security fencing systems suitable 
to surround the entire Premises for the duration of construction of its Tenant Improvements. In 
addition, during construction Lessee shall manage construction of its Tenant Improvements in a 
manner that minimizes the impact on the Bremerton National Airport operations. 
 
4.4 REMOVAL OF PERSONAL PROPERTY AND TENANT IMPROVEMENTS AT END OF 
LEASE:  Prior to the conclusion of the Lease, at Lessor’s option, Lessee shall remove the 
following from the Premises: 



 

 

 

 
a. All equipment; 
b. All personal property; 
c. All Tenant Improvements that are not designated fixtures; and 
d. The following Existing Improvements: N/A. 

 
4.4.1 Lessor’s Remedies.   If any of the foregoing items are not removed from the 

Premises by the conclusion of the Lease or when Lessor has the right of re-entry, then Lessor 
may, at its sole option, elect any or all the following remedies: 

 
a. To remove any or all the items and to dispose of them without liability to 

Lessee.  Lessor shall not be required to mitigate its damages, to dispose of the items in a 
commercially reasonable manner, or to make any effort whatsoever to obtain payment for such 
items.  Lessee agrees to pay Lessor’s costs and damages associated with Lessee’s failure to 
remove such items, including, but not limited to, the following: storage, demolition, removal, 
transportation and lost rent (collectively “Disposal Costs”); provided, however, that any net 
proceeds recovered by Lessor in excess of its Disposal Costs will be deducted from Lessee’s 
financial obligation set forth herein.  Lessee’s financial obligations herein shall survive the 
termination of this Lease. 

 
b. To have the title to any or all such items revert to Lessor. 
 
c. To commence suit against Lessee for damages or for specific 

performance. 
 
The foregoing remedies are cumulative and in addition to any other remedies provided by law, 
and Lessor shall not be required to elect its remedies. 
 
4.5 MAINTENANCE OF FACILITIES:  Maintenance and repair of the Premises and all 
improvements thereon is the sole responsibility of Lessee including, but not limited to, 
maintenance and repair of any damage to the Premises from unforeseen or unexpected events 
or Acts of God.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessee shall maintain the 
Premises in good condition including, without limitation, repairing all walls, floors, ceiling, interior 
doors, interior and exterior windows and fixtures, as well as damage caused to any portion of 
the Premises or Lessor’s property by Lessee, its employees, agents, licensees, invitees or 
anyone on the Premises or Lessor’s property as a result of Lessee’s activities.  
 
4.6 UTILITIES AND SERVICES:  Lessee will arrange and pay for all utility connections and 
services and distribution of such utilities and services, including, but not limited to all costs 
associated with hook up and other fees and charges related to use of such utilities and services.  
At the conclusion of this Lease, Lessee shall arrange for such utility services to be terminated 
and for the final bill to be sent to Lessee.  Lessee shall be liable for all utility charges that accrue 
if it fails to so terminate services.   
 
 
4.7 FEDERAL AVIATION REQUIREMENTS:  The Lessee agrees that its use of the 
Premises will be accomplished in accordance with the following covenants. 
 



 

 

 

4.7.1  Takeoff/Landing Interference.  Lessee shall prevent any use of the Premises 
which would interfere with the landing or taking off of aircraft at the Bremerton National Airport, 
or otherwise constitute an airport hazard. 
 

4.7.2  Electromagnetic Interference.  Lessee shall prevent any operation on the 
Premises which would produce electromagnetic radiations of a nature which would cause 
interference with any air navigational or communications aid now or in the future to be installed 
to serve the Bremerton National Airport, or which would create any interfering or confusing light 
or cause any restrictions to visibility at the airport. 
 

4.7.3  Airspace Reservation.  Lessor retains the public right of flight for the passage of 
aircraft in the airspace above the surface of the Premises hereinbefore described, together with 
the right to cause in said airspace such noise as may be inherent in the operation of aircraft, 
now known or hereafter used for navigation of or flight in said airspace, and for use of said 
airspace for landing on, taking off from or operating on the Bremerton National Airport. 
 

4.7.4  Minority Business Enterprises.  Lessee understands that it is the policy of the 
U.S. Department of Transportation that minority business enterprises as defined in 49 CFR, Part 
23, shall have the maximum opportunity to participate in the performance of this Lease as 
defined in 49 CFR, Section 23.5, and that this Lease is subject to 49 CFR, Part 23, as 
applicable.  Lessee hereby assures that no person shall be excluded from participation in, 
denied the benefits of, or otherwise discriminated against in connection with 49 CFR, Part 23, 
on the grounds of race, color, national origin, or sex. 

 
4.7.5 Hangar Use Policies. Lessee shall ensure that any use of the Premises complies 

with any and all FAA policies including, but not limited to, those policies applicable to hangar 
use such as 14 CFR Chapter 1 published on or about June 15, 2016 under Federal Register 
Vol. 81, No. 115 regarding Non-Aeronautical Use of Airport Hangars. 
 
4.8 FIRE PROTECTION:  The Lessee understands that the Lessor has no responsibility to 
provide fire protection for the Lessee's buildings, property or equipment located in or upon the 
leased Premises.  It shall be the exclusive responsibility of the Lessee to provide for its own fire 
protection, including, but not limited to, promptly paying all fire district service charges when 
due.  In this regard, the Lessee understands that it is the Lessee's responsibility and duty to 
include the value of its buildings, property, and equipment to appropriate City of Bremerton 
authorities for personal property tax purposes.  Failure of the Lessee to accurately list its 
improvements or promptly pay personal property tax when due, shall be a breach of this Lease 
and shall be grounds for the Lessor to terminate this Lease agreement.  The Lessee shall 
promptly provide the Lessor with a copy of its personal property declaration within seven (7) 
days from the time such declaration is made to the Kitsap County Assessor. 
 
4.9 OFF STREET PARKING:  Lessee agrees to provide space for the parking of vehicles in 
the number necessary to comply with applicable regulations and otherwise to accommodate its 
normal business requirements on the Premises included within this Lease; and not use any 
public streets, rights-of-way or other properties not included in this Lease for the parking of said 
vehicles. 
   

ARTICLE V 



 

 

 

Insurance and Financial Security 
 
5.1 CASUALTY LOSS OF LESSEE:  The parties hereto agree that the Lessor, its 
commissioners and employees, Lessor’s insurance carrier and Lessor’s casualty policy shall not 
be responsible to the Lessee for any property loss or damage done to the Lessee’s property, 
whether real, personal or mixed, occasioned by reason of any fire, storm or other casualty 
whatsoever.  It shall be the Lessee’s sole responsibility to provide its own protection against 
casualty losses of whatsoever kind or nature, regardless of whether or not such loss is 
occasioned by the acts or omissions of the Lessor, Lessee, third party, or act of nature.  Lessee 
hereby releases and discharges the Lessor its commissioners and employees, Lessor’s 
insurance carrier and Lessor’s casualty policy from any claims for loss or damage to Lessee’s 
property. 
 
5.2 INSURANCE:  Lessee shall procure and maintain a comprehensive general liability 
policy covering all claims for personal injury (including death) and property damage (including all 
real and personal property located on the Premises or Lessor’s property) arising on the 
Premises or Lessor’s property as a result of, or arising out of, Lessee’s operations under this 
Lease.  The limits of liability shall be not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) for each 
occurrence and in the aggregate unless the Lessee requests, and Lessor approves in writing, a 
lesser liability limit.  If the Lessee maintains higher insurance limits than the minimums required 
herein, the Lessor shall be insured for the full available limits of Commercial General and/or 
Excess or Umbrella liability maintained by the Lessee, irrespective of whether such limits 
maintained by the Lessee are greater than those required by this Lease or whether any 
certificate of insurance furnished to the Lessor evidences the lower limits of liability set forth 
above.  Lessor may impose changes in the limits of liability: (i) on any Adjustment Date; (ii) as a 
condition of approval of assignment or sublease of this Lease; (iii) upon any breach of the 
environmental liability provision herein; (iv) upon a material change in the condition of any 
improvements; or (v) upon a change in the Authorized Use.  If the liability limits are changed, 
Lessee shall obtain new or modified insurance coverage within thirty (30) days after changes in 
the limits of liability are required by Lessor.  The liability policies shall contain a cross-liability 
provision such that the policy will be construed as if separate policies were issued to Lessee 
and to Lessor. 
 
 5.2.1 Policy Provisions.  The foregoing insurance policy shall name Lessor as an 
additional named insured by way of a policy endorsement.  Lessee shall provide certificates of 
insurance and, if requested, copies of any policy to Lessor.  Receipt of such certificate or policy 
by Lessor does not constitute approval by Lessor of the terms of such policy.  Furthermore, the 
policy of insurance required herein shall: (i) be written as a primary policy; (ii) expressly provide 
that such insurance may not be materially changed, amended or canceled with respect to 
Lessor except upon forty-five (45) days' prior written notice from the insurance company to 
Lessor; (iii) contain an express waiver of any right of subrogation by the insurance company 
against Lessor and Lessor’s elected officials, employees or agents; (iv) expressly provide that 
the defense and indemnification of the Lessor as an “additional insured”  will not be effected by 
any act or omission by Lessee which might otherwise result in a forfeiture of said insurance; v) 
contain a separation of insureds provision such that the policy applies separately to each 
insured that is subject of a claim or suit; vi) not contain a cross-claim, cross-suit, or other 
exclusion that eliminates coverage by one insured against another; and (vii) provide for 
coverage for damage to the Lessor’s property caused by the Lessee. 



 

 

 

 
 5.2.2 Failure to Obtain and Maintain Insurance. If Lessee fails to procure and 
maintain the insurance described above, Lessor shall have the right, but not the obligation, to 
procure and maintain substitute insurance and to pay the premiums.  Lessee shall pay to Lessor 
upon demand the full amount paid by Lessor. 
 
 5.2.3 Prudent Business Insurance. The Lessee believes and states that the 
insurance obligation herein does not exceed that which the Lessee would otherwise normally 
place upon itself and obtain in order to operate its business in a prudent manner. 
 
5.3 FINANCIAL SECURITY:  In compliance with the requirements of state law, Lessee 
agrees that it will secure the performance of the rental portion of this Lease by procuring and 
maintaining, during the term of this Lease, a corporate surety bond, or by providing other 
financial security satisfactory to Lessor (herein referred to as the “Bond”), in an amount not less 
than one-hundred percent (100%) of the sum of annual Rent, plus state leasehold excise tax.  
The Bond shall be in a form and issued by a surety company acceptable to Lessor and shall 
comply with the requirements of Washington law.  Lessee shall obtain such Bond and forward 
evidence thereof to Lessor within fourteen (14) days of execution of this Lease, but in no event 
later than the Commencement Date of this Lease.  Failure to comply with this requirement shall 
be grounds for termination of this Lease without notice by Lessor.  Such Bond shall be kept 
always in effect during the term of this Lease; failure to comply with this requirement shall 
render Lessee in default.  The Bond shall be increased annually to reflect any adjustments in 
annual Rent.  Upon any default by Lessee in its obligations under this Lease, Lessor may collect 
on the Bond to offset the liability of Lessee to Lessor.  Collection on the Bond shall not relieve 
Lessee of liability, shall not limit any of Lessor’s other remedies, and shall not reinstate or cure 
the default or prevent termination of the Lease because of the default. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
Environmental Liability 

 
6.1 ENVIRONMENTAL INDEMNIFICATION:  Lessee shall defend (with legal counsel 
suitable to Lessor), indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from any and all claims, demands, 
judgments, orders or damages resulting from Hazardous Substances on the Premises or 
Lessor’s property caused in whole or in part by the activity of the Lessee, its agents, subtenants, 
or any other person or entity (i) on the Premises as a result of, arising out of, or relating to 
Lessee’s operations under this Lease or any previous lease or agreement or (ii) on the Lessor’s 
property as a result of, arising out of, or relating to Lessee’s operations under this Lease or any 
previous lease or agreement.  It is the intent of the parties that Lessee shall be responsible and 
shall defend and hold Lessor harmless from any Hazardous Substances that have or may occur 
on the Premises or Lessor’s property as a result of, arising out of, or relating to Lessee’s 
operations since Lessee first occupied the Premises or other portion of the Lessor’s property 
through this Lease or any previous lease or agreement with Lessor.  The term “Hazardous 
Substances” as used herein shall mean any substance heretofore or hereafter designated as 
hazardous under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 USC Sec. 6901 et seq.; the 
Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 USC Sec. 1251 et seq.; the Clean Air Act, 42 USC Sec. 
7401 et seq.; the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 
1980, 42 USC Sec. 9601 et seq.; or the Hazardous Waste Cleanup-Model Toxics Control Act, 
RCW 70A.305, all as amended and subject to all regulations promulgated thereunder. 



 

 

 

 
 6.1.1 Unconditional Environmental Obligations. Lessee’s defense and indemnity 
obligations under this article are unconditional, shall not be discharged or satisfied by Lessor’s 
re-entry of the Premises or exercise of any other remedy for Lessee’s default under this Lease, 
shall continue in effect after any assignment or sublease of this Lease, and shall continue in 
effect after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. 
 
 6.1.2  Environmental Investigations.   Although Lessee shall not be liable for any 
Hazardous Substances on the Premises that was not caused in whole or in part by the activity 
of the Lessee, its agents, subtenants, or any other person or entity on the Premises as a result 
of, arising out of, or relating to Lessee’s operations under this Lease or any previous lease or 
agreement, Lessee shall be responsible for the costs of any environmental investigations or 
remediation arising from the development or use of the Premises by Lessee, and Lessee 
hereby releases the Lessor from any contribution claim for those costs.  By way of example 
only, if the Lessee excavates soil on the Premises which contains Hazardous Substances, then 
the Lessee will be responsible for the cost associated with disposing of those soils regardless of 
when or how the Hazardous Substances were released into those soils. 
 
6.2 CURRENT CONDITIONS AND DUTY OF LESSEE:  Lessor makes no representation 
about the condition of the Premises.  Hazardous Substances may exist in, on, under or above 
the Premises.  Lessee should, but is not required to, conduct environmental assessments or 
investigations of the Premises prior to or during this Lease to determine the existence, scope 
and location of any Hazardous Substances.  If there are any Hazardous Substances in, on, 
under or above the Premises as of the Commencement Date, Lessee shall exercise the utmost 
care with respect to the Hazardous Substances, the foreseeable acts or omissions of third 
parties affecting the Hazardous Substances, and the foreseeable consequences of those acts 
or omissions. 
 
 6.2.1  Prior Notice of Environmental Investigation.  Prior to conducting any 
environmental investigation of the subsurface of the Premises, the Lessee shall provide prior 
written notice to the Lessor.  Lessee shall provide the Lessor with the results of all such 
investigations. 
 
6.3 NOTIFICATION AND REPORTING:  Lessee shall immediately notify Lessor if Lessee 
becomes aware of any of the following: 

a. A release or threatened release of Hazardous Substances in, on under or 
above the Premises, any adjoining property, or any other property subject to use by Lessee in 
conjunction with its use of the Premises; 

b. Any problem or liability related to or derived from the presence of any 
Hazardous Substance in, on under or above the Premises, any adjoining property or any other 
property subject to use by Lessee in conjunction with its use of the Premises; 

c. Any actual or alleged violation of any federal, state or local statute, 
ordinance, rule, regulation or other law pertaining to Hazardous Substances with respect to the 
Premises, any adjoining property, or any other property subject to use by Lessee in conjunction 
with its use of the Premises; or 

d. Any lien or action with respect to any of the foregoing. 
 



 

 

 

 6.3.1 Copies of All Environmental Reports.   Lessee shall, at Lessor’s request, 
provide Lessor with copies of any and all reports, studies or audits which pertain to 
environmental issues or concerns with the Premises, and which are or were prepared by or for 
Lessee and submitted to any federal, state or local authorities pursuant to any federal, state or 
local permit, license or law.  These permits include, but are not limited to, any National Pollution 
Discharge and Elimination System permit, any Army Corps of Engineers permit, any State 
Hydraulics permit, any State Water Quality certification, or any Substantial Development permit. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
Miscellaneous Provisions 

 
7.1 APPRAISAL:  When Base Rent is to be determined by appraisal, the process in this 
article shall govern.  Within seven (7) calendar days from the Rental Renegotiation Deadline, 
Lessor and Lessee shall mutually agree upon a disinterested, MAI certified appraiser with at 
least ten (10) years’ experience appraising property in Kitsap County to perform an appraisal of 
the fair market rental value of the Premises.  The appraiser's costs shall be shared equally by 
the parties.  The rental rate arrived at in the appraisal shall constitute the new Base Rent, which 
shall be retroactive to the Adjustment Date. 
 

7.1.1 Failure to Agree on Appraiser.  If Lessor and Lessee cannot mutually agree 
upon an appraiser by the end of the seventh (7th) day as set forth above, then each party shall 
select an MAI certified appraiser to perform an appraisal of the fair market rental value of the 
Premises.  Each party shall bear the costs of its own appraisal.  The appraisals shall be 
completed no later than ninety (90) days after the Rental Renegotiation Deadline (herein this 
date shall be referred to as the "Appraisal Completion Date").  The average of the two (2) 
appraisals shall apply to Paragraph 7.1 above.  If either of the appraisals is not timely completed 
on or before the Appraisal Completion Date, and unless there were circumstances beyond the 
appraisers' control that prevented its timely completion, then the appraisal that was timely 
completed shall apply to Paragraph 7.1 above. 
 
7.2 LESSEE WILL OBTAIN PERMITS:  Lessee agrees to obtain and comply with all 
necessary permits for any Tenant Improvements and to conduct the Authorized Use.  If Lessee 
fails to obtain and comply with such permits, then Lessee accepts full responsibility for any and 
all costs incurred by Lessor, including actual attorneys’ fees.  In this way, Lessee agrees to be 
solely responsible for all damages, costs and expenses incurred as a result of Lessee’s failure 
to fully comply with any necessary permit process and requirements.   
 
7.3 LIENS:  Lessee agrees to keep the Premises described herein free and clear of all liens 
and charges whatsoever.  Lessee shall not allow any mechanics’ and materialmen’s or other 
liens to be placed upon the leased Premises.  If such a lien is placed or recorded, Lessee shall 
cause it to be discharged of record, at its own expense, within ten (10) days of Lessor’s 
demand. Failure to comply with Lessor’s demand within ten (10) days shall be a default under 
the terms of this Lease. 
 
7.4 INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS:  The Lessee agrees that it will defend 
(with legal counsel acceptable to Lessor), indemnify and hold harmless the Lessor, its officers, 
employees and agents from any and all demands, claims, judgments or liability for loss or 
damage arising as a result of accidents, injuries or other occurrences on the Premises or on 



 

 

 

Lessor’s property, (i) occasioned by either the negligent or willful conduct of the Lessee, its 
agents, or (ii) made by any person or entity holding under the Lessee, or any person or entity on 
the Premises or on the Lessor’s property as a result of Lessee’s activity, regardless of who the 
injured party may be.  This indemnification and hold harmless shall not apply to the extent the 
damages was caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Lessor. 
 
7.5. LIMITED WAIVER OF IMMUNITY UNDER WASHINGTON STATE INDUSTRIAL 
INSURANCE ACT, TITLE 51 RCW AND OTHER SIMILAR INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE 
SCHEMES:   For purposes of the foregoing indemnification provision, and only to the extent of 
claims against Lessee by Lessor under such indemnification provision, Lessee specifically 
waives any immunity it may be granted under the Washington State Industrial Insurance Act, 
Title 51 RCW, The United States Longshore and Harbor Workers Compensation Act, 33 USC 
§901-950, or any other similar workers’ compensation schemes.  The indemnification obligation 
under this Lease shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of 
damages, compensation or benefits payable to or for any third party under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.  The foregoing 
provision was specifically negotiated and agreed upon by the parties hereto.   
 
7.6 LAWS AND REGULATIONS:  Lessee agrees to conform to and abide by all applicable 
rules, codes, laws, regulations and Port policies in connection with its use of the Premises and 
the construction of improvements and operation of Lessee’s business thereon and not to permit 
said Premises to be used in violation of any applicable rule, code, law, regulation, Port policy, or 
other authority. 
 
 7.6.1 Environmental Laws and Regulations.   Lessee’s obligations herein shall 
include, but in no way be limited to, the obligation to comply with all State and Federal 
environmental laws and regulations.  Lessee shall defend (with legal counsel acceptable to 
Lessor), indemnify and hold harmless the Lessor from any fine, penalty or damage which may 
be imposed by any lawful authority, which may arise as a result of the Lessee’s failure to comply 
with the obligations of this article. 
 
7.7 WASTE AND REFUSE:  Lessee agrees not to allow conditions of waste and refuse to 
exist on the Premises and to keep the Premises in a neat, clean and orderly condition.  
 
7.8 TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS:  Lessee agrees to pay all taxes assessed against the 
leasehold interest and a pro rata share of any assessments made against the Premises for 
installation of public utility systems, based upon a reasonable overall sharing program among all 
properties within the assessment area. 
 
7.9 SIGNS:  No signs shall be installed without the prior written permission of Lessor.  In the 
event that an unauthorized sign has been installed and after twenty-four hours (24) notification 
to remove the sign by the Lessor, Lessee shall pay the Lessor a penalty of $100 per day for 
each day the sign remains in place after such notification.  The penalty shall automatically 
resume, without notice, if the sign is reinstalled after having been removed.  The penalty 
accrued shall be paid with the next month’s Base Rent.  In addition, the Lessor reserves the 
right to provide notice of, and treat an unauthorized sign as, a non-monetary default of this 
Lease. 
 



 

 

 

7.10 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY:  Lessee agrees that in the conduct of activities on the 
Premises, it will be an equal opportunity employer in accordance with Title VII of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, 42 USC §2000 et seq. and shall comply with all requirements of the ADA. 
 
7.11 LITIGATION:  In the event Lessor shall be made a party to any litigation commenced by 
or against Lessee (other than actions commenced by Lessee or Lessor concerning the 
interpretation or enforcement of any of the terms and conditions of this Lease), then Lessee 
agrees to pay all costs, expert witness fees, and attorneys’ fees, including all customary 
charges incurred by Lessor in connection with such litigation.  However, if Lessor is made a 
party defendant and Lessee undertakes the defense of the action on behalf of Lessor, then no 
obligation for costs and attorneys’ fees will be chargeable against Lessee by Lessor for costs 
arising out of such undertaking.   
 
7.12 ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE:  Lessee shall not assign, rent or sublease any portions of 
this Lease or any extension thereof, without the prior written consent of Lessor, and no rights 
hereunder in or to said Premises shall pass by operation of law or other judicial process, or 
through insolvency proceedings.  Otherwise, the rights and obligations hereof shall extend to 
and be binding upon their respective successors, representatives and assigns, as the case may 
be.  Lessee shall furnish Lessor with copies of all such subassignment, sublease or rental 
documents.  For the purposes of this Lease, any change of ownership including sale, liquidation 
or other disposition of some or all of the corporate stock or limited liability company units will be 
considered an assignment.  Should the Lessor consent to an assignment made by the Lessee 
for the purposes of obtaining a loan or other consideration from a third party, then if Lessor has 
a standard consent form for these purposes the Lessor’s consent shall be made in accordance 
with that form.  If Lessor has a standard consent form, a copy of this consent form shall be 
provided by Lessor upon request of Lessee.   
 
 7.12.1 Remedy If Lessor Denies Assignment.   If Lessor refuses to consent to an 
assignment, Lessee’s sole remedy shall be the right to bring a declaratory judgment action to 
determine whether Lessor was entitled to refuse such assignment under the terms of this 
Lease. 
 
 7.12.2 No Waiver of Future Consents.   No consent by Lessor to any assignment or 
sublease shall be a waiver of the requirement to obtain such consent with respect to any other 
or later assignment or sublease.  Acceptance of Rent or other performance by Lessor following 
an assignment or sublease, whether or not Lessor has knowledge of such assignment or 
sublease, shall not constitute consent to the same nor a waiver of the requirement to obtain 
consent to the same. 
 
 7.12.3 Transfer Fee.  An administrative handling and transfer fee (“Transfer Fee”) of 
Three Hundred Dollars ($300.00) shall be payable by Lessee to Lessor if Lessee requests the 
Lessor’s consent to a proposed assignment (including an assignment to a creditor for security 
purposes), or sublease.  Such Transfer Fee shall be submitted to the Lessor at the same time 
that Lessee requests the Lessor’s consent to the proposed sublease or assignment. 
 
 7.12.4 Attorneys’ Fees.  In addition to the Transfer Fee, Lessee shall pay Lessor’s 
reasonable and customary attorneys’ fees incurred relating to the Lessee’s request for Lessor’s 
consent to a proposed assignment or in the event Lessee seeks to modify the Lease during the 



 

 

 

term of the Lease or any renewals thereof.  Lessee’s failure to remit this amount within sixty (60) 
days of the mailing of the notice of such charges shall constitute a default under this Lease.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Lessee shall not be obligated to reimburse 
the Lessor in any case where an assignment or sublease is not accomplished due to total 
refusal on the part of Lessor to grant its consent to the request. 
 
 7.12.5 Excess Rent.  If, pursuant to any assignment or sublease, Lessee receives rent, 
either initially or over the term of the assignment or sublease: i) in excess of the Rent called for 
hereunder, or ii) in the case of a sublease of a portion of the Premises, in excess of such Rent 
fairly allocable to such portion, after appropriate adjustments to assure that all other payments 
called for hereunder are appropriately taken into account, Lessee shall pay to Lessor, as 
Additional Rent hereunder, fifty percent (50%) of the excess of each such payment of Rent 
received by Lessee after its receipt. 
 
 7.12.6 Lessee’s Liability on Assignment or Sublease.  If this Lease is assigned, or if 
the underlying beneficial interest of Lessee is transferred, or if the Premises or any part thereof 
is sublet to or occupied by anybody other than Lessee, Lessor may collect Rent from the 
assignee, subtenant or occupant and apply the net amount collected to the Rent herein 
reserved, but no such assignment, subletting, occupancy or collection shall be deemed a waiver 
of this covenant, or the acceptance of the assignee, subtenant or occupant as tenant, or a 
release of Lessee from the further performance by Lessee of covenants on the part of Lessee 
herein contained.  No assignment or subletting shall affect the continuing primary liability of 
Lessee (which, following assignment, shall be joint and several with the assignee), and Lessee 
shall not be released from performing any of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease. 
 
 7.12.7 Proceed Against Lessee.  Notwithstanding any assignment or sublease, or any 
indulgences, waivers or extensions of time granted by Lessor to any assignee or sublessee or 
failure of Lessor to take action against any assignee or sublease, Lessee hereby agrees that 
Lessor may, at its option, proceed against Lessee without having taken action against or joined 
such assignee or sublessee, except that Lessee shall have the benefit of any indulgences, 
waivers and extensions of time granted to any such assignee or sublessee. 
 
 7.12.8 Assignee/Sublessee Insurance. In the event the Lessor approves an 
assignment or sublease hereunder, such assignee or sublessee shall provide Lessor with 
insurance certificates and/or endorsements evidencing such assignee’s or sublessee’s 
compliance with the insurance provisions set forth herein including, but not limited to, the 
endorsement of Lessor as an additional insured under such policy or policies.   
 
 
 
 
7.13 DEFAULT, CROSS DEFAULT, AND REMEDIES:   
 

7.13.1 Monetary Defaults.  Failure to pay Rent or any other monetary obligations by 
the first day of each month shall constitute a default under the terms of this Lease.  If Lessee is 
in default in the payment of Rent or other monetary obligations then, at Lessor’s sole option, 
upon ten (10) days’ written notice, this Lease may be terminated, and Lessor may enter upon 
and take possession of the Premises.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessee 



 

 

 

expressly authorizes Lessor to obtain a prejudgment writ of restitution in the event of default by 
Lessee.  This remedy is in addition to and is not exclusive of any other remedies provided either 
by this Lease or by law. 
 
 7.13.2 Non-monetary Defaults.  If Lessee shall fail to perform any term or condition of 
this Lease, other than the payment of Rent or other monetary obligations, then Lessor, upon 
providing Lessee thirty (30) days’ written notice of such default, may terminate this Lease and 
enter upon and take possession of the Premises.  This remedy is in addition to and is not 
exclusive of any other remedies provided either by this Lease or by law. 
 
 7.13.3 Other Defaults.  The following shall also constitute a default under the terms of 
this Lease:  A default by Lessee under any other agreement or lease with the Lessor; 
insolvency of Lessee; an assignment by Lessee for the benefit of creditors; the filing by Lessee 
of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy; an adjudication that Lessee is bankrupt or the appointment 
of a receiver of the properties of Lessee; the filing of an involuntary petition of bankruptcy and 
failure of Lessee to secure a dismissal of the petition within thirty (30) days after filing; 
attachment of or the levying of execution on the leasehold interest; and failure of Lessee to 
secure a discharge of the attachment or release of the levy of execution within ten (10) days. 
 

7.13.4  Multiple Defaults in a Year.  If within any one (1) year period, Lessor serves 
upon the Lessee three notices requiring Lessee either to: (i) comply with the terms of this Lease 
or to vacate the Premises or (ii) pay Rent or vacate (collectively referred to herein as “Default 
Notices”), then Lessee shall, upon a subsequent violation of any term of this Lease by the 
Lessee (including failure to pay Rent), be deemed to be in unlawful detainer, and Lessor may, in 
addition to any other remedies it may have, immediately terminate the Lease and/or commence 
an unlawful detainer action without further notice to Lessee. 
 
    7.13.5   Cross-Default.  A default under this Lease shall constitute a default under any 
other lease or agreement which Lessee has with Lessor (hereinafter such other agreements 
shall be referred to as “Collateral Agreements”).  Likewise, any material breach or default under 
a Collateral Agreement shall be deemed a material breach or default under the terms of this 
Lease.  If a Collateral Agreement is terminated for a material breach or default of Lessee, then 
Lessor shall, without limiting any other remedies it may have, be entitled to terminate this Lease 
upon five (5) days’ written notice to Lessee. 
 
 7.13.6 Other Remedies.  In addition to the foregoing remedies specified in this article, 
Lessor may exercise any remedies or rights under the laws of the State of Washington 
including, but not limited to, recovering damages for past due rent, future rent, costs to re-let the 
Premises, and costs to restore the Premises to its prior condition (reasonable wear and tear 
excepted).  Under no circumstances shall Lessor be held liable in damages or otherwise by 
reason of any lawful re-entry or eviction.  Lessor shall not, by any re-entry or other act, be 
deemed to have accepted any surrender by Lessee of the Premises or be deemed to have 
otherwise terminated this Lease or to have relieved Lessee of any obligation hereunder. Lessor 
shall be under no obligation to observe or perform any covenant of this Lease after the date of 
any material default by Lessee unless and until Lessee cures such default. A fee of Five 
Hundred Dollars ($500.00) shall be assessed to Lessee for each Default Notice issued to 
Lessee to defray the costs associated with preparing, issuing, and serving such notice.  This fee 
shall be payable on the first (1st) day of the month following the issuance of the Default Notice. 



 

 

 

 
7.14 TERMINATION:  This Lease shall terminate for default if Lessee fails to cure any default 
within the time provided for herein.  Upon termination of this Lease or any extension thereof, 
whether by expiration of the stated term or sooner termination thereon, as herein provided, 
Lessee shall surrender to Lessor the Premises peaceably and quietly.  Lessee shall restore the 
Premises to the condition existing at the time of initiation of this Lease, except for: (i) normal 
wear and tear, and (ii) any improvements which Lessor permits to remain on the Premises. 
 
7.15 NON-WAIVER:  Neither the acceptance of Rent nor any other act or omission of Lessor 
after a default by Lessee or termination shall operate as a waiver of any past or future default by 
Lessee, or to deprive Lessor of its right to terminate this Lease or be construed to prevent 
Lessor from promptly exercising any other right or remedy it has under this Lease.  Any waiver 
by Lessor shall be in writing and signed by Lessor in order to be binding on Lessor. 
 
7.16 NOTICES:  Any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or communication that 
either party desires or is required to give to the other party shall be in writing addressed to the 
other party at the addresses as follows: 
 
 TO LESSOR:   Port of Bremerton 
     Attn: Airport Manager  
     8850 SW State Hwy 3 
     Bremerton, WA  98312 
     E-mail: warrenh@portofbremerton.org 
 
 TO LESSEE:   Wallitner Aviation and Restoration, LLC 
     Attn: Michael Wallitner 
     PO Box 2217 
     Bremerton, WA 98310 
     E-mail: michael@wallitner.com 
 
or such address as may have been specified by notifying the other party of the change of 
address.  Notice shall be deemed served : i) on the date sent by e-mail if email is sent during 
regular business hours or, if sent outside of normal business hours, at 8:00 am on the next 
regular business day, ii) on the date of actual delivery, or iii) first attempted delivery as shown 
on the return receipt if mailed with the United States Postal Service by certified mail, return 
receipt requested. 
 
7.17 AGENT FOR SERVICE:  Lessee agrees that if Lessee is in unlawful detainer, pursuant 
to Chapter 59.12 RCW, and Lessor is unable to serve Lessee with the unlawful detainer 
pleadings after one service attempt, then Lessor shall be deemed to have complied with the 
service requirements of Chapter 59.12 RCW if it mails such pleadings via certified mail to the 
address set forth in the notice section of this Lease and posts such pleadings in a conspicuous 
location on the Premises.  Service shall be deemed complete on the third (3rd) day following the 
day of posting or day of mailing, whichever is later. 
 
7.18 SECURITY:  Lessee specifically acknowledges that Lessor has no duty to provide 
security for any portion of the Premises or Property.  Lessee assumes sole responsibility and 
liability for the security of itself, its employees, customers, and invitees, and their respective 



 

 

 

property in or about the Premises or Property.  Lessee agrees that to the extent Lessor elects to 
provide any security, Lessor is not warranting the effectiveness of any such security personnel, 
services, procedures or equipment and that Lessee is not relying and shall not hereafter rely on 
such security personnel, services, procedures or equipment.  Lessor shall not be responsible or 
liable in any manner for failure of any such security personnel, services, procedures or 
equipment to prevent or control, or apprehend anyone suspected of personal injury or property 
damage in, on or around the Premises or Property. 
 
7.19 QUIET ENJOYMENT:  Lessor acknowledges that it has ownership of the Premises and 
that it has the legal authority to lease the Premises to Lessee.  Lessor covenants that Lessee 
shall have quiet enjoyment of the Premises during the term of this Lease so long as Lessee 
complies with this Lease and subject to Lessor’s right of entry onto the Premises as set forth 
herein. 
 

7.19.1  Easements.  The Lessor reserves the right to grant easements and other land 
uses on the Premises to others when the easement or other land uses applied for will not 
unduly interfere with the use to which the Lessee is putting the Premises or interfere unduly with 
the approved plan of development for the Premises.   
 
 7.19.2  Closure by Government Order.  Lessee understands that various federal 
agencies, including the Department of Homeland Security and U.S. Coast Guard, have the 
authority to restrict access to certain areas on property owned by Lessor in order to counter a 
terrorist or other threat.  Such restrictions could impact Lessee’s ability to access the Premises 
for an indefinite period of time.  Since such restrictions on access are outside the control of 
Lessor, Lessee agrees that such interruptions shall not be deemed a violation of this Lease or 
the Covenant of Quiet Enjoyment. 
 
7.20 LESSOR MAY ENTER PREMISES:  It is agreed that the duly authorized officers or 
agents of Lessor may enter to view said Premises at any time, and if the business or normal 
function of Lessor should at any time require that it enter upon the Premises to perform any 
work or make any improvements, it may do so, but not in such manner as to materially injure 
Lessee with its normal and usual operation. 
 
7.21 TIME:  It is mutually agreed and understood that time is of the essence of this Lease and 
that a waiver of any default of Lessee shall not be construed as a waiver of any other default. 
 
7.22 INTERPRETATION:  This Lease has been submitted to the scrutiny of the parties hereto 
and their counsel, if desired.  In any dispute between the parties, the language of this Lease 
shall, in all cases, be construed as a whole according to its fair meaning and not for or against 
either the Lessor or the Lessee.  If any provision is found to be ambiguous, the language shall 
not be construed against either the Lessor or Lessee solely on the basis of which party drafted 
the provision.  If any word, clause, sentence, or combination thereof for any reason is declared 
by a court of law or equity to be invalid or unenforceable against one party or the other, then 
such finding shall in no way affect the remaining provisions of this Lease. 
 
7.23 HOLDING OVER:  If the Lessee remains in possession of said Premises after the date 
of expiration of this Lease without Lessor's prior written consent, such holding over shall 
constitute and be construed as tenancy at sufferance only, at a monthly rent equal to one 



 

 

 

hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Base Rent owed during the final month of the Term of this 
Lease and otherwise upon the terms and conditions in this Lease.  If Lessee holds over with 
Lessor's prior written consent, then until such time as a new written Lease is executed by the 
parties hereto, Lessee shall continue to make payments to Lessor on a month-to-month basis 
as provided for in this Lease.  Such authorized holdover tenancy may be terminated by either 
party at the end of any such monthly period by sending written notice not less than five (5) days 
before the end of such period.  Such authorized holdover tenancy shall be subject to all terms 
and conditions contained herein. 
 
7.24 SURVIVAL:  All obligations of the Lessee, as provided for in the Lease, shall not cease 
upon the termination of this Lease and shall continue as obligations until fully performed.  All 
clauses of this Lease which require performance beyond the termination date shall survive the 
termination date of this Lease. 
 
7.25 GOVERNING LAW:  This Lease, and the right of the parties hereto, shall be governed 
by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington, and the parties agree 
that in any such action jurisdiction and venue shall lie exclusively in Kitsap County, Washington 
and not in any federal court. 
 
7.26 ATTORNEY FEES-LEASE ENFORCEMENT:  The prevailing party in any action to 
enforce any term or condition of this Lease shall be entitled to an award of their reasonable 
costs and attorney fees. 
 
7.27 ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES:  At Lessee’s request, Lessor agrees to execute and 
deliver to Lessee or its lender(s), a customary estoppel certificate in a form acceptable to the 
Lessor which sets forth the following information: (i) the terms and conditions of this Lease, (ii) 
the status of the Rent payments under the Lease; and (iii) Lessor’s knowledge of any breaches 
or anticipated breaches of the Lease.  Lessor shall have no obligation to execute an estoppel 
certificate which requests any information other than as set forth above.  Lessee agrees to 
reimburse the Lessor for all staff time incurred and attorneys’ fees paid by Lessor for the review 
and opinion of such attorney acting on the request for such estoppel certificate and in 
negotiating acceptable language in the estoppel certificate.  A failure to reimburse Lessor within 
sixty (60) days of the mailing of notice of such charges shall constitute a default under the terms 
of this Lease. 
 
7.28 ATTORNMENT:  In the event the Premises are sold, Lessee shall attorn to the 
purchaser upon the sale provided that the purchaser expressly agrees in writing that, so long as 
Lessee is not in default under the Lease, Lessee’s possession and occupancy of the Premises 
will not be disturbed and that such purchaser will perform all obligations of Lessor under the 
Lease. 
 
7.29 AIRPORT COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS: 

 
7.29.1  Airport Rules and Regulations. Lessee shall comply with the Bremerton 

National Airport Rules and Regulations, as amended from time to time. 
 



 

 

 

7.29.2  Minimum Standards for Commercial Activities. Lessee shall comply with the 
Bremerton National Airport Minimum Standards for Commercial Activities, as amended from 
time to time. 

 
7.29.3  National Based Aircraft Inventory Program. To ensure airport compliance with 

the FAA National Based Aircraft Inventory Program (“NBAIP”), Lessee shall maintain a current 
list of any and all aircraft (whether owned or leased) registration numbers sheltered on or within 
any portion of the Premises. Further, such list is to be provided to the Airport Manager upon 
request or automatically within thirty (30) days in the event of a change in sheltered aircraft, and 
no less than annually. 
 
7.30 COUNTERPARTS AND ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION:  This Agreement may be 
signed in counterparts. Electronic transmission of any signed original document, and 
retransmission of any signed electronic transmission shall be the same as delivery of an original 
document. 
 
7.31 ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Lease contains all of the understandings between the 
parties.  Each party represents that no promises, representations or commitments have been 
made by the other as a basis for this Lease which have not been reduced to writing herein.  No 
oral promises or representations shall be binding upon either party, whether made in the past or 
to be made in the future, unless such promises or representations are reduced to writing in the 
form of a modification to this Lease executed with all necessary legal formalities by the 
Commission of the Port of Bremerton. 
 
7.32 VALIDATION:  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor has caused this instrument to be 
signed by its President and Secretary by authority of the Commission of the Port of Bremerton, 
and this instrument has been signed and executed by Lessee, the day and year first above 
written. 
 
[signatures on following page] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS LEASE CONTAINS INDEMNIFICATIONS FROM THE LESSEE TO THE 
LESSOR, RELEASES BY THE LESSEE AND A LIMITED WAIVER OF 
IMMUNITY UNDER THE WASHINGTON STATE INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE 
ACT, TITLE 51 RCW, OR ANY OTHER SIMILAR WORKERS’ 
COMPENSATION SCHEMES, WHICH WERE SPECIFICALLY NEGOTIATED 



 

 

 

 
 
LESSEE:       LESSOR: 
 
WALLITNER AVIATION AND     PORT OF BREMERTON 
RESTORATION, LLC. 
 
 
 
_______________________________   _____________________________ 
Michael Wallitner      Axel Strakeljah 
Its:  Member/Manager       Its:  Commission President 
 
 
 
_______________________________   _____________________________ 
Alice Wallitner       Gary Anderson 
Its:  Member/Manager      Its:  Commission Vice-President 
 
 
 
        _____________________________ 
        Cary Bozeman 
        Its:  Commission Secretary  
 
[notary blocks on following pages] 
 



 

 

 

 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, Axel Strakeljahn, to me 
known to be the President of the Port of Bremerton and acknowledged the said instrument to be 
the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on 
behalf of the corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      
 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, Gary Anderson, to me known 
to be the Vice-President of the Port of Bremerton and acknowledged the said instrument to be 
the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on 
behalf of the corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      
 



 

 

 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, Cary Bozeman, to me known 
to be the Secretary of the Port of Bremerton and acknowledged the said instrument to be the 
free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on 
behalf of the corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF __________ ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, Michael and Alice Wallitner, 
to me known to be the Members/Managers of Wallitner Aviation and Restoration, LLC, and 
acknowledged the said instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, 
for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that they are authorized to 
execute the said instrument on behalf of the corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      
 
 

 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A”  

BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT  

SHP AREA 3 LEASE SITE LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION  

A PORTION OF THE BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT BEING A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN IN 

KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT MONUMENT U.S.E.D. T-52-A2 PER SECTION SUBDIVISION AND CONTROL 

TRAVERSE  

DRAWING CREATED FOR THE PORT OF BREMERTON, BY R.M. MCGINNIS, DATED 4TH OF JANUARY 

1974,  

SAID MONUMENT BEING LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST END OF RUNWAY 19-1 CENTERLINE;  

THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 6549.92 FEET TO A  

MONUMENT LOCATED APPROXIMATELY ONE FOOT INSIDE THE EDGE OF PAVED SURFACE OF 

RUNWAY  

19-1; 

THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST, 400.55 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 55° 47' 33" WEST, 768.36 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST, 110.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 55° 47' 33" WEST, 110.00 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 34° 12' 27" EAST, 110.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 55° 47' 33" EAST, 110.00 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

CONTAINING 12,100 SQUARE FEET, MORE OR LESS. 21023 SHP AREA 3 LEGAL.docx 

  



 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 
BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT 

 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT “C” 

BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT  

SHP COMMON AREA LEASE SITE LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION  

A PORTION OF THE BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT BEING A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 14, 

TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN IN KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS 

FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT MONUMENT U.S.E.D. T-52-A2 PER SECTION SUBDIVISION AND CONTROL TRAVERSE  

DRAWING CREATED FOR THE PORT OF BREMERTON, BY R.M. MCGINNIS, DATED 4TH OF JANUARY 1974,  

SAID MONUMENT BEING LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST END OF RUNWAY 19-1 CENTERLINE;  
THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 6549.92 FEET TO A  

MONUMENT LOCATED APPROXIMATELY ONE FOOT INSIDE THE EDGE OF PAVED SURFACE OF RUNWAY  

19-1; 
THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 269.39 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 55° 47' 33" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 567.39 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE SOUTH 34° 02' 47" WEST, 104.05 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 43° 37' 37" WEST, 79.15 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 58° 12' 30" WEST, 45.22 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 71° 02' 53" WEST, 86.69 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 34° 26' 06" WEST, 19.07 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 55° 46' 50" WEST, 329.95 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 34° 10' 59" EAST, 125.00 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 55° 47' 33" EAST, 330.00 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST, 36.49 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 57° 52' 33" EAST, 128.73 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 72° 06' 52" EAST, 67.67 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 61° 57' 34" EAST, 21.33 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 55° 57' 14" EAST, 2.45 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; CONTAINING 53,954 SQUARE 

FEET, MORE OR LESS.  

 

 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT “D” 
BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT  

 
 



J:\Public_Forms\Agenda Materials\2022-02-22\Lease Agmt - Sightline\2022-02-22 Agenda Summary Land Lease Sightline Trust.docx 

AGENDA SUMMARY 

Agenda Item No: 

Subject: 

Exhibits: 

Prepared By: 

Meeting Date: 

Action Item #4 

Land Lease South Hangar with Sightline Trust 

Lease Sightline Trust 

Arne Bakker, Director of Business Development 

February 22, 2022 

Summary: 
Sightline Trust has requested to enter into a land lease with the Port of Bremerton to construct 
a Corporate Hangar. Sightline Trust has been interested in building their own Corporate 
Hangar on Port property. In 2020 Sightline Trust presented Port staff with a letter of intent 
to build a corporate hangar upon completion of the South Hanger project in which the Port 
of Bremerton provided the infrastructure for future corporate hangar development. 

Lease Terms: 

• Lease Commencement: March 1, 2022
• Fifty (50) year lease
• Annual CPI adjustments beginning September 1, 2023
• Base Rent is subject to periodic adjustments every five (5) years
• Hangar site: 10,000 sf 
• Common Area: 18,753 sf
• Lease Rate: March 1 through August 30: $330.16 per month (discounted 50% 

during construction) 
September 1: $660.32 per month 

All lease rates are calculated based off $12,000 per acre annually. 

Port staff has done their due diligence and finds Sightline Trust, in good standings. This lease 
has been written, reviewed, and approved by legal. 

Fiscal Impact: 
Increased annual revenue for Bremerton National Airport. 

Strategic Purpose: 
This action conforms with the Port’s strategic plan in Goal 4.a. to continually assess niche 
markets in the Port’s Marina and Airfield lines of business for growth opportunities. 

Recommendation: 
Port staff recommends the approval of the land lease between Sightline Trust, and the Port of 
Bremerton as presented 

Motion for Consideration: 
Move to approve the land lease between Sightline Trust and the Port of 
Bremerton as presented.  



 

 

 

 

ON-AIRPORT GROUND LEASE 
 

This AIRPORT GROUND LEASE (“Lease”) is made and entered into this _______ day 
of ____, 2022, by and between the PORT OF BREMERTON, a Washington municipal 
corporation (hereinafter referred to as "Lessor"), andSIGHTLINE TRUST_, a Washington State 
Limited Liability company (hereinafter referred to as "Lessee"). 
 
 ARTICLE I 
 Summary of Lease Terms and Definitions 
 
Lessor:   Port of Bremerton 
Lessor’s Address:  8850 SW State Hwy 3  
    Bremerton, WA 98312 
 
Lessee:   Sightline Trust 
Lessee's Address:  Prior to Lease Commencement: 
    19240 Jensen Way NE #32 
    Poulsbo, WA 98370 
     
    After Lease Commencement: 
    At the Premises, Attn: Patricia Williams 
 
Premises:   SHP Area 2 Lease Site 
         
Use of Premises:  Construction and use of Airplane Hangar 
          
Exhibits:  Exhibit "A" - Legal Description of Premises  

Exhibit "B" - Map of Premises  
Exhibit “C” - Legal Description of Common Areas 
Exhibit “D” - Map of Common Areas 

 
Commencement Date: March 1, 2022 
 
Term:    Commencing upon the Commencement Date and expiring on the 

“Termination Date” fifty (50) years thereafter. 
 
Renewals:   NONE 
 
Base Rent: 
 Months of  Annual    Monthly 
 Lease Term  Total    Total 
 Months 1 - 6___ $ 3,960.66   $ 330.16 
 Months 7 18___ $ 7,921.32   $ 660.32 
* excluding Leasehold Excise Tax (Currently set at 12.84%) 
  
Initial Amount of Rental Bond or Blocked Account:  $7,921.26  
Name and Address of Surety or Bank:          



 

 

 

 

 
 ARTICLE II 
 Premises, Term, Renewals 
 
2.1 PREMISES:  Lessor, in consideration of the rents hereinafter reserved and of the 
covenants and conditions herein set forth to be performed by Lessee, does hereby lease to 
Lessee the Premises.   
 
2.2 TERM:  The term of this Lease shall be for fifty (50) years beginning March 1, 2022 
(“Commencement Date”), through February 28, 2072.  If Lessee takes possession of the 
Premises before the Commencement Date set forth above, Lessee shall pay the pro rata rent 
for the period prior to commencement of the Lease term.   
 
2.3 COMMON AREAS:  The term “Common Areas” shall mean those areas of other real 
property owned by the Lessor that are provided and designated by the Lessor from time to time 
for the general non-exclusive use of Lessor, Lessee, other tenants of the Lessor, and the 
respective employees, suppliers, shippers, customers, clients, invitees, and licensees of such 
parties.  Common Areas may include, but are not limited to taxiways, walkways, driveways, 
parking areas, service areas, and landscaped areas.  Lessor or its agents shall operate, 
manage, equip, light, repair, replace and maintain the Common Areas for their intended purpose 
at such times and in such manner as Lessor shall reasonably determine.  Common Areas are 
defined and depicted on Exhibits C and D hereto.  
 

2.3.1 Lessee’s Common Area Rights.  Lessor hereby grants to Lessee, for the 
benefit of Lessee and its employees, suppliers, shippers, customers, clients and invitees during 
the term of this Lease, the non-exclusive right to use, in common with others entitled to such 
use, the Common Areas as they exist from time-to-time, subject to any rights, powers and 
privileges reserved by the Lessor under the terms hereof or under the terms of any rules, 
regulations or restrictions governing the use of the Common Areas.  Under no circumstances 
shall the right herein granted to use the Common Areas be deemed to include the right to store 
any property, temporarily or permanently, in the Common Areas.  Any such storage shall be 
permitted only by prior written consent of Lessor or Lessor's designated agent, which consent 
may be revoked at any time.  If such unauthorized storage shall occur, then Lessor shall have 
the right, without notice, in addition to such other rights and remedies that it may have, to 
remove the property and charge the cost to the Lessee, which cost shall be payable on demand 
by Lessor.  Lessee shall promptly notify Lessor if Lessee becomes aware of any potentially 
hazardous or dangerous conditions with, or in, a Common Area. 
 

2.3.2 Changes To Common Areas.  Lessor shall have the right from time-to-time to 
make changes to the Common Areas, including, without limitation: (i) changes in the location, 
size, shape and number thereof; (ii) to temporarily close any of the Common Areas for 
maintenance and public purposes so long as reasonable access to the Premises remains 
available; (iii) to add additional improvements to the Common Areas; and (iv) to use Common 
Areas while engaged in making additional improvements, repairs or alterations, as Lessor may, 
in the exercise of sound business judgment, deem appropriate.  Lessor shall nevertheless 
diligently perform construction, repair, or maintenance work to minimize interruptions in the use 
of Common Areas. 



 

 

 

 

 ARTICLE III 
 Compensation, Rental Adjustment 

 
3.1 RENT:  The term “Rent” as used herein includes Base Rent, Additional Rent, plus 
applicable Washington State leasehold excise tax, and other fees and charges assessed herein. 
Except as expressly provided elsewhere herein, Rent and all other sums payable by Lessee 
pursuant to this Lease shall be paid without the requirement that Lessor provide prior notice or 
demand, and shall not be subject to any counterclaim, setoff, deduction, defense or abatement. 
 
 3.1.1.  Rent Paid in Advance – Late Charges.   Rent shall be paid monthly in advance 
on or before the first (1st) day of each month beginning on the Commencement Date.  A late 
charge of one percent (1%) per month will be assessed against past due Rent from the date 
such Rent became due.  Additionally, if Rent is not received by the fifth (5th) day of any month, 
Lessee shall pay Lessor an additional fee of $100 or five percent (5%) of the delinquent 
payment, whichever is greater, to defray costs of collecting and handling such late payment.  All 
accrued interest and late charges shall be paid no later than the first (1st) day of the month 
following that month in which such interest or late charges accrued.   
 
3.2. BASE RENT ADJUSTMENTS:    As set forth in this section, the Base Rent shall be 
adjusted annually based upon the change in the Consumer Price Index (the “CPI”) for all Urban 
Consumers for the Seattle-Tacoma-Bellevue Metropolitan area (the “Annual Adjustment”) and 
periodically based upon agreement or appraisal the “Periodic Adjustment”). 
 
  3.2.1.  Annual Adjustment.  Base Rent for the Premises shall be subject to annual 
adjustment on the first (1st) day of the month of the nineteenth month (19th) anniversary of the 
Commencement Date and each year thereafter as follows:  The monthly Base Rent rates shall 
be adjusted on each yearly anniversary date by using the CPI for all Urban Consumers 
published by the United States Department of Labor Bureau of Labor Statistics for the Seattle-
Tacoma-Bellevue Metropolitan area.  The indexes used shall be those published for the nearest 
period preceding the month in which the initial Lease year begins and the same period 
preceding the anniversary date.  The percentage change from the earlier index to the later index 
shall be multiplied by the Base Rent rate at the beginning of each Lease year and the result 
added to that beginning Base Rent rate to arrive at the adjusted Base rent rate which will apply 
to each of the twelve months of the succeeding year, except in no event shall the Base Rent 
rate be less than the original monthly Base Rate. 

 
3.2.2  Periodic Adjustment.  In addition to an Annual Adjustment, the Base Rent shall 

be subject to periodic adjustment effective on the following dates: October 1, 2027 and every 
five (5) years thereafter (herein such dates shall be collectively referred to as the “Adjustment 
Date”).  The parties agree to renegotiate the amount of Base Rent payable to Lessor, and to 
agree on the amount of Base Rent at least ninety (90) days prior to each Adjustment Date 
(hereinafter such ninety (90) day period shall be referred to as the “Renegotiation Deadline”). If 
the parties cannot agree on an adjustment of Base Rent before the Renegotiation Deadline, 
then the Base Rent shall be determined according to the “Appraisal” section herein.  Once 
determined the adjusted Base Rent shall relate back to the Adjustment Date.  Regardless of the 
way the new Base Rent is determined, the adjusted Base Rent shall not be less than the Base 
Rent for the preceding Lease year. 



 

 

 

 

 
3.3  AIRPORT TARIFF CHARGES:  Lessee also agrees to pay any and all applicable tariffs 
in accordance with the Airport tariff schedule published by Lessor.  Said tariff schedule is 
subject to changes from time to time as adopted by Commission resolution. 
 
3.4   ABATED RENT:  If this Lease provides for a postponement of any monthly rental 
payments, a period of free Rent or other Rent concession, such postponed rent or free rent is 
called the "Abated Rent."  Lessee shall be credited with having paid all the Abated Rent on the 
expiration of the term of this Lease only if Lessee has fully, faithfully and punctually performed 
all of Lessee's obligations hereunder, including the payment of all Rent (other than the Abated 
Rent) and all other monetary obligations and the surrender of the Premises in the condition 
required by this Lease.  Lessee acknowledges that its right to receive credit for the Abated Rent 
is absolutely conditioned upon Lessee's full, faithful and punctual performance of its obligations 
under this Lease.  If Lessee defaults and does not cure within any applicable grace period, the 
Abated Rent shall immediately become due and payable in full and this Lease shall be enforced 
as if there were no such Rent abatement or other Rent concession.  In such case, Abated Rent 
shall be calculated based on the full initial rent payable under this Lease, plus interest thereon 
at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum from date each monthly Rental payment was 
postponed. 
  
 
 ARTICLE IV 

Use of Premises, Condition of Property, 
 Improvements, Removal of Property, Maintenance, and Utilities,  

Federal Aviation Requirements, Fire Protection, and Off-Street Parking 
 
4.1 LESSEE’S USE OF PREMISES:  Lessee shall only conduct the following activity on the 
Premises: Construction and use of an airplane hangar (the “Authorized Use”).    
 

4.1.1 Default- Unauthorized Use.  Lessee shall be in default under this Lease if it: (i) 
ceases conducting the Authorized Use for any period exceeding thirty (30) days; or (ii) conducts 
any other business or activity on the Premises without first obtaining a validly executed lease 
modification. In conducting the Authorized Use, Lessee shall properly and fairly serve the public, 
providing reasonable hours of operation, and suitable service.    
 

4.1.2 No Flammable or Dangerous Materials.   Notwithstanding the foregoing 
described use, the Premises shall not be used to store, distribute or otherwise handle 
flammable or dangerous materials, excepting only such uses which are necessary to conduct 
the Authorized Use.  At the request of Lessor, Lessee shall provide a list of all flammable or 
dangerous materials stored or used on the Premises. 
 
4.2 LESSEE INSPECTION - CONDITION OF PROPERTY:  Prior to executing this Lease, 
Lessee has fully and carefully inspected the Premises.  Lessee accepts the Premises, including 
all existing improvements thereon, "as is" without further maintenance liability on the part of the 
Lessor, except as specifically noted herein.  Lessee is not relying on any representations of 
Lessor as to condition, suitability, zoning restrictions, or usability, except Lessor’s right to grant 
a lease of the Premises. 



 

 

 

 

 
 4.2.1  Development of Premises. Lessee shall be solely responsible for any and all 
costs associated with (i) the development of the Premises, including, but not limited to any 
connection to public roadways, (ii) detention for storm water and quality treatment and flow of 
storm water (which shall be accomplished on the Premises or off Lessor’s property), (iii) 
construction of parking to meet regulatory requirements and, any and all other costs as may be 
required for the development of the Premises.   
 
4.3 CONSTRUCTION OF TENANT IMPROVEMENTS:  The Lessee and Lessor shall abide 
by the following terms with regard to making tenant improvements on the Premises (“Tenant 
Improvements”). 
 

4.3.1  Tenant Improvements.  Subject to obtaining Lessor’s prior written approval, 
Lessee may make and install, at its own expense, such Tenant Improvements as are normal 
and customary in connection with the Authorized Use set forth herein.  Lessee shall develop the 
Premises consistent with regulatory requirements, including, but not limited to zoning, 
permitting, Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) requirements and Lessor requirements.  The 
Lessor shall not be required to make any improvements whatsoever.  Lessee’s contractor, if 
any, shall be subject to Lessor’s approval, not unreasonably withheld.  Lessor reserves the right 
to condition its approval upon the Lessee providing payment and/or performance bonds 
satisfactory to Lessor.  Lessee shall submit plans to, and obtain written approval from, Lessor 
before commencing any Tenant Improvements.  Lessor shall have a reasonable period to 
review such plans prior to issuing a decision.  Lessor may charge Lessee a reasonable fee for 
staff, consultant or attorney time required to review the plans.  All Tenant Improvements which 
are to be designated fixtures shall be so designated by Lessor upon Lessor’s approval of the 
plans for such improvements.  All improvements by Lessee shall conform to the requirements of 
the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq. (the “ADA”).  
 
 4.3.2 Completion Schedule for Major Tenant Improvements by Lessee.  Lessee 
shall comply with the following requirements with respect to Tenant Improvements to be made 
at the commencement of the Lease: 

a. To commence construction within one hundred eighty (180) days of the 
date of execution of this Lease. 
 
 4.3.3 Unauthorized Improvements.  Any Tenant Improvements made on the 
Premises without Lessor’s prior written consent or which are not in conformance with the plans 
submitted to and approved by the Lessor (“Unauthorized Improvements”) shall immediately 
become the property of Lessor unless Lessor elects otherwise.  Regardless of the ownership of 
Unauthorized Improvements, Lessor may, at its option, require Lessee to sever, remove and 
dispose of them and return the Premises to its prior condition at Lessee’s sole cost and 
expense, charge Lessee rent for the use of them, or both. 
 
 4.3.4  Construction Period.  The Lessee shall provide security fencing systems 
suitable to surround the entire Premises for the duration of construction of its Tenant 
Improvements. In addition, during construction Lessee shall manage construction of its Tenant 
Improvements in a manner that minimizes the impact on the Bremerton National Airport 
operations. 



 

 

 

 

 
4.4 REMOVAL OF PERSONAL PROPERTY AND TENANT IMPROVEMENTS AT END OF 
LEASE:  Prior to the conclusion of the Lease, at Lessor’s option, Lessee shall remove the 
following from the Premises: 

a. All equipment; 
b. All personal property; 
c. All Tenant Improvements that are not designated fixtures; and 
d. The following Existing Improvements: N/A. 

 
4.4.1 Lessor’s Remedies.   If any of the foregoing items are not removed from the 

Premises by the conclusion of the Lease or when Lessor has the right of re-entry, then Lessor 
may, at its sole option, elect any or all the following remedies: 

 
a. To remove any or all the items and to dispose of them without liability to 

Lessee.  Lessor shall not be required to mitigate its damages, to dispose of the items in a 
commercially reasonable manner, or to make any effort whatsoever to obtain payment for such 
items.  Lessee agrees to pay Lessor’s costs and damages associated with Lessee’s failure to 
remove such items, including, but not limited to, the following: storage, demolition, removal, 
transportation and lost rent (collectively “Disposal Costs”); provided, however, that any net 
proceeds recovered by Lessor in excess of its Disposal Costs will be deducted from Lessee’s 
financial obligation set forth herein.  Lessee’s financial obligations herein shall survive the 
termination of this Lease. 

b. To have the title to any or all such items revert to Lessor. 
c. To commence suit against Lessee for damages or for specific 

performance. 
 
The foregoing remedies are cumulative and in addition to any other remedies provided by law, 
and Lessor shall not be required to elect its remedies. 
 
4.5 MAINTENANCE OF FACILITIES:  Maintenance and repair of the Premises and all 
improvements thereon is the sole responsibility of Lessee including, but not limited to, 
maintenance and repair of any damage to the Premises from unforeseen or unexpected events 
or Acts of God.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessee shall maintain the 
Premises in good condition including, without limitation, repairing all walls, floors, ceiling, interior 
doors, interior and exterior windows and fixtures, as well as damage caused to any portion of 
the Premises or Lessor’s property by Lessee, its employees, agents, licensees, invitees or 
anyone on the Premises or Lessor’s property as a result of Lessee’s activities.  
 
4.6 UTILITIES AND SERVICES:  Lessee will arrange and pay for all utility connections and 
services and distribution of such utilities and services, including, but not limited to all costs 
associated with hook up and other fees and charges related to use of such utilities and services.  
At the conclusion of this Lease, Lessee shall arrange for such utility services to be terminated 
and for the final bill to be sent to Lessee.  Lessee shall be liable for all utility charges that accrue 
if it fails to so terminate services.   
 
4.7 FEDERAL AVIATION REQUIREMENTS:  The Lessee agrees that its use of the 
Premises will be accomplished in accordance with the following covenants. 



 

 

 

 

 
4.7.1  Takeoff/Landing Interference.  Lessee shall prevent any use of the Premises 

which would interfere with the landing or taking off of aircraft at the Bremerton National Airport, 
or otherwise constitute an airport hazard. 
 

4.7.2  Electromagnetic Interference.  Lessee shall prevent any operation on the 
Premises which would produce electromagnetic radiations of a nature which would cause 
interference with any air navigational or communications aid now or in the future to be installed 
to serve the Bremerton National Airport, or which would create any interfering or confusing light 
or cause any restrictions to visibility at the airport. 
 

4.7.3  Airspace Reservation.  Lessor retains the public right of flight for the passage of 
aircraft in the airspace above the surface of the Premises hereinbefore described, together with 
the right to cause in said airspace such noise as may be inherent in the operation of aircraft, 
now known or hereafter used for navigation of or flight in said airspace, and for use of said 
airspace for landing on, taking off from or operating on the Bremerton National Airport. 
 

4.7.4  Minority Business Enterprises.  Lessee understands that it is the policy of the 
U.S. Department of Transportation that minority business enterprises as defined in 49 CFR, Part 
23, shall have the maximum opportunity to participate in the performance of this Lease as 
defined in 49 CFR, Section 23.5, and that this Lease is subject to 49 CFR, Part 23, as 
applicable.  Lessee hereby assures that no person shall be excluded from participation in, 
denied the benefits of, or otherwise discriminated against in connection with 49 CFR, Part 23, 
on the grounds of race, color, national origin, or sex. 

 
4.7.5  Hangar Use Policies. Lessee shall ensure that any use of the Premises 

complies with any and all FAA policies including, but not limited to, those policies applicable to 
hangar use such as 14 CFR Chapter 1 published on or about June 15, 2016, under Federal 
Register Vol. 81, No. 115 regarding Non-Aeronautical Use of Airport Hangars. 
 
4.8 FIRE PROTECTION:  The Lessee understands that the Lessor has no responsibility to 
provide fire protection for the Lessee's buildings, property or equipment located in or upon the 
leased Premises.  It shall be the exclusive responsibility of the Lessee to provide for its own fire 
protection, including, but not limited to, promptly paying all fire district service charges when 
due.  In this regard, the Lessee understands that it is the Lessee's responsibility and duty to 
include the value of its buildings, property, and equipment to appropriate City of Bremerton 
authorities for personal property tax purposes.  Failure of the Lessee to accurately list its 
improvements or promptly pay personal property tax when due, shall be a breach of this Lease 
and shall be grounds for the Lessor to terminate this Lease agreement.  The Lessee shall 
promptly provide the Lessor with a copy of its personal property declaration within seven (7) 
days from the time such declaration is made to the Kitsap County Assessor. 
 
4.9 OFF STREET PARKING:  Lessee agrees to provide space for the parking of vehicles in 
the number necessary to comply with applicable regulations and otherwise to accommodate its 
normal business requirements on the Premises included within this Lease; and not use any 
public streets, rights-of-way or other properties not included in this Lease for the parking of said 
vehicles. 



 

 

 

 

 
   

ARTICLE V 
Insurance and Financial Security 

 
5.1 CASUALTY LOSS OF LESSEE:  The parties hereto agree that the Lessor, its 
commissioners and employees, Lessor’s insurance carrier and Lessor’s casualty policy shall not 
be responsible to the Lessee for any property loss or damage done to the Lessee’s property, 
whether real, personal or mixed, occasioned by reason of any fire, storm or other casualty 
whatsoever.  It shall be the Lessee’s sole responsibility to provide its own protection against 
casualty losses of whatsoever kind or nature, regardless of whether or not such loss is 
occasioned by the acts or omissions of the Lessor, Lessee, third party, or act of nature.  Lessee 
hereby releases and discharges the Lessor its commissioners and employees, Lessor’s 
insurance carrier and Lessor’s casualty policy from any claims for loss or damage to Lessee’s 
property. 
 
5.2 INSURANCE:  Lessee shall procure and maintain a comprehensive general liability 
policy covering all claims for personal injury (including death) and property damage (including all 
real and personal property located on the Premises or Lessor’s property) arising on the 
Premises or Lessor’s property as a result of, or arising out of, Lessee’s operations under this 
Lease.  The limits of liability shall be not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) for each 
occurrence and in the aggregate unless the Lessee requests, and Lessor approves in writing, a 
lesser liability limit.  If the Lessee maintains higher insurance limits than the minimums required 
herein, the Lessor shall be insured for the full available limits of Commercial General and/or 
Excess or Umbrella liability maintained by the Lessee, irrespective of whether such limits 
maintained by the Lessee are greater than those required by this Lease or whether any 
certificate of insurance furnished to the Lessor evidences the lower limits of liability set forth 
above.  Lessor may impose changes in the limits of liability: (i) on any Adjustment Date; (ii) as a 
condition of approval of assignment or sublease of this Lease; (iii) upon any breach of the 
environmental liability provision herein; (iv) upon a material change in the condition of any 
improvements; or (v) upon a change in the Authorized Use.  If the liability limits are changed, 
Lessee shall obtain new or modified insurance coverage within thirty (30) days after changes in 
the limits of liability are required by Lessor.  The liability policies shall contain a cross-liability 
provision such that the policy will be construed as if separate policies were issued to Lessee 
and to Lessor. 
 
 5.2.1 Policy Provisions.  The foregoing insurance policy shall name Lessor as an 
additional named insured by way of a policy endorsement.  Lessee shall provide certificates of 
insurance and, if requested, copies of any policy to Lessor.  Receipt of such certificate or policy 
by Lessor does not constitute approval by Lessor of the terms of such policy.  Furthermore, the 
policy of insurance required herein shall: (i) be written as a primary policy; (ii) expressly provide 
that such insurance may not be materially changed, amended or canceled with respect to 
Lessor except upon forty-five (45) days' prior written notice from the insurance company to 
Lessor; (iii) contain an express waiver of any right of subrogation by the insurance company 
against Lessor and Lessor’s elected officials, employees or agents; (iv) expressly provide that 
the defense and indemnification of the Lessor as an “additional insured”  will not be effected by 
any act or omission by Lessee which might otherwise result in a forfeiture of said insurance; v) 



 

 

 

 

contain a separation of insureds provision such that the policy applies separately to each 
insured that is subject of a claim or suit; vi) not contain a cross-claim, cross-suit, or other 
exclusion that eliminates coverage by one insured against another; and (vii) provide for 
coverage for damage to the Lessor’s property caused by the Lessee. 
 
 5.2.2 Failure to Obtain and Maintain Insurance. If Lessee fails to procure and 
maintain the insurance described above, Lessor shall have the right, but not the obligation, to 
procure and maintain substitute insurance and to pay the premiums.  Lessee shall pay to Lessor 
upon demand the full amount paid by Lessor. 
 
 5.2.3 Prudent Business Insurance. The Lessee believes and states that the 
insurance obligation herein does not exceed that which the Lessee would otherwise normally 
place upon itself and obtain in order to operate its business in a prudent manner. 
 
5.3 FINANCIAL SECURITY:  In compliance with the requirements of state law, Lessee 
agrees that it will secure the performance of the rental portion of this Lease by procuring and 
maintaining, during the term of this Lease, a corporate surety bond, or by providing other 
financial security satisfactory to Lessor (herein referred to as the “Bond”), in an amount not less 
than one-hundred percent (100%) of the sum of annual Rent, plus state leasehold excise tax.  
The Bond shall be in a form and issued by a surety company acceptable to Lessor and shall 
comply with the requirements of Washington law.  Lessee shall obtain such Bond and forward 
evidence thereof to Lessor within fourteen (14) days of execution of this Lease, but in no event 
later than the Commencement Date of this Lease.  Failure to comply with this requirement shall 
be grounds for termination of this Lease without notice by Lessor.  Such Bond shall be kept 
always in effect during the term of this Lease; failure to comply with this requirement shall 
render Lessee in default.  The Bond shall be increased annually to reflect any adjustments in 
annual Rent.  Upon any default by Lessee in its obligations under this Lease, Lessor may collect 
on the Bond to offset the liability of Lessee to Lessor.  Collection on the Bond shall not relieve 
Lessee of liability, shall not limit any of Lessor’s other remedies, and shall not reinstate or cure 
the default or prevent termination of the Lease because of the default. 
 
 

ARTICLE VI 
Environmental Liability 

 
6.1 ENVIRONMENTAL INDEMNIFICATION:  Lessee shall defend (with legal counsel 
suitable to Lessor), indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from any and all claims, demands, 
judgments, orders or damages resulting from Hazardous Substances on the Premises or 
Lessor’s property caused in whole or in part by the activity of the Lessee, its agents, subtenants, 
or any other person or entity (i) on the Premises as a result of, arising out of, or relating to 
Lessee’s operations under this Lease or any previous lease or agreement or (ii) on the Lessor’s 
property as a result of, arising out of, or relating to Lessee’s operations under this Lease or any 
previous lease or agreement.  It is the intent of the parties that Lessee shall be responsible and 
shall defend and hold Lessor harmless from any Hazardous Substances that have or may occur 
on the Premises or Lessor’s property as a result of, arising out of, or relating to Lessee’s 
operations since Lessee first occupied the Premises or other portion of the Lessor’s property 
through this Lease or any previous lease or agreement with Lessor.  The term “Hazardous 



 

 

 

 

Substances” as used herein shall mean any substance heretofore or hereafter designated as 
hazardous under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 USC Sec. 6901 et seq.; the 
Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 USC Sec. 1251 et seq.; the Clean Air Act, 42 USC Sec. 
7401 et seq.; the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 
1980, 42 USC Sec. 9601 et seq.; or the Hazardous Waste Cleanup-Model Toxics Control Act, 
RCW 70A.305, all as amended and subject to all regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
 6.1.1 Unconditional Environmental Obligations. Lessee’s defense and indemnity 
obligations under this article are unconditional, shall not be discharged or satisfied by Lessor’s 
re-entry of the Premises or exercise of any other remedy for Lessee’s default under this Lease, 
shall continue in effect after any assignment or sublease of this Lease, and shall continue in 
effect after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. 
 
 6.1.2  Environmental Investigations.   Although Lessee shall not be liable for any 
Hazardous Substances on the Premises that was not caused in whole or in part by the activity 
of the Lessee, its agents, subtenants, or any other person or entity on the Premises as a result 
of, arising out of, or relating to Lessee’s operations under this Lease or any previous lease or 
agreement, Lessee shall be responsible for the costs of any environmental investigations or 
remediation arising from the development or use of the Premises by Lessee, and Lessee 
hereby releases the Lessor from any contribution claim for those costs.  By way of example 
only, if the Lessee excavates soil on the Premises which contains Hazardous Substances, then 
the Lessee will be responsible for the cost associated with disposing of those soils regardless of 
when or how the Hazardous Substances were released into those soils. 
 
6.2 CURRENT CONDITIONS AND DUTY OF LESSEE:  Lessor makes no representation 
about the condition of the Premises.  Hazardous Substances may exist in, on, under or above 
the Premises.  Lessee should, but is not required to, conduct environmental assessments or 
investigations of the Premises prior to or during this Lease to determine the existence, scope 
and location of any Hazardous Substances.  If there are any Hazardous Substances in, on, 
under or above the Premises as of the Commencement Date, Lessee shall exercise the utmost 
care with respect to the Hazardous Substances, the foreseeable acts or omissions of third 
parties affecting the Hazardous Substances, and the foreseeable consequences of those acts 
or omissions. 
 
 6.2.1  Prior Notice of Environmental Investigation.  Prior to conducting any 
environmental investigation of the subsurface of the Premises, the Lessee shall provide prior 
written notice to the Lessor.  Lessee shall provide the Lessor with the results of all such 
investigations. 
 
6.3 NOTIFICATION AND REPORTING:  Lessee shall immediately notify Lessor if Lessee 
becomes aware of any of the following: 
 

a. A release or threatened release of Hazardous Substances in, on under or 
above the Premises, any adjoining property, or any other property subject to use by Lessee in 
conjunction with its use of the Premises; 

 



 

 

 

 

b. Any problem or liability related to or derived from the presence of any 
Hazardous Substance in, on under or above the Premises, any adjoining property or any other 
property subject to use by Lessee in conjunction with its use of the Premises; 

 
c. Any actual or alleged violation of any federal, state or local statute, 

ordinance, rule, regulation or other law pertaining to Hazardous Substances with respect to the 
Premises, any adjoining property, or any other property subject to use by Lessee in conjunction 
with its use of the Premises; or 

 
d. Any lien or action with respect to any of the foregoing. 
 

 6.3.1 Copies of All Environmental Reports.   Lessee shall, at Lessor’s request, 
provide Lessor with copies of any and all reports, studies or audits which pertain to 
environmental issues or concerns with the Premises, and which are or were prepared by or for 
Lessee and submitted to any federal, state or local authorities pursuant to any federal, state or 
local permit, license or law.  These permits include, but are not limited to, any National Pollution 
Discharge and Elimination System permit, any Army Corps of Engineers permit, any State 
Hydraulics permit, any State Water Quality certification, or any Substantial Development permit. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
Miscellaneous Provisions 

 
7.1 APPRAISAL:  When Base Rent is to be determined by appraisal, the process in this 
article shall govern.  Within seven (7) calendar days from the Rental Renegotiation Deadline, 
Lessor and Lessee shall mutually agree upon a disinterested, MAI certified appraiser with at 
least ten (10) years’ experience appraising property in Kitsap County to perform an appraisal of 
the fair market rental value of the Premises.  The appraiser's costs shall be shared equally by 
the parties.  The rental rate arrived at in the appraisal shall constitute the new Base Rent, which 
shall be retroactive to the Adjustment Date. 
 

7.1.1 Failure to Agree on Appraiser.  If Lessor and Lessee cannot mutually agree 
upon an appraiser by the end of the seventh (7th) day as set forth above, then each party shall 
select an MAI certified appraiser to perform an appraisal of the fair market rental value of the 
Premises.  Each party shall bear the costs of its own appraisal.  The appraisals shall be 
completed no later than ninety (90) days after the Rental Renegotiation Deadline (herein this 
date shall be referred to as the "Appraisal Completion Date").  The average of the two (2) 
appraisals shall apply to Paragraph 7.1 above.  If either of the appraisals is not timely completed 
on or before the Appraisal Completion Date, and unless there were circumstances beyond the 
appraisers' control that prevented its timely completion, then the appraisal that was timely 
completed shall apply to Paragraph 7.1 above. 
 
7.2 LESSEE WILL OBTAIN PERMITS:  Lessee agrees to obtain and comply with all 
necessary permits for any Tenant Improvements and to conduct the Authorized Use.  If Lessee 
fails to obtain and comply with such permits, then Lessee accepts full responsibility for any and 
all costs incurred by Lessor, including actual attorneys’ fees.  In this way, Lessee agrees to be 
solely responsible for all damages, costs and expenses incurred as a result of Lessee’s failure 
to fully comply with any necessary permit process and requirements.   



 

 

 

 

 
7.3 LIENS:  Lessee agrees to keep the Premises described herein free and clear of all liens 
and charges whatsoever.  Lessee shall not allow any mechanics and materialmen’s or other 
liens to be placed upon the leased Premises.  If such a lien is placed or recorded, Lessee shall 
cause it to be discharged of record, at its own expense, within ten (10) days of Lessor’s 
demand. Failure to comply with Lessor’s demand within ten (10) days shall be a default under 
the terms of this Lease. 
 
7.4 INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS:  The Lessee agrees that it will defend 
(with legal counsel acceptable to Lessor), indemnify and hold harmless the Lessor, its officers, 
employees and agents from any and all demands, claims, judgments or liability for loss or 
damage arising as a result of accidents, injuries or other occurrences on the Premises or on 
Lessor’s property, (i) occasioned by either the negligent or willful conduct of the Lessee, its 
agents, or (ii) made by any person or entity holding under the Lessee, or any person or entity on 
the Premises or on the Lessor’s property as a result of Lessee’s activity, regardless of who the 
injured party may be.  This indemnification and hold harmless shall not apply to the extent the 
damages was caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Lessor. 
 
7.5. LIMITED WAIVER OF IMMUNITY UNDER WASHINGTON STATE INDUSTRIAL 
INSURANCE ACT, TITLE 51 RCW AND OTHER SIMILAR INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE 
SCHEMES:   For purposes of the foregoing indemnification provision, and only to the extent of 
claims against Lessee by Lessor under such indemnification provision, Lessee specifically 
waives any immunity it may be granted under the Washington State Industrial Insurance Act, 
Title 51 RCW, The United States Longshore and Harbor Workers Compensation Act, 33 USC 
§901-950, or any other similar workers’ compensation schemes.  The indemnification obligation 
under this Lease shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of 
damages, compensation or benefits payable to or for any third party under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.  The foregoing 
provision was specifically negotiated and agreed upon by the parties hereto.   
 
7.6 LAWS AND REGULATIONS:  Lessee agrees to conform to and abide by all applicable 
rules, codes, laws, regulations and Port policies in connection with its use of the Premises and 
the construction of improvements and operation of Lessee’s business thereon and not to permit 
said Premises to be used in violation of any applicable rule, code, law, regulation, Port policy, or 
other authority. 
 
 7.6.1 Environmental Laws and Regulations.   Lessee’s obligations herein shall 
include, but in no way be limited to, the obligation to comply with all State and Federal 
environmental laws and regulations.  Lessee shall defend (with legal counsel acceptable to 
Lessor), indemnify and hold harmless the Lessor from any fine, penalty or damage which may 
be imposed by any lawful authority, which may arise as a result of the Lessee’s failure to comply 
with the obligations of this article. 
 
7.7 WASTE AND REFUSE:  Lessee agrees not to allow conditions of waste and refuse to 
exist on the Premises and to keep the Premises in a neat, clean and orderly condition.  
 



 

 

 

 

7.8 TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS:  Lessee agrees to pay all taxes assessed against the 
leasehold interest and a pro rata share of any assessments made against the Premises for 
installation of public utility systems, based upon a reasonable overall sharing program among all 
properties within the assessment area. 
 
7.9 SIGNS:  No signs shall be installed without the prior written permission of Lessor.  In the 
event that an unauthorized sign has been installed and after twenty-four hours (24) notification 
to remove the sign by the Lessor, Lessee shall pay the Lessor a penalty of $100 per day for 
each day the sign remains in place after such notification.  The penalty shall automatically 
resume, without notice, if the sign is reinstalled after having been removed.  The penalty 
accrued shall be paid with the next month’s Base Rent.  In addition, the Lessor reserves the 
right to provide notice of, and treat an unauthorized sign as, a non-monetary default of this 
Lease. 
 
7.10 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY:  Lessee agrees that in the conduct of activities on the 
Premises, it will be an equal opportunity employer in accordance with Title VII of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, 42 USC §2000 et seq. and shall comply with all requirements of the ADA. 
 
7.11 LITIGATION:  In the event Lessor shall be made a party to any litigation commenced by 
or against Lessee (other than actions commenced by Lessee or Lessor concerning the 
interpretation or enforcement of any of the terms and conditions of this Lease), then Lessee 
agrees to pay all costs, expert witness fees, and attorneys’ fees, including all customary 
charges incurred by Lessor in connection with such litigation.  However, if Lessor is made a 
party defendant and Lessee undertakes the defense of the action on behalf of Lessor, then no 
obligation for costs and attorneys’ fees will be chargeable against Lessee by Lessor for costs 
arising out of such undertaking.   
 
7.12 ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE:  Lessee shall not assign, rent or sublease any portions of 
this Lease or any extension thereof, without the prior written consent of Lessor, and no rights 
hereunder in or to said Premises shall pass by operation of law or other judicial process, or 
through insolvency proceedings.  Otherwise, the rights and obligations hereof shall extend to 
and be binding upon their respective successors, representatives and assigns, as the case may 
be.  Lessee shall furnish Lessor with copies of all such subassignment, sublease or rental 
documents.  For the purposes of this Lease, any change of ownership including sale, liquidation 
or other disposition of some or all of the corporate stock or limited liability company units will be 
considered an assignment.  Should the Lessor consent to an assignment made by the Lessee 
for the purposes of obtaining a loan or other consideration from a third party, then if Lessor has 
a standard consent form for these purposes the Lessor’s consent shall be made in accordance 
with that form.  If Lessor has a standard consent form, a copy of this consent form shall be 
provided by Lessor upon request of Lessee.   
 
 7.12.1 Remedy If Lessor Denies Assignment.   If Lessor refuses to consent to an 
assignment, Lessee’s sole remedy shall be the right to bring a declaratory judgment action to 
determine whether Lessor was entitled to refuse such assignment under the terms of this 
Lease. 
 
 7.12.2 No Waiver of Future Consents.   No consent by Lessor to any assignment or 



 

 

 

 

sublease shall be a waiver of the requirement to obtain such consent with respect to any other 
or later assignment or sublease.  Acceptance of Rent or other performance by Lessor following 
an assignment or sublease, whether or not Lessor has knowledge of such assignment or 
sublease, shall not constitute consent to the same nor a waiver of the requirement to obtain 
consent to the same. 
 
 7.12.3 Transfer Fee.  An administrative handling and transfer fee (“Transfer Fee”) of 
Three Hundred Dollars ($300.00) shall be payable by Lessee to Lessor if Lessee requests the 
Lessor’s consent to a proposed assignment (including an assignment to a creditor for security 
purposes), or sublease.  Such Transfer Fee shall be submitted to the Lessor at the same time 
that Lessee requests the Lessor’s consent to the proposed sublease or assignment. 
 
 7.12.4 Attorneys’ Fees.  In addition to the Transfer Fee, Lessee shall pay Lessor’s 
reasonable and customary attorneys’ fees incurred relating to the Lessee’s request for Lessor’s 
consent to a proposed assignment or in the event Lessee seeks to modify the Lease during the 
term of the Lease or any renewals thereof.  Lessee’s failure to remit this amount within sixty (60) 
days of the mailing of the notice of such charges shall constitute a default under this Lease.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Lessee shall not be obligated to reimburse 
the Lessor in any case where an assignment or sublease is not accomplished due to total 
refusal on the part of Lessor to grant its consent to the request. 
 
 7.12.5 Excess Rent.  If, pursuant to any assignment or sublease, Lessee receives rent, 
either initially or over the term of the assignment or sublease: i) in excess of the Rent called for 
hereunder, or ii) in the case of a sublease of a portion of the Premises, in excess of such Rent 
fairly allocable to such portion, after appropriate adjustments to assure that all other payments 
called for hereunder are appropriately taken into account, Lessee shall pay to Lessor, as 
Additional Rent hereunder, fifty percent (50%) of the excess of each such payment of Rent 
received by Lessee after its receipt. 
 
 7.12.6 Lessee’s Liability on Assignment or Sublease.  If this Lease is assigned, or if 
the underlying beneficial interest of Lessee is transferred, or if the Premises or any part thereof 
is sublet to or occupied by anybody other than Lessee, Lessor may collect Rent from the 
assignee, subtenant or occupant and apply the net amount collected to the Rent herein 
reserved, but no such assignment, subletting, occupancy or collection shall be deemed a waiver 
of this covenant, or the acceptance of the assignee, subtenant or occupant as tenant, or a 
release of Lessee from the further performance by Lessee of covenants on the part of Lessee 
herein contained.  No assignment or subletting shall affect the continuing primary liability of 
Lessee (which, following assignment, shall be joint and several with the assignee), and Lessee 
shall not be released from performing any of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease. 
 
 7.12.7 Proceed Against Lessee.  Notwithstanding any assignment or sublease, or any 
indulgences, waivers or extensions of time granted by Lessor to any assignee or sublessee or 
failure of Lessor to take action against any assignee or sublease, Lessee hereby agrees that 
Lessor may, at its option, proceed against Lessee without having taken action against or joined 
such assignee or sublessee, except that Lessee shall have the benefit of any indulgences, 
waivers and extensions of time granted to any such assignee or sublessee. 
 



 

 

 

 

 7.12.8 Assignee/Sublessee Insurance. In the event the Lessor approves an 
assignment or sublease hereunder, such assignee or sublessee shall provide Lessor with 
insurance certificates and/or endorsements evidencing such assignee’s or sublessee’s 
compliance with the insurance provisions set forth herein including, but not limited to, the 
endorsement of Lessor as an additional insured under such policy or policies.   
 
7.13 DEFAULT, CROSS DEFAULT, AND REMEDIES:   
 

7.13.1 Monetary Defaults.  Failure to pay Rent or any other monetary obligations by 
the first day of each month shall constitute a default under the terms of this Lease.  If Lessee is 
in default in the payment of Rent or other monetary obligations then, at Lessor’s sole option, 
upon ten (10) days’ written notice, this Lease may be terminated, and Lessor may enter upon 
and take possession of the Premises.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessee 
expressly authorizes Lessor to obtain a prejudgment writ of restitution in the event of default by 
Lessee.  This remedy is in addition to and is not exclusive of any other remedies provided either 
by this Lease or by law. 
 
 7.13.2 Non-monetary Defaults.  If Lessee shall fail to perform any term or condition of 
this Lease, other than the payment of Rent or other monetary obligations, then Lessor, upon 
providing Lessee thirty (30) days’ written notice of such default, may terminate this Lease and 
enter upon and take possession of the Premises.  This remedy is in addition to and is not 
exclusive of any other remedies provided either by this Lease or by law. 
 
 7.13.3 Other Defaults.  The following shall also constitute a default under the terms of 
this Lease:  A default by Lessee under any other agreement or lease with the Lessor; 
insolvency of Lessee; an assignment by Lessee for the benefit of creditors; the filing by Lessee 
of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy; an adjudication that Lessee is bankrupt or the appointment 
of a receiver of the properties of Lessee; the filing of an involuntary petition of bankruptcy and 
failure of Lessee to secure a dismissal of the petition within thirty (30) days after filing; 
attachment of or the levying of execution on the leasehold interest; and failure of Lessee to 
secure a discharge of the attachment or release of the levy of execution within ten (10) days. 
 

7.13.4  Multiple Defaults in a Year.  If within any one (1) year period, Lessor serves 
upon the Lessee three notices requiring Lessee either to: (i) comply with the terms of this Lease 
or to vacate the Premises or (ii) pay Rent or vacate (collectively referred to herein as “Default 
Notices”), then Lessee shall, upon a subsequent violation of any term of this Lease by the 
Lessee (including failure to pay Rent), be deemed to be in unlawful detainer, and Lessor may, in 
addition to any other remedies it may have, immediately terminate the Lease and/or commence 
an unlawful detainer action without further notice to Lessee. 
 
    7.13.5   Cross-Default.  A default under this Lease shall constitute a default under any 
other lease or agreement which Lessee has with Lessor (hereinafter such other agreements 
shall be referred to as “Collateral Agreements”).  Likewise, any material breach or default under 
a Collateral Agreement shall be deemed a material breach or default under the terms of this 
Lease.  If a Collateral Agreement is terminated for a material breach or default of Lessee, then 
Lessor shall, without limiting any other remedies it may have, be entitled to terminate this Lease 
upon five (5) days’ written notice to Lessee. 



 

 

 

 

 
 7.13.6 Other Remedies.  In addition to the foregoing remedies specified in this article, 
Lessor may exercise any remedies or rights under the laws of the State of Washington 
including, but not limited to, recovering damages for past due rent, future rent, costs to re-let the 
Premises, and costs to restore the Premises to its prior condition (reasonable wear and tear 
excepted).  Under no circumstances shall Lessor be held liable in damages or otherwise by 
reason of any lawful re-entry or eviction.  Lessor shall not, by any re-entry or other act, be 
deemed to have accepted any surrender by Lessee of the Premises or be deemed to have 
otherwise terminated this Lease or to have relieved Lessee of any obligation hereunder. Lessor 
shall be under no obligation to observe or perform any covenant of this Lease after the date of 
any material default by Lessee unless and until Lessee cures such default. A fee of Five 
Hundred Dollars ($500.00) shall be assessed to Lessee for each Default Notice issued to 
Lessee to defray the costs associated with preparing, issuing, and serving such notice.  This fee 
shall be payable on the first (1st) day of the month following the issuance of the Default Notice. 
 
7.14 TERMINATION:  This Lease shall terminate for default if Lessee fails to cure any default 
within the time provided for herein.  Upon termination of this Lease or any extension thereof, 
whether by expiration of the stated term or sooner termination thereon, as herein provided, 
Lessee shall surrender to Lessor the Premises peaceably and quietly.  Lessee shall restore the 
Premises to the condition existing at the time of initiation of this Lease, except for: (i) normal 
wear and tear, and (ii) any improvements which Lessor permits to remain on the Premises. 
 
7.15 NON-WAIVER:  Neither the acceptance of Rent nor any other act or omission of Lessor 
after a default by Lessee or termination shall operate as a waiver of any past or future default by 
Lessee, or to deprive Lessor of its right to terminate this Lease or be construed to prevent 
Lessor from promptly exercising any other right or remedy it has under this Lease.  Any waiver 
by Lessor shall be in writing and signed by Lessor in order to be binding on Lessor. 
 
7.16 NOTICES:  Any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or communication that 
either party desires or is required to give to the other party shall be in writing addressed to the 
other party at the addresses as follows: 
 
 TO LESSOR:   Port of Bremerton 
     Attn: Airport Manager  
     8850 SW State Hwy 3 
     Bremerton, WA  98312 
     E-mail: warrenh@portofbremerton.org 
 
 TO LESSEE:   Sightline Trust 
     Attn: Patricia Williams 
     19240 Jensen Way NE #32 
     Poulsbo, WA  98370      
     E-mail: freeking1@gmail.com 
 
or such address as may have been specified by notifying the other party of the change of 
address.  Notice shall be deemed served: i) on the date sent by e-mail if email is sent during 
regular business hours or, if sent outside of normal business hours, at 8:00 am on the next 



 

 

 

 

regular business day, ii) on the date of actual delivery, or iii) first attempted delivery as shown 
on the return receipt if mailed with the United States Postal Service by certified mail, return 
receipt requested. 
 
7.17 AGENT FOR SERVICE:  Lessee agrees that if Lessee is in unlawful detainer, pursuant 
to Chapter 59.12 RCW, and Lessor is unable to serve Lessee with the unlawful detainer 
pleadings after one service attempt, then Lessor shall be deemed to have complied with the 
service requirements of Chapter 59.12 RCW if it mails such pleadings via certified mail to the 
address set forth in the notice section of this Lease and posts such pleadings in a conspicuous 
location on the Premises.  Service shall be deemed complete on the third (3rd) day following the 
day of posting or day of mailing, whichever is later. 
 
7.18 SECURITY:  Lessee specifically acknowledges that Lessor has no duty to provide 
security for any portion of the Premises or Property.  Lessee assumes sole responsibility and 
liability for the security of itself, its employees, customers, and invitees, and their respective 
property in or about the Premises or Property.  Lessee agrees that to the extent Lessor elects to 
provide any security, Lessor is not warranting the effectiveness of any such security personnel, 
services, procedures or equipment and that Lessee is not relying and shall not hereafter rely on 
such security personnel, services, procedures or equipment.  Lessor shall not be responsible or 
liable in any manner for failure of any such security personnel, services, procedures or 
equipment to prevent or control, or apprehend anyone suspected of personal injury or property 
damage in, on or around the Premises or Property. 
 
7.19 QUIET ENJOYMENT:  Lessor acknowledges that it has ownership of the Premises and 
that it has the legal authority to lease the Premises to Lessee.  Lessor covenants that Lessee 
shall have quiet enjoyment of the Premises during the term of this Lease so long as Lessee 
complies with this Lease and subject to Lessor’s right of entry onto the Premises as set forth 
herein. 
 

7.19.1  Easements.  The Lessor reserves the right to grant easements and other land 
uses on the Premises to others when the easement or other land uses applied for will not 
unduly interfere with the use to which the Lessee is putting the Premises or interfere unduly with 
the approved plan of development for the Premises.   
 
 7.19.2  Closure by Government Order.  Lessee understands that various federal 
agencies, including the Department of Homeland Security and U.S. Coast Guard, have the 
authority to restrict access to certain areas on property owned by Lessor in order to counter a 
terrorist or other threat.  Such restrictions could impact Lessee’s ability to access the Premises 
for an indefinite period of time.  Since such restrictions on access are outside the control of 
Lessor, Lessee agrees that such interruptions shall not be deemed a violation of this Lease or 
the Covenant of Quiet Enjoyment. 
 
7.20 LESSOR MAY ENTER PREMISES:  It is agreed that the duly authorized officers or 
agents of Lessor may enter to view said Premises upon seventy-two (72) hours written notice, 
and if the business or normal function of Lessor should at any time require that it enter upon the 
Premises to perform any work or make any improvements, it may do so, but not in such manner 
as to materially injure Lessee with its normal and usual operation. 



 

 

 

 

 
7.21 TIME:  It is mutually agreed and understood that time is of the essence of this Lease and 
that a waiver of any default of Lessee shall not be construed as a waiver of any other default. 
 
7.22 INTERPRETATION:  This Lease has been submitted to the scrutiny of the parties hereto 
and their counsel, if desired.  In any dispute between the parties, the language of this Lease 
shall, in all cases, be construed as a whole according to its fair meaning and not for or against 
either the Lessor or the Lessee.  If any provision is found to be ambiguous, the language shall 
not be construed against either the Lessor or Lessee solely on the basis of which party drafted 
the provision.  If any word, clause, sentence, or combination thereof for any reason is declared 
by a court of law or equity to be invalid or unenforceable against one party or the other, then 
such finding shall in no way affect the remaining provisions of this Lease. 
 
7.23 HOLDING OVER:  If the Lessee remains in possession of said Premises after the date 
of expiration of this Lease without Lessor's prior written consent, such holding over shall 
constitute and be construed as tenancy at sufferance only, at a monthly rent equal to one 
hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Base Rent owed during the final month of the Term of this 
Lease and otherwise upon the terms and conditions in this Lease.  If Lessee holds over with 
Lessor's prior written consent, then until such time as a new written Lease is executed by the 
parties hereto, Lessee shall continue to make payments to Lessor on a month-to-month basis 
as provided for in this Lease.  Such authorized holdover tenancy may be terminated by either 
party at the end of any such monthly period by sending written notice not less than five (5) days 
before the end of such period.  Such authorized holdover tenancy shall be subject to all terms 
and conditions contained herein. 
 
7.24 SURVIVAL:  All obligations of the Lessee, as provided for in the Lease, shall not cease 
upon the termination of this Lease and shall continue as obligations until fully performed.  All 
clauses of this Lease which require performance beyond the termination date shall survive the 
termination date of this Lease. 
 
7.25 GOVERNING LAW:  This Lease, and the right of the parties hereto, shall be governed 
by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington, and the parties agree 
that in any such action jurisdiction and venue shall lie exclusively in Kitsap County, Washington 
and not in any federal court. 
 
7.26 ATTORNEY FEES-LEASE ENFORCEMENT:  The prevailing party in any action to 
enforce any term or condition of this Lease shall be entitled to an award of their reasonable 
costs and attorney fees. 
 
7.27 ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES:  At Lessee’s request, Lessor agrees to execute and 
deliver to Lessee or its lender(s), a customary estoppel certificate in a form acceptable to the 
Lessor which sets forth the following information: (i) the terms and conditions of this Lease, (ii) 
the status of the Rent payments under the Lease; and (iii) Lessor’s knowledge of any breaches 
or anticipated breaches of the Lease.  Lessor shall have no obligation to execute an estoppel 
certificate which requests any information other than as set forth above.  Lessee agrees to 
reimburse the Lessor for all staff time incurred and attorneys’ fees paid by Lessor for the review 
and opinion of such attorney acting on the request for such estoppel certificate and in 



 

 

 

 

negotiating acceptable language in the estoppel certificate.  A failure to reimburse Lessor within 
sixty (60) days of the mailing of notice of such charges shall constitute a default under the terms 
of this Lease. 
 
7.28 ATTORNMENT:  In the event the Premises are sold, Lessee shall attorn to the 
purchaser upon the sale provided that the purchaser expressly agrees in writing that, so long as 
Lessee is not in default under the Lease, Lessee’s possession and occupancy of the Premises 
will not be disturbed and that such purchaser will perform all obligations of Lessor under the 
Lease. 
 
7.29 AIRPORT COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS: 

 
7.29.1  Airport Rules and Regulations. Lessee shall comply with the Bremerton 

National Airport Rules and Regulations, as amended from time to time. 
 
7.29.2  Minimum Standards for Commercial Activities. Lessee shall comply with the 

Bremerton National Airport Minimum Standards for Commercial Activities, as amended from 
time to time. 

 
7.29.3  National Based Aircraft Inventory Program. To ensure airport compliance with 

the FAA National Based Aircraft Inventory Program (“NBAIP”), Lessee shall maintain a current 
list of any and all aircraft (whether owned or leased) registration numbers sheltered on or within 
any portion of the Premises. Further, such list is to be provided to the Airport Manager upon 
request or automatically within thirty (30) days in the event of a change in sheltered aircraft, and 
no less than annually. 
 
7.30 COUNTERPARTS AND ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION:  This Agreement may be 
signed in counterparts. Electronic transmission of any signed original document, and 
retransmission of any signed electronic transmission shall be the same as delivery of an original 
document. 
 
7.31 ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Lease contains all of the understandings between the 
parties.  Each party represents that no promises, representations or commitments have been 
made by the other as a basis for this Lease which have not been reduced to writing herein.  No 
oral promises or representations shall be binding upon either party, whether made in the past or 
to be made in the future, unless such promises or representations are reduced to writing in the 
form of a modification to this Lease executed with all necessary legal formalities by the 
Commission of the Port of Bremerton. 
 
7.32 VALIDATION:  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor has caused this instrument to be 
signed by its President and Secretary by authority of the Commission of the Port of Bremerton, 
and this instrument has been signed and executed by Lessee, the day and year first above 
written. 
 
 

THIS LEASE CONTAINS INDEMNIFICATIONS FROM THE LESSEE TO THE 
LESSOR, RELEASES BY THE LESSEE AND A LIMITED WAIVER OF 



 

 

 

 

IMMUNITY UNDER THE WASHINGTON STATE INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE 
ACT, TITLE 51 RCW, OR ANY OTHER SIMILAR WORKERS’ 
COMPENSATION SCHEMES 

 
 



 

 

 

 

LESSEE:       LESSOR: 
 
SIGHTLINE TRUST      PORT OF BREMERTON 
 
 
 
_______________________________   _____________________________ 
Patricia Williams      Axel Strakeljahn 
         Its:  Commission President 
 
 
 
_______________________________   _____________________________ 
Greg Williams       Gary Anderson 
        Its:  Commission Vice-President 
 
 
 
        _____________________________ 
        Cary Bozeman 
        Its:  Commission Secretary  
 
 



 

 

 

 

 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, Axel Strakeljahn to me 
known to be the President of the Port of Bremerton and acknowledged the said instrument to be 
the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on 
behalf of the corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      
 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, Gary Anderson, to me known 
to be the Vice-President of the Port of Bremerton and acknowledged the said instrument to be 
the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on 
behalf of the corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      



 

 

 

 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF __________ ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, Cary Bozeman, to me known 
to be the Secretary of the Port of Bremerton, and acknowledged the said instrument to be the 
free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on 
behalf of the corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )    ss. 
COUNTY OF __________ ) 
 
 On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, __________, to me known to 
be the ____________ of ___________, and acknowledged the said instrument to be the free 
and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, 
and on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the said instrument on behalf of the 
corporation. 
 
 GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
             

Print Name:        
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 

    State of Washington, residing at     
     My commission expires:      



 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT 

SHP LEASE SITE 2 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
 

A PORTION OF THE BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT BEING A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN IN KITSAP COUNTY, 
WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 
COMMENCING AT MONUMENT U.S.E.D. T-52-A2 PER SECTION SUBDIVISION AND CONTROL TRAVERSE 

DRAWING CREATED FOR THE PORT OF BREMERTON, BY R.M. MCGINNIS, DATED 4TH OF JANUARY 1974, 
SAID MONUMENT BEING LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST END OF RUNWAY 19-1 CENTERLINE; 
THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 6549.92 FEET TO A 
MONUMENT LOCATED APPROXIMATELY ONE FOOT INSIDE THE EDGE OF PAVED SURFACE OF RUNWAY 
19-1; 
THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST, 400.55 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 55° 47' 33" WEST, 878.36 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 
THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST, 110.00 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 55° 47' 33" WEST, 110.00 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 34° 12' 27" EAST, 110.00 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 55° 47' 33" EAST, 110.00 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 
CONTAINING 12,100 SQUARE FEET, MORE OR LESS. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 1 of 1 

 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 
BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT  

SHP LEASE SITE2 
DIAGRAM 

 
 

 

 
 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “C” 

BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT  

SHP COMMON AREA LEASE SITE LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION  

A PORTION OF THE BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT BEING A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN IN KITSAP COUNTY, 
WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 
COMMENCING AT MONUMENT U.S.E.D. T-52-A2 PER SECTION SUBDIVISION AND CONTROL TRAVERSE 

DRAWING CREATED FOR THE PORT OF BREMERTON, BY R.M. MCGINNIS, DATED 4TH OF JANUARY 1974, 
SAID MONUMENT BEING LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST END OF RUNWAY 19-1 CENTERLINE; 
THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 6549.92 FEET TO A 

MONUMENT LOCATED APPROXIMATELY ONE FOOT INSIDE THE EDGE OF PAVED SURFACE OF RUNWAY 
19-1; 
THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 269.39 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 55° 47' 33" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 567.39 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 
THENCE SOUTH 34° 02' 47" WEST, 104.05 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 43° 37' 37" WEST, 79.15 

FEET; THENCE NORTH 58° 12' 30" WEST, 45.22 

FEET; THENCE NORTH 71° 02' 53" WEST, 86.69 

FEET; THENCE SOUTH 34° 26' 06" WEST, 19.07 
FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 55° 46' 50" WEST, 329.95 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 34° 10' 59" EAST, 125.00 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 55° 47' 33" EAST, 330.00 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 34° 12' 27" WEST, 36.49 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 57° 52' 33" EAST, 128.73 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 72° 06' 52" EAST, 67.67 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 61° 57' 34" EAST, 21.33 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 55° 57' 14" EAST, 2.45 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 
 

CONTAINING 53,954 SQUARE FEET, MORE OR LESS. 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 1 of 1 

 
 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “D” 
BREMERTON NATIONAL AIRPORT  

SHP COMMON AREA LEASE SITE LEGAL 
DIAGRAM 

 

 



 
AGENDA SUMMARY 

 
 

Agenda Item No: Action Item #5 

Subject: 
Change Order:  Contractor’s Roof Service, Inc. – Gig Harbor, WA 
5650 Imperial Way Roof Replacement & Facility Upgrades 
Port Project #04-22-40003 

Prepared By: Warren Hendrickson, Airport Manager 

Exhibit: Appendix A 

Meeting Date: February 22, 2022  

 
Summary: 
The SAFE Boats Customer Service and Training Facility is located at 5650 Imperial Way in 
the Port’s Olympic View Industrial Business Park (OVIBP). This building is the second oldest 
Port-owned building in the OVIBP and the building exterior is original construction. The 
planned project scope includes fascia/siding replacement, a new roof, and repainting of 
exterior non-concrete surfaces. 

The Port Commission approved the bid award for this 2022 capital project (Port Project 
Number 04-22-40003) to Contractor’s Roof Service, Inc. of Gig Harbor, WA in the amount 
of $198,464.35, including sales tax, at its December 14, 2021 meeting. The notice to proceed 
was issued on January 5, 2022. 

Materials acquisition and pre-installation preparation commenced immediately. On-site 
work commenced February 4, 2022. 

During the removal of the existing fascia/siding, extensive underlying wood rot was 
discovered throughout the facility. The existence of this wood rot could not have been known 
beforehand. Satisfactory performance of both the new fascia and the new roof is dependent 
upon properly mitigating all wood rot. Rotted sheeting and supporting structural framing will 
be removed and replaced with new. With the fascia removed, it is apparent that the adjacent 
roof sheeting must also be replaced throughout most of the building’s perimeter. See 
Appendix A for photographs of typical damage discovered, repair completion, and new fascia 
installation. 

The Commission Policy Directive for Delegation of Authority, dated January 22, 2019, 
authorizes CEO approval of change orders up to 15% of the base contract amount for contracts 
between $50,000 and $500,000.  For this contract, that amount is $27,297.85. 
 
Since construction remains in progress, the final cost of wood rot mitigation will not be known 
until roof replacement begins on or about February 23. It is anticipated that the change order 



2 
 

cost will exceed the CEO’s authority and is therefore brought before the Commission for 
approval. The expected total cost of change orders in this project is estimated at $45,000.00. 
Allowing for an additional contingency, Port staff requests an increase in project budget 
authority of $50,000, including sales tax. 

Construction is expected to be completed on or before March 18, 2022. 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 Construction Contract:  $ 198,364.35 
 Change Order Allowance:  $   50,000.00 
 Total Project Cost:   $ 248,364.35 
 
Strategic Purpose: 
This action conforms with the Port’s strategic plan in: 

• Goal 6: Develop and fund a 20-year asset replacement/major maintenance schedule. 
 
Recommendation: 
Port staff recommends a contract increase to address unexpected underlayment wood rot. 
 
Motion for Consideration: 
Move to approve a not-to-exceed $50,000.00 increase to the construction 
contract of the 5650 Imperial Way Roof Replacement & Facility Upgrades with 
Contractor’s Roof Service, Inc. and authorize the CEO to execute the necessary 
change order(s). 

  



3 
 

APPENDIX A 

 

Wood Rot: 

 

    

  



4 
 

Sheeting & Ledger Repair: 

 

 

New Fascia: 

 


	2022-02-22_Agenda
	2022-02-08_Minutes
	2022-02-08_ExecMinutes
	Action Item 1 - BIG Grant Acceptance - POM Breakwater
	Agenda Summary - Authorization for BIG Grant Agreement
	20-1855 Agreement - POM Breakwater Replacement

	Action Item 2 - Land Lease Stellar Contrails
	2022-02-22 Agenda Summary Land Lease Stellar Contrails llc
	2022-1-31 Lease Stellar Contrails FINAL

	Action Item 3 - Land Lease Wallitner Aviation
	2022-02-22 Agenda Summary Land Lease Wallitner Aviation & Restoration
	2022-1-28 Wallitner Aviation Final 2

	Action Item 4 - Land Lease Sightline Trust
	2022-02-22 Agenda Summary Land Lease Sightline Trust
	2022-1-28 SIghtline Trust  lease FINAL

	Action Item 5 - 5650 Imperial Way Roof Replacement Project Change Order



